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Typically, the Company’s fiscal year ends on the Friday nearest to June 30 and consists of 52 weeks. However, approximately every six years, the Company
reports a 53-week fiscal year to align its fiscal quarters with calendar quarters by adding a week to its fourth fiscal quarter. The 2004 fiscal year, which ended on
July 2, 2004, consisted of 53 weeks. Fiscal years 2003 and 2002, which ended on June 27 and June 28, respectively, were each 52-week years.
Unless otherwise indicated, references herein to specific years and quarters are to the Company’s fiscal years and fiscal quarters, and references to financial
information are on a consolidated basis.
The Company is a Delaware corporation that operates as the parent company of its hard disk drive business, Western Digital Technologies, Inc., which was
formed in 1970.
The Company’s principal executive offices are located at 20511 Lake Forest Drive, Lake Forest, California 92630. The Company’s telephone number is
(949) 672-7000 and its web site is http://www.westerndigital.com. The information on the Company’s web site is not incorporated in this report.
Western Digital®, the Western Digital logo, WD Caviar®, WD Raptor® and WD Protégé® are trademarks of Western Digital Technologies, Inc. and/or its
affiliates. All other trademarks mentioned are the property of their respective owners.
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PART I
Item 1.

Business

General
Western Digital Corporation (the “Company” or “Western Digital”) designs, develops, manufactures and markets hard disk drives, one of the key
components found in most computers and data storage subsystems. Hard disk drives are also found in a number of consumer electronics (“CE”) devices. A hard
disk drive is a device that stores data on one or more rotating magnetic disks to allow fast access to non-volatile data for computing needs. The Company’s hard
disk drives are used in desktop personal computers (“PCs”), enterprise servers, network attached storage devices, an expanding list of CE products such as video
game consoles, personal/digital video recorders, satellite and cable set-top boxes, and as external storage devices. The Company’s hard disk drive products
currently include 3.5-inch form factor drives with capacities ranging from 8 gigabytes (“GB”) to 250 GB, nominal rotation speeds of 5400, 7200 and 10,000
revolutions per minute (“RPM”), and offer interfaces including Enhanced Integrated Drive Electronics (“EIDE”), Serial Advanced Technology Attachment
(“SATA”), 1394/ FireWire/ i.LinkTM and Universal Serial Bus (“USB”). The Company sells its products worldwide to computer manufacturers for inclusion in
their computer systems or subsystems, to CE manufacturers for inclusion into their devices, and to distributors, resellers and retailers. The Company’s hard disk
drive products are currently manufactured in Malaysia and Thailand. For geographical financial data, see the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and
Note 9 thereto included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company refers to market data available from
TrendFOCUS, Inc. (“TrendFOCUS”) and Gartner/ Dataquest, Inc. (“Gartner”), both of which are leading market research and analysis firms that provide data
regarding the hard disk drive industry.
Industry
Western Digital’s primary business focus is the sale of hard disk drives to the desktop PC, enterprise and CE markets.
Desktop PC Market.
Desktop PCs are used in a number of environments, ranging from homes to businesses and multi-user networks. Software applications are used on desktop
PCs for word processing, spreadsheet, desktop publishing, database management, multimedia, entertainment and other related applications. Hard disk drives store
both software applications and the data used by these software applications. The Company believes that the demand for hard disk drives in the PC market has
grown in part due to:
• the overall growth of PC sales;
• the increasing needs of businesses and individuals to store larger amounts of data on their PCs;
• the continuing development of software applications to manage multimedia content; and
• the increasing use of broadband Internet, including downloading content from the Internet onto desktop PC hard disk drives.
TrendFOCUS estimates that the aggregate number of desktop PCs sold during calendar year 2003 was 115 million units and will increase to 152 million units
in calendar year 2008, reflecting a compound annual growth rate of approximately 7%. The Company believes the rate of PC unit growth is being influenced by
several factors, including maturing markets in North America and Western Europe, an increase in first-time buyers in Eastern Europe and Asia, the lengthening of
PC replacement cycles and an increasing preference for notebook systems. For an additional discussion of changes in the PC market, see Part II, Item 7, under the
heading “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results.”
According to TrendFOCUS quarterly reports for 2004 and calendar year 2003, the desktop PC segment is the largest market for hard disk drives, accounting
for approximately 65% of global hard disk drive shipments in 2004. Approximately 90% of Western Digital’s hard disk drive unit shipments in 2004 were to this
market. TrendFOCUS estimates that worldwide unit shipments of hard disk drives into this market will grow from approximately 178 million units in calendar
year 2003 to approximately 232 million units in calendar year 2007, and that revenue will grow from
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approximately $12 billion to approximately $14 billion during this period. This reflects compound annual growth rates for unit shipments and revenues of
approximately 7% and 4%, respectively. Revenue growth is expected to be lower than unit growth due to the ongoing trend for lower cost PCs and competition
within the industry. Although the average selling prices (“ASPs”) of hard disk drives are expected to continue to decline, the demand for overall product quality
and reliability continues to increase.
Most new desktop PC systems are equipped with high-speed external interfaces, such as 1394/ FireWire/ i.Link or USB. As a result, end users are able to
supplement the storage space of their PC systems with the use of external hard disk drive products that connect via these high-speed interfaces. These products
are commonly used for storing additional programs or multimedia content, or for backing up internal hard disk drives.
Mobile Computing Market.
The mobile computing market, which includes notebook computers, is expected to grow faster than any other PC segment as performance and price continue
to improve. TrendFOCUS estimates that sales of notebook systems comprised approximately 28% of the combined market for desktop PCs and notebook systems
in 2003 and will increase to approximately 39% of the combined market in 2008, reflecting a compound annual growth rate of 22%. Western Digital did not ship
any hard disk drives to the mobile PC market during 2004. However, the Company has announced intentions to enter the mobile PC market with new, 2.5-inch
form factor product offerings before the end of calendar year 2004.
Enterprise Market.
The enterprise market for hard disk drives focuses on customers that make workstations, servers, network attached storage devices, storage area networks,
and other computing systems or subsystems. This market has been traditionally served by hard disk drives that use the small-computer-systems-interface
(“SCSI”) standard. Recently, however, SCSI hard disk drives are being replaced by SATA and EIDE hard disk drives in certain enterprise storage applications.
SATA is an interface technology supported by industry standards. SATA hard disk drives cost less than SCSI, but offer improved reliability, scalability and
performance over EIDE hard disk drives in enterprise environments. TrendFOCUS estimates that in calendar year 2004, approximately 30% of the enterprise hard
disk drive market will utilize EIDE or SATA hard disk drives, and that this percentage will increase to 43% by 2007.
One example of growth in the enterprise market is “near-line” storage. During the past few years, a new disk-based back-up market has emerged with highcapacity EIDE hard disk drives augmenting SCSI, tape and optical media. This new trend, popularly referred to as “near-line” storage, has become a growth
market due to the ability of hard disk drives to back-up or access data more quickly than tape or optical solutions, and to quickly retrieve critical back-up or nearline data. The increasing use of hard disk drives in near-line storage applications is also being enhanced by the availability of EIDE hard disk drive solutions,
which are more cost competitive as compared to SCSI hard disk drives.
In addition, EIDE drives are also being used in unique clustering applications for databases, scientific computation, web caching and electronic mail. This
segment has become a significant market for large capacity EIDE hard disk drives, and the Company believes that this segment will continue to consume a
significant and growing portion of the Company’s highest capacity hard disk drives.
According to a May 2004 report published by TrendFOCUS, the market for enterprise and other non-desktop PC applications of 3.5-inch form factor hard
disk drives is forecasted to grow from approximately 33 million units in calendar year 2003 to approximately 83 million units in calendar year 2007, reflecting a
compound annual growth rate of approximately 26%. For an additional discussion of the non-desktop PC hard disk drive market, see Part II, Item 7, under the
heading “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results.”
Consumer Electronics Market.
Since 1999, hard disk drive-based recorders of audio and video content have been available for use in home entertainment systems. Commonly called
personal video recorders (“PVRs”) or digital video recorders (“DVRs”), these consumer devices offer the end-user enhanced features such as pausing live
television, simplifying the process of recording and cataloging recorded television programs and quickly forwarding or rewinding to any section of a recorded
television program. In addition, hard disk drives are being increasingly incorporated into DVD recorders to allow for PVR/DVR functionality and faster recording
of content onto removable DVDs. New devices are being developed that generate, store
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and play audio, video, graphic images and other multimedia content. Gartner forecasts that unit shipments of hard disk drives into the audio-video market will
grow from approximately 10 million units in calendar year 2003 to approximately 58 million units in calendar year 2008, reflecting a compound annual growth
rate of 42%. For further discussion of the audio-video market, see Part II, Item 7, under the heading “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results.”
Another segment of the CE market is the inclusion of hard disk drives in electronic game devices. According to TrendFOCUS, home electronic game devices
that include hard disk drives had sales of approximately 10 million units in calendar year 2003, with an expected compound annual growth rate of approximately
14% through calendar year 2008. For an additional discussion of the video game market, see Part II, Item 7, under the heading “Risk Factors That May Affect
Future Results.”
Other Market Opportunities.
The Company continuously evaluates opportunities to apply its knowledge of data storage technology beyond current markets for hard disk drives. New
business opportunities are evaluated for their direct impact on the Company’s ability to increase the sale of hard disk drives. The Company monitors the
development of new markets related to data or content storage and may, from time to time, offer new products or services to address appropriate new form
factors, interfaces or markets. Conversely, depending on the development of such markets and the Company’s ability to achieve its goals, the Company may, from
time to time, withdraw from certain markets.
Products
The Company offers a broad line of hard disk drives designed for various market segments. Western Digital’s products are marketed under the WD Caviar®,
WD Protégé® and WD Raptor® brand names, and each product line is designed for a particular market segment. The Company’s WD Caviar and WD Protégé
hard disk drive products are designed to serve distinct portions of the desktop PC market. WD Caviar hard disk drives are designed for the advanced performance
segment of the desktop PC market and the server and external storage markets, and WD Protégé hard disk drives are designed for the value segment of the
desktop PC market, entry level PCs and the game console market. The WD Raptor hard disk drive is a SATA drive designed for the enterprise storage market and
high-end desktop PC applications.
Desktop PC Hard Disk Drive Products. The WD Caviar and WD Protégé hard disk drive families currently consist of 3.5-inch form factor products with
capacities ranging from 8 GB to 250 GB and nominal rotation speeds of 5400 and 7200 RPM. These products utilize either the EIDE or SATA interfaces,
providing high performance while retaining ease of use and overall low cost of connection. The type of EIDE interface currently used in a majority of the
Company’s hard disk drives is ATA/100, which signifies a burst data transfer rate of 100 megabytes per second. The SATA interface available in certain of the
Company’s WD Caviar Special EditionTM hard disk drives enable transfer rates as high as 150 megabytes per second. The Company also sells a line of external
hard disk drives and related adapters that are designed to accommodate external storage interfaces including 1394/ FireWire/i.Link and USB. The 1394/ FireWire/
i.Link interface is a high-speed interface that can be used to add additional external, portable storage capacity to desktop and laptop computers.
Mobile Hard Disk Drive Products. Hard disk drives used in mobile products typically include 2.5-, 1.8- or 1.0-inch form factor drives. Although the desktop
PC market accounts for a majority of hard disk drive sales, unit shipments of hard disk drives for the mobile market are increasing. TrendFOCUS forecasts that
unit sales of hard disk drives to the mobile market will grow from approximately 50 million in calendar year 2003 to approximately 128 million in calendar year
2007, reflecting a compound annual growth rate of approximately 26%. The Company has announced intentions to enter the 2.5-inch mobile market before the
end of calendar year 2004. In addition, the Company has indicated its plans to develop and bring to market smaller form factor drives.
Enterprise Hard Disk Drive Products. Western Digital currently offers multiple products to address enterprise market needs, including the WD Raptor hard
disk drive, a 10,000 RPM enterprise-class drive with the SATA interface, and the WD Caviar RAID Edition hard disk drive, a 7200 RPM drive manufactured to
enterprise-class standards and equipped with either SATA or EIDE interfaces for primary storage such as engineering data management, document and image
management, scientific computing, video surveillance, web server, file server and near line storage.
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Hard Disk Drive Products for Servers and External Storage. Western Digital’s products for server and external storage, such as network attached storage disk
arrays (“NAS”) and storage area network disk arrays (“SAN”) currently consist of 3.5-inch form factor products with capacities ranging from 36.7 GB to 250 GB
and nominal rotation speeds of 7200 and 10,000 RPM. The Company’s server and external storage products include the WD Raptor hard disk drive, equipped
with the SATA interface, and the WD Caviar RAID Edition hard disk drive, equipped with either the SATA or EIDE interface.
Consumer Electronics Products. The Company offers design capabilities and hard disk drive technologies for consumer applications. The Company currently
offers hard disk drive products designed for use in consumer audio-video applications such as PVRs and DVRs. It also offers products for the video game console
market, and provides hard disk drives for other consumer electronics products.
Technology and Product Development
Hard disk drives are used to record, store and retrieve digital data. Their performance attributes are currently better than removable or floppy disks, optical
hard disk drives and tapes, and they are more cost effective than semiconductor technology. The primary measures of hard disk drive performance include:
“Storage capacity” — the amount of data that can be stored on the hard disk drive — commonly expressed in gigabytes. As defined in the hard disk
drive industry, a gigabyte means one billion bytes. A byte is a digital character, typically comprised of eight bits. A bit is a binary digit, the smallest unit of
information in a digital system.
“Average seek time” — the time needed to position the heads over a selected track on the disk surface — commonly expressed in milliseconds.
“Internal data transfer rate” — the sustained rate at which data is transferred to and from the disk — commonly expressed in megabits per second. One
megabit is equal to one million bits.
“Spindle rotational speed” — the nominal rotational speed of the disks inside the hard disk drive — commonly expressed in RPMs, revolutions per
minute or latency. While the reference to spindle rotational speeds of 5400, 7200 and 10,000 RPMs is commonly used, in some cases these speeds are
approximations.
“Acoustics” — the sound intensity that is emitted while the hard disk drive is operating — commonly expressed in decibels.
All of the Company’s hard disk drive products employ similar technology. The main components of the hard disk drive are the head disk assembly and the
printed circuit board. The head disk assembly includes the head, media (disks), head positioning mechanism (actuator) and spin motor. These components are
contained in a hard base plate protective package in a contamination-controlled environment. The printed circuit board includes both standard and custom
integrated circuits, an interface connector to the host computer and a power connector.
The head disk assembly is comprised of one or more disks positioned around a spindle hub that rotates the disks by a spin motor. Disks are made of a smooth
substrate to which a thin coating of magnetic materials is applied. Each disk has a head suspended directly above it, which can read data from or write data to the
spinning disk.
The integrated circuits on the printed circuit board typically include a drive interface and a controller. The drive interface receives instructions from the
computer, while the controller directs the flow of data to or from the disks and controls the heads. The location of data on each disk is logically maintained in
concentric tracks that are divided into sectors. The computer sends instructions to the controller to read data from or write data to the disks based on track and
sector locations. Guided by instructions from the controller, the head stack assembly is pivoted and swung across the disk by a head actuator or motor until it
reaches the selected track of a disk, where the data is recorded or retrieved.
Industry standard interfaces are utilized to allow the hard disk drive to communicate with the computer. Currently, the primary interface for desktop PCs is
EIDE, and the primary interface for enterprise systems is SCSI. As computer performance continues to improve, the hard disk drive will need to deliver
information faster than these interfaces can handle. The Company believes that the desktop PC industry plans to transition to higher speed interfaces, such as
SATA, to handle the higher data transfer rates. The Company currently offers its WD Caviar Special Edition SATA hard disk
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drive, a 7200 RPM drive featuring capacities as large as 250 GB and designed for the high-end PC, workstation, server, and external storage markets. The
Company believes that SATA is also becoming a more popular interface in the enterprise market. Western Digital currently offers its WD Raptor hard disk drive,
a 10,000 RPM enterprise-class drive with the SATA interface, and the WD Caviar RAID Edition hard disk drive, a 7200 RPM drive manufactured to enterpriseclass standards and available with a SATA interface. The Company is working to develop additional products that will support these higher speed interfaces.
Storage capacity of the hard disk drive, as manufactured by Western Digital, is determined by the number of disks and each disk’s areal density, which is a
measure of the amount of data that can be stored on the recording surface of the disk. The higher the areal density, the more information can be stored on a single
platter. As the areal density increases, fewer disks and/or heads are required to achieve a given drive capacity, thus reducing product costs through reduced
component requirements.
Head technology is one of the variables affecting areal density. Historically, there have been rapid technological changes, resulting in several generations of
head technology in a relatively short period of time. However, in recent years the time has lengthened between changes in generations of head technology.
Currently, the desktop hard disk drive industry uses giant magnetoresistive head technology, which allows significantly higher storage capacities than the
previously utilized thin-film head technology. All of the Company’s hard disk drive product offerings currently employ giant magnetoresistive head technology.
The Western Digital product line generally leverages a common platform for various products within product families with different capacities to serve the
differing market needs. This platform strategy results in commonality of components across different products within product families, which reduces exposure to
changes in demand, facilitates inventory management and allows the Company to achieve lower costs through economies of scale purchasing. This platform
strategy also enables computer manufacturer customers to leverage their qualification efforts onto successive product models. The Company expects to continue
to utilize this platform strategy as it continues to develop products for the emerging market for hard disk drives specifically designed for audio-video applications,
such as digital video recording devices.
Constant innovations in research and development are essential to the Company’s ability to compete. Hard disk drive providers, including Western Digital,
are evaluating or implementing a number of technological innovations designed to further increase hard disk drive performance and reduce product costs.
For an additional discussion of technological innovations, see Part II, Item 7, under the heading “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results.”
Sales and Distribution
The Company sells its products globally to system manufacturers, distributors, resellers, systems integrators and retailers. Manufacturers typically purchase
components such as hard disk drives and assemble them into the computer systems they build. Distributors typically sell the Company’s drives to small computer
manufacturers, dealers, systems integrators and other resellers.
Original Equipment Manufacturers (“OEMs”). Sales to OEMs accounted for 51%, 52%, and 54% of the Company’s revenue in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. During 2004, the Company’s major OEM customers included Dell, Fujitsu, Gateway (including sales to E-Machines prior to its acquisition by
Gateway in March 2004), Hewlett-Packard and IBM. Typically, revenue from sales to certain OEMs account for more than 10% of the Company’s revenue. For
example, during 2004, sales to Dell accounted for 14% of the Company’s revenue. During 2003, sales to Dell and Hewlett-Packard (including sales to Compaq
Computer after its merger with Hewlett-Packard in 2002) accounted for 20% and 13% of revenue, respectively. During 2002, sales to Dell and Hewlett-Packard
(including sales to Compaq computer prior to its merger with Hewlett-Packard in 2002) accounted for 15% and 13% of revenue, respectively. The Company
believes that its success depends on its ability to maintain and improve its strong relationships with the leading computer manufacturers. Since 2000, Seagate
Technology, Western Digital, and Maxtor (which merged with Quantum in 2000) have had the highest market share with these manufacturers.
System manufacturers evaluate and select their hard disk drive suppliers based on a number of factors, including overall quality and reliability, storage
capacities, performance characteristics, price, service and support, ease of doing
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business, and the supplier’s long-term financial stability. They typically seek to qualify two or more providers for each generation of hard disk drives, and once a
computer manufacturer has chosen its qualified hard disk drive vendors for a given product, it generally will purchase hard disk drives from those vendors for the
life of that product. To achieve success with system manufacturers’ qualifications, a hard disk drive supplier must consistently offer hard disk drives featuring
leading technology, quality, reliability and acceptable capacity per disk. Suppliers must quickly achieve volume production of high quality and reliable hard disk
drives. To quickly achieve high volume production, a hard disk drive supplier must have access to flexible, high-capacity, high-quality manufacturing capabilities.
Many of the Company’s OEM customers utilize just-in-time inventory management processes or supply chain business models that combine “build-to-order”
(computer manufacturer does not build until there is a firm order) and “contract manufacturing” (computer manufacturer contracts assembly work to a contract
manufacturer who purchases components and assembles the computer based on the computer manufacturer’s instructions). For certain key OEMs the Company
maintains a base stock of finished goods inventory in facilities located near or adjacent to the OEM’s operations.
For an additional discussion of the need to adapt to customers’ business models and maintain customer satisfaction, refer to Part II, Item 7, under the heading
“Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results.”
Distributors. The Company uses a select group of distributors to sell its products to small computer manufacturers, resellers, dealers and systems integrators.
During 2004, the Company’s major distributor customers included ASI, Bell, eSys Distribution, Ingram Micro, and Tech Data. Distributors accounted for
approximately 42%, 40%, and 39% of the Company’s revenue for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Distributors generally enter into non-exclusive agreements
for specific territories with the Company for purchase and redistribution of product. The Company grants its distributors limited price protection and stock
rotation rights.
Retailers. The Company sells its retail-packaged products directly to a select group of major retailers such as computer superstores, warehouse clubs and
computer electronics stores, and authorizes sales through distributors to smaller retailers. During 2004, major retailers to whom the Company sold directly
included Best Buy, Circuit City, Comp USA, Fry’s Electronics, and OfficeMax. Retailers accounted for approximately 7%, 8%, and 7% of the Company’s
revenue for each of 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Company’s current retail customer base is primarily in the United States, Canada and Europe. The
retail channel complements the Company’s other sales channels while helping to build brand awareness for the Company and its products. Retailers supply the
aftermarket “upgrade” and data back-up sectors in which end-users purchase and install products to upgrade their computers and externally store their data for
back-up purposes. The Company grants certain of its retailers price protection and limited rights to return product on an inventory rotation basis. The Company
also sells its retail-packaged products through the Internet, at its web site.
The Company maintains sales offices throughout North America, Eastern and Western Europe, the Middle East, Japan and Asia/ Pacific. Field application
engineering is provided to strategic computer manufacturer accounts, and localized end-user technical support services are provided within the United States,
Canada, Europe, and Asia. The Company’s localized end-user technical support is currently supplied by employees and a third party provider through telephone
support, and via the Company’s web site.
The Company’s international sales, which include sales to foreign subsidiaries of U.S. companies but do not include sales to U.S. subsidiaries of foreign
companies, represented 63%, 59%, and 50% of the Company’s revenue for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Sales to international customers may be subject to
certain risks not normally encountered in domestic operations, including exposure to tariffs, various trade regulations and fluctuations in currency exchange rates.
See Part II, Item 7, under the heading “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results.”
For additional information concerning revenue recognition, sales by geographic region and significant customer information, see Notes 1 and 9 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements.
The Company’s marketing and advertising functions are performed both internally and through outside firms. Advertising, worldwide packaging and
marketing materials are targeted to various reseller and end-user segments. Western Digital utilizes both consumer media and, to a lesser extent, trade
publications. The Company has programs under which qualifying distributors and retailers are reimbursed for certain marketing expenditures. Western Digital
also maintains customer relationships by communicating with its resellers and providing end-users with pre-sale and post-sale information and support through its
web site.
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Competition
The Company competes primarily with manufacturers of 3.5-inch hard disk drives for desktop, enterprise and CE systems. The Company’s competitors in the
hard disk drive market include Seagate Technology, Maxtor, Fujitsu, Hitachi Global Storage Technologies, and Samsung. Over the last four years, the hard disk
drive industry has experienced consolidation, decreasing the number of major competitors. In particular, Maxtor acquired the hard disk drive business of
Quantum, Fujitsu exited the desktop hard disk drive market, and IBM sold its hard disk drive business to Hitachi Global Storage Technologies.
The hard disk drive industry is intensely competitive, with hard disk drive suppliers competing for sales to a limited number of major customers. Hard disk
drives manufactured by different competitors are highly substitutable due to the industry mandate of technical form, fit and function standards. Hard disk drive
manufacturers compete on the basis of product quality and reliability, storage capacity, unit price, product performance, production volume capabilities, delivery
capability, leadership in time-to-market, time-to-volume and time-to-quality, service and support, and ease of doing business. The relative importance of these
factors varies between different customer and market segments. The Company believes that it is generally competitive in all of these factors.
The Company believes that the markets in which it competes, and those in which it plans to enter in the near future, such as the mobile market, are at or
approaching high volume mass market, where market acceptance and consumer demand for products are strong. This represents a significant change in the
industry. In prior years, the mobile, handheld and enterprise markets were relatively small with low volumes and high prices. As these markets continue to grow,
consumers will demand lower cost points for the products that utilize these drives. As a result, it will be necessary for suppliers to offer high quality, reliable
products at low cost to be able to effectively compete. The Company believes that its model enables it to deliver products with superior quality and reliability at a
low cost.
The Company believes that there are no substantial barriers for existing competitors to offer competing products. Therefore, the Company believes that it
cannot differentiate its hard disk drive products solely on attributes such as storage capacity, buffer size or time-to-market. Accordingly, the Company
differentiates itself by focusing on high product quality and reliability, and designing and incorporating into its hard disk drives desirable product performance
attributes, such as seek time, data transfer rates, intelligent caching, failure prediction, remote diagnostics, acoustics and data recovery. In addition, the Company
emphasizes non-product related attributes, including rapid response with its customers. Rapid response requires accelerated design cycles, customer delivery,
production flexibility and timely service and support, which contribute to customer satisfaction. The Company also relies on the strength of the Western Digital
brand name with value-added resellers and solution providers to whom the Company sells its hard disk drive products directly and indirectly. The Company
believes that trust in a manufacturer’s reputation and the establishment of strategic relationships have become important factors in the selection of a hard disk
drive, particularly within such a rapidly changing technology environment.
Advances in magnetic, optical or other data storage technologies could result in competitive products that have better performance or lower cost per unit of
capacity than the Company’s hard disk drive products. High-speed semiconductor memory could compete with the Company’s hard disk drive products in the
future. Semiconductor memory is much faster than magnetic hard disk drives, but currently is not competitive from a cost standpoint. Flash memory, a nonvolatile semiconductor memory, is currently much more costly and, while it has higher “read” performance than hard disk drives, it has lower “write”
performance. Flash memory could become competitive in the near future for applications requiring less storage capacity than that provided by hard disk drives.
For an additional discussion of competition, see Part II, Item 7, under the heading “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results.”
Service and Warranty
Western Digital generally warrants its newly manufactured hard disk drives against defects in materials and workmanship for a period of one to five years
from the date of sale. The Company’s warranty obligation is generally limited to repair or replacement of the hard disk drive. The Company has engaged third
parties in Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, Germany, Hungary, India, Korea, Russia, Singapore, and the United Arab Emirates to provide various levels of
testing, processing and/or recertification of returned hard disk drives for the Company’s customers. In addition, the Company processes, tests and recertifies
returned hard disk drives at its own facility in the United States.
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Manufacturing
To be competitive, Western Digital must manufacture high quality hard disk drives with industry leading time-to-volume production at competitive unit
costs. The Company strives to maintain manufacturing flexibility and high manufacturing yields, while insisting that its suppliers provide high-quality
components at competitive prices. The critical elements of Western Digital’s hard disk drive production are high volume, low cost assembly and testing, and
establishment and maintenance of key vendor relationships. By establishing partner relationships with its strategic component suppliers, the Company believes it
is able to access “best-of-class” manufacturing quality. In addition, the Company believes that its sourcing strategy currently enables it to have the business
flexibility needed to select the highest quality low cost suppliers as product designs and technologies evolve.
Hard disk drive manufacturing is a complex process involving the assembly of precision components with narrow tolerances and thorough testing. The
assembly process occurs in a “clean room” environment that demands skill in process engineering and efficient utilization of the “clean room” layout in order to
reduce the high operating costs of this manufacturing environment. The Company’s clean room manufacturing process consists of modular production units, each
of which contains a number of work cells.
The Company produces hard disk drives in two plants, one in Malaysia and one in Thailand. The Company continually evaluates its manufacturing processes
in an effort to increase productivity, sustain and improve quality and decrease manufacturing costs. For example, in order to improve efficiency and reduce costs,
the Company closed two manufacturing facilities in Singapore during 1999 and 2000 and relocated its hard disk drive production to Malaysia. During 2002, in
response to an increase in demand and in order to capitalize on the local supplier base, the Company completed the acquisition of a Thailand manufacturing
facility. The Company continually evaluates which steps in the manufacturing process would benefit from automation and how automated manufacturing
processes can improve productivity and reduce manufacturing costs.
In July 2003, the Company purchased substantially all of the assets of Read-Rite Corporation, formerly one of the Company’s suppliers of heads, including
its wafer fabrication equipment in Fremont, California and its slider fabrication facility in Bang Pa-In, Thailand. The Company uses these facilities to design and
manufacture a substantial portion of the head gimbal assemblies (“HGAs”) and head stack assemblies (“HSAs”) for use in hard disk drives it manufactures.
For an additional discussion of manufacturing, see Part II, Item 7, under the heading “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results.”
Research and Development
The Company devotes substantial resources to development of new products and improvement of existing products. The Company focuses its engineering
efforts on coordinating its product design and manufacturing processes in order to bring its products to market in a cost-effective and timely manner. Research
and development expenses for continuing operations totaled $201 million, $135 million and $120 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
For further discussion of product development, see Part II, Item 7, under the heading “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results.”
Materials and Supplies
The principal components currently used in the manufacture of the Company’s hard disk drives are magnetic heads and related HSAs, media, controllers,
spindle motors and mechanical parts used in the head disk assembly. In addition to custom semiconductor devices, the Company also uses standard
semiconductor components such as logic, memory and microprocessor devices obtained from other manufacturers and a wide variety of other parts, including
connectors, cables, and other interconnect technology.
The Company designs and manufactures a substantial portion of the heads required for the hard disk drives it manufactures. The Company also purchases a
portion of these components from third party suppliers. During 2004, the Company bought giant magnetoresistive heads from ALPS Electric Co., Ltd. and TDK
Corporation’s subsidiary, SAE Magnetics Ltd.
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The Company acquires all of the remaining components for its products from third party suppliers. The Company tries to have multiple suppliers for each of
its component requirements. For example, during 2004, the Company’s media requirements were purchased from several outside vendors including Komag,
Showa Denko KK and Trace Storage Technology Corporation. The Company has a volume purchase agreement with Komag under which the Company is
obligated to purchase a percentage of its requirements for hard disk media from Komag as long as Komag’s prices, technology and quality remain competitive.
Although the Company tries to have multiple suppliers for each of its component requirements, some components are currently sole-sourced. For example,
some custom integrated circuit devices are currently sole-sourced from STMicroelectronics, IBM and Marvell Semiconductor, Inc. The Company has entered into
volume purchase agreements with IBM and Marvell to purchase custom integrated circuit devices at negotiated quantities and prices. Because of their custom
nature, these products require significant design-in periods and long lead times. There has been a trend in integrated circuit design toward increased integration of
various separate circuits. The Company expects this trend to continue in the area of custom integrated circuits for hard disk drives.
For an additional discussion of component supplies, see Part II, Item 7, under the heading “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results.”
Backlog
Historically, a substantial portion of the Company’s orders has been for shipments within 30 to 60 days of the placement of the order. The Company
generally negotiates pricing, order lead times, product support requirements and other terms and conditions prior to receiving a computer manufacturer’s first
purchase order for a product. Customers’ purchase orders typically may be canceled with relatively short notice to the Company, with little or no cost to the
customer, or modified by customers to provide for delivery at a later date. In addition, many of the Company’s sales to OEMs are made under just-in-time
delivery contracts that do not generally require firm order commitments by the customer until the time of sale. Instead, the Company receives a periodic forecast
of requirements from the customer, and the customer is invoiced upon shipment of the product from the just-in-time warehouse. Therefore, backlog information
as of the end of a particular period is not necessarily indicative of future levels of the Company’s revenue and profit and may not be comparable to earlier periods.
Patents, Licenses and Proprietary Information
The Company owns numerous patents and has many patent applications in process. The Company believes that, although its patents and patent applications
have considerable value, the successful manufacturing and marketing of its products depends primarily upon the technical and managerial competence of its
personnel. Accordingly, the patents held and applied for do not assure the Company’s future success.
In addition to patent protection of certain intellectual property rights, the Company considers elements of its product designs and processes to be proprietary
and confidential. The Company believes that its non-patented intellectual property, particularly some of its process technology, is an important factor in its
success. Western Digital relies upon non-disclosure agreements and contractual provisions and a system of internal safeguards to protect its proprietary
information. Despite these safeguards, there is a risk that competitors may obtain and use such information. The laws of foreign jurisdictions in which the
Company conducts business also may provide less protection for confidential information than the United States.
The Company relies on certain technology that is licensed from other parties in order to manufacture and sell its products. The Company believes that it has
adequate cross-licenses and other agreements in place in addition to its own intellectual property portfolio to compete successfully in the hard disk drive industry.
For additional discussion of intellectual property, see Part II, Item 7, under the heading “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results.”
Environmental Regulation
The Company is subject to a variety of regulations in connection with its operations. It believes that it has obtained or is in the process of obtaining all
necessary environmental permits for its operations.
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Employees
As of July 2, 2004, the Company employed a total of 17,376 employees worldwide. This represents an increase in headcount of approximately 51% since
June 27, 2003 and an increase of approximately 82% since June 28, 2002. The increase is primarily the result of the Company’s acquisition of Read-Rite’s assets
in July 2003 and the purchase of a manufacturing facility in Thailand during 2002 in response to an increase in unit sales.
Many of the Company’s employees are highly skilled, and the Company’s continued success depends in part upon its ability to attract and retain such
employees. Accordingly, the Company offers employee benefit programs, which it believes are at least equivalent to those offered by its competitors. Despite
these programs, the Company has, along with most of its competitors, experienced difficulty at times in hiring and retaining certain skilled personnel. When the
Company is unable to hire personnel in the ordinary course of business, it uses third parties to help satisfy its personnel needs. In addition, the Company has
utilized consultants and contract personnel to fill these needs until full-time employees could be recruited. The Company has never experienced a work stoppage,
none of its domestic employees are represented by a labor organization, and the Company considers its employee relations to be good.
Available Information
The Company maintains an Internet web site at http://www.westerndigital.com. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, are available on the Company’s web site at http://www.westerndigital.com, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after these reports are filed
electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Any materials the Company files with the SEC are available at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. Additional information about the operation of the Public Reference Room can also be obtained
by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains a web site at http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements,
and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC, including Western Digital.
Executive Officers of the Registrant
The names, ages and positions of all of the executive officers of the Company as of August 27, 2004 are listed below, followed by a brief account of their
business experience during the past five years. Executive officers are normally elected annually by the Board of Directors at a meeting of the directors
immediately following the Annual Meeting of Shareholders. There are no family relationships among these officers nor any arrangements or understandings
between any officer and any other person pursuant to which an officer was selected.

Name

Matthew E. Massengill
Arif Shakeel
Raymond M. Bukaty
Stephen D. Milligan
David C. Fetah

Age

43
49
47
41
44

Position

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
President and Chief Operating Officer
Senior Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Vice President, Human Resources

Mr. Massengill joined the Company in 1985 and has served in various executive capacities. From August 1999 until October 1999, he served as Co-Chief
Operating Officer, and from October 1999 until January 2000, he served as Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Massengill served as President of the Company from
January 2000 until January 2002, and he was appointed Chief Executive Officer in 2000. He assumed the additional role of Chairman of the Board of Directors in
November 2001.
Mr. Shakeel joined the Company in 1985 as Product Manager, Integrated Drive Electronics. Mr. Shakeel served in various executive capacities, including
Vice President, Materials-Asia, until October 1997, when he left the Company to become Managing Director of Mahlin Associates, a supplier of
electromechanical components in Singapore. Mr. Shakeel rejoined the Company in April 1999 as Senior Vice President of Operations, Drive Products Division.
He became Senior Vice President of Worldwide Operations in July 1999. In February 2000, he became Executive Vice President and
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General Manager of Hard Disk Drive Solutions. He was promoted to Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer in April 2001, and served in that
position until promoted to his current position of President in January 2002.
Mr. Bukaty joined the Company in 1999 as Vice President, Corporate Law. Mr. Bukaty was promoted to Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary in
March 2002, and to Senior Vice President in March 2004. Prior to joining the Company, he worked at Fluor Corporation for three years, two as Assistant General
Counsel and one as Senior Counsel. Prior to joining Fluor, he was a principal in the law firm of Riordan & McKinzie, which merged with Bingham McCutchen
LLP in July 2003.
Mr. Milligan joined the Company in September 2002 as Vice President, Finance. He was appointed Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Office in
January 2004. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Milligan served in a variety of senior finance capacities at Dell between April 1997 and September 2002,
including Assistant Controller, European Controller, North European Finance Director, Director of Finance for the Americas, and Controller for Dell Financial
Services. Prior to joining Dell, he served twelve years at Price Waterhouse (now known as PricewaterhouseCoopers) as Audit and Account Manager for several
large multinational companies.
Mr. Fetah joined the Company in March 2000 as Vice President of Human Resources. Prior to joining the Company, he served as Executive Director, Human
Resources, for PeopleSoft, Inc. Prior to joining PeopleSoft in 1996, he was Manager, Human Resources, for Fluor Corporation where he served for five years.
Item 2. Properties
The Company’s corporate headquarters are located in Lake Forest, California. The Lake Forest facilities include four buildings, consisting of an aggregate of
237,673 square feet, and house the Company’s management, research and development, administrative and sales personnel. Three of these buildings are subject to
a 10-year lease that expires in December 2010, and the fourth is subject to a 9-year lease that expires in January 2012. In addition, the Company leases an
approximately 181,000 square foot facility in Fremont, California that is used for head wafer fabrication and research and development. The lease expires in
February 2008. The Company also leases approximately 151,000 square feet in San Jose, California for research and development activities. In addition, the
Company leases one facility in Irvine, California, which consists of 59,213 square feet and is used as a processing center and for light manufacturing. The
San Jose lease expires in July 2006 and the Irvine lease expires in September 2010. The Company also leases an aggregate of approximately 29,000 square feet of
office space in various other locations throughout the world primarily for sales and technical support.
Western Digital owns a 633,077 square foot manufacturing facility in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. The Company also owns a manufacturing facility in
Pathumthani, Thailand, consisting of approximately 232,500 square feet. In addition, in July 2003 the Company acquired a facility in Bang Pa-In, Thailand,
consisting of three buildings with an aggregate of 433,744 square feet, which is used for slider fabrication, the assembly of HGAs and HSAs, and research and
development related thereto.
The Company believes its present facilities are adequate for its current needs, although the process of upgrading its facilities to meet technological and
market requirements is expected to continue. New manufacturing facilities generally can be developed and become operational within approximately nine to
eighteen months should the Company require such additional facilities.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
See Part II, Item 8, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 6.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2004.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Western Digital’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (“NYSE”) under the symbol “WDC”. The approximate number of holders
of record of common stock of the Company as of August 27, 2004 was 2,813.
The Company has not paid any cash dividends on its common stock and does not intend to pay any cash dividends on common stock in the foreseeable
future. The Company’s $125 million credit facility prohibits the Company from paying cash dividends on its common stock.
The high and low sales prices of the Company’s common stock, as reported by the NYSE, for each quarter of 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

2004
High
Low
2003
High
Low

First

Second

Third

Fourth

$14.00
8.44

$14.95
10.20

$13.55
9.64

$11.69
7.87

$ 5.48
2.98

$ 8.96
4.12

$ 9.58
6.07

$13.05
8.36

The following table provides information about repurchases by the Company of its common stock during the quarter ended July 2, 2004:

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased

March 27, 2004 — April 23, 2004
April 24, 2004 — May 28, 2004
May 29, 2004 — July 2, 2004
Total

Average Price
Paid per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced
Program

Maximum Value of
Shares that May Yet
be Purchased
Under the
Program(3)

282(1)
1,927,000(1)
10,724(2)

$10.89
$ 8.25
$ 9.14

—
1,927,000
—

$
—
$84,102,250
$
—

1,938,006

$ 8.26

1,927,000

$84,102,250

(1)

Represents shares purchased in open-market transactions.

(2)

Represents shares delivered by an employee to the Company to satisfy tax-withholding obligations upon the vesting of restricted stock.

(3)

On May 5, 2004, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized the Company to repurchase up to $100 million of the Company’s
common stock in open market transactions. The program does not have an expiration date.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data
Financial Highlights
This selected consolidated financial data should be read together with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes contained in this report and in
our subsequent reports filed with the SEC, as well as the section of this report and our other reports entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.”

Years Ended
July 2,
2004

June 27,
2003

June 28,
2002

June 29,
2001

June 30,
2000

$ 3,047
462
151

$ 2,719
443
182

$2,151
282
53

$1,953
208
(52)

$1,957
10
(330)

.74
$
.70
$ 270
$ 1,159
$
53
$ 488
17,376

$
$
$
$
$
$

$ .28
$ .28
$ 37
$ 637
$ —
$ 103
9,550

$
$
$
$
$
$

$ (2.69)
$ (2.69)
$
7
$ 613
$ 226
$ (110)
7,321

(in millions, except per share and employee data)

Revenue, net
Gross margin
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Per share income (loss) from continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted
Working capital
Total assets
Long-term debt
Shareholders’ equity (deficit)
Number of employees

.93
.89
238
866
—
327
11,508

(.31)
(.31)
45
508
112
7
7,909

No cash dividends were paid for the years presented.

Item 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements
This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. The statements that are not purely historical should be
considered forward-looking statements. Often they can be identified by the use of forward-looking words, such as “may,” “will,” “could,” “project,” “believe,”
“anticipate,” “expect,” “estimate,” “continue,” “potential,” “plan,” “forecasts,” and the like. Statements concerning current conditions may also be forwardlooking if they imply a continuation of current conditions. Examples of forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning the
growth of unit sales of desktop PCs; growth of unit shipments of hard disk drives in the desktop PC, CE (including audio-video), and mobile markets; growth of
revenue from sales of hard disk drives in the desktop PC market; increase in sales of notebook systems; growth rate of sales of home electronic game devices that
include hard disk drives; increase in the demand for desktop PC hard disk drives in Asia; the Company’s expansion into the CE market; expansion of the SATA
interface in desktop PCs and growth of EIDE and SATA interfaces in enterprise hard disk drives; growth of the market for enterprise and other non-desktop PC
applications of 3.5-inch form factor hard disk drives; the Company’s entrance into the mobile hard disk drive market; the Company’s current expectations
regarding depreciation expense for the head manufacturing operations, capital expenditures, gross margin percentages, cash conversion cycle, inventory turns,
cash and cash equivalents, liquidity and cash flows; the impact of the acquisition of head manufacturing assets on the Company’s long-term financial business
model, operating income, working capital investments, and research and development expenses; and increase in areal density (the measure of storage per disk)
and decrease in areal density growth rate.
Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the forwardlooking statements. Readers are urged to carefully review the disclosures made by the Company concerning risks and other factors that may affect the Company’s
business and operating results, including those made in this report under the caption “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results” as well as the Company’s
other reports filed with the SEC. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements,
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which speak only as of the date hereof. The Company undertakes no obligation to publish revised forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances
after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.
Unless otherwise indicated, references herein to specific years and quarters are to the Company’s fiscal years and fiscal quarters.
Business Overview
Western Digital designs, develops, manufactures and markets hard disk drives for digital information storage. The Company’s hard disk drives are used in
desktop PCs, enterprise servers, network attached storage devices, an expanding list of CE products such as video game consoles, personal/digital video recorders
and satellite and cable set-top boxes, and as external storage devices. Western Digital markets its hard disk drives directly to PC manufacturers, including large,
brand name PC manufacturers such as Dell and Hewlett Packard; to CE manufacturers; and to distributors, resellers and retailers that serve a wide range of end
users. Unless otherwise noted, all references to market share and industry data included in this discussion are according to the Gartner report published in April of
2004.
Western Digital builds hard disk drives in assembly facilities in Malaysia and Thailand. The Company also builds hard disk drive components such as printed
circuit board assemblies and head stack assemblies in its Malaysia and Thailand facilities. In July 2003, the Company acquired head manufacturing facilities in
California and Thailand, and currently produces a significant portion of its head requirements. Western Digital procures other components from industry-leading
technology companies, many of which work with the Company from design and development through manufacturing.
Currently, eight hard disk drive vendors compete in the $22 billion-a-year hard disk drive market, compared to fifteen vendors in calendar year 2000.
According to Gartner quarterly reports published in 2004 and calendar year 2003, Western Digital, Seagate Technology, Maxtor Corporation, and Hitachi Global
Storage Technologies supplied approximately 80% of the total hard disk drive market during 2004.
The Company focuses on providing quality products, superior customer service and flexibility by managing its technology deployment, manufacturing, cost,
delivery, quality and reliability. Western Digital believes that its low cost business model allows it to access leading-edge component technologies and cost-saving
innovations while minimizing investment expenditures.
Western Digital’s growth will be influenced greatly by developments in the PC hard disk drive market. Gartner estimates that unit shipments of hard disk
drives in the desktop PC market will grow by approximately 4% per year through calendar year 2008. The Company has increased its resources to address certain
fast-growing geographic markets such as Asia, Latin America, Eastern Europe and Russia. The Company’s revenue in Asia during 2004 increased to 29% of total
revenue as compared to 22% of total revenue for 2003. Gartner estimates that demand for desktop PC hard disk drives in Asia will increase 12% per year through
calendar year 2008.
Because CE demand for hard disk drives is relatively new, with many consumer applications currently employing similar hard disk drive technology as is
found in desktop PCs, Western Digital presently believes it can expand shipments into this developing market. As this market develops, additional investments by
the Company may be required. Gartner estimates that unit shipments of 3.5-inch form factor hard disk drives in CE markets will grow by approximately 26% per
year through calendar year 2008.
The Company is also pursuing new revenue opportunities in non-PC, information technology (“IT”) applications through its application of the SATA
interface. The SATA interface contains many of the same benefits of SCSI — the predominant interface currently used in most enterprise hard disk drive
applications — at a lower cost. TrendFOCUS estimates that 43% of enterprise hard disk drive unit shipments will use the EIDE or SATA interface by calendar
year 2007.
In addition to the CE and SATA growth opportunities, the Company has plans to enter the mobile hard disk drive market in calendar year 2004 to provide
hard disk drives for notebook PCs. Gartner forecasts that unit sales of 2.5-inch form factor hard disk drives to the mobile computing market will grow from an
estimated 47 million in calendar year 2003 to approximately 97 million in calendar year 2008, reflecting a compound annual growth rate of approximately 15%.
16

Table of Contents
Fiscal 2004 Overview
According to quarterly reports for 2004 and calendar year 2003 from Gartner, the desktop hard disk drive market increased by approximately 17% based on
unit shipments. Based on quarterly reports published by Gartner in 2004 and calendar 2003, the Company believes that its market share in desktop hard disk
drives increased to 24% from 23% in 2003. While Western Digital’s unit shipments grew by 22% in 2004, the average selling price of its hard disk drives
declined by 8% due to aggressive pricing pressures and mix of products.
In 2004, Western Digital’s net revenue increased by 12%, to $3.0 billion, on unit shipments of 48.3 million. However, in 2004, gross margin decreased to
15.2% from 16.3% in 2003 primarily as a result of aggressive pricing pressures. In addition, the Company incurred approximately $50 million of start-up
expenses and other charges related to the acquisition of substantially all the assets of Read-Rite Corporation (“Read-Rite”) in July 2003. These factors offset the
ongoing positive contribution of the Company’s newly acquired head manufacturing operations. As a result, operating income decreased by $31.9 million, to
$154.9 million, and operating margins decreased to 5.1% as a percentage of net revenue, compared with 6.9% in 2003. For 2005, the Company expects
incremental benefits from its integrated head operations; however, it is not clear whether this will be enough to offset any continued downward pressure on gross
margin caused by competitive pricing. Western Digital generated $190.0 million in cash flow from operations in 2004 and finished the year with $377.8 million in
cash and cash equivalents, a decrease of $15.4 million from the prior year’s balance.
Read Rite Asset Acquisition
In June 2003, Read-Rite, then one of the Company’s suppliers of magnetic recording heads, commenced voluntary Chapter 7 bankruptcy proceedings. On
July 31, 2003, Western Digital purchased substantially all of the assets of Read-Rite, including its wafer fabrication equipment in Fremont, California and
manufacturing facility in Bang Pa-In, Thailand. The cost of the acquisition was $172.0 million and consisted of cash consideration of $94.8 million, assumed debt
obligations of the Thailand operations of approximately $60.2 million, direct costs of the acquisition and other miscellaneous assumed obligations totaling
$17.0 million. Proceeds from a $50 million term loan were used to repay obligations assumed as a result of the acquired head manufacturing operations in
Thailand.
Western Digital’s acquisition of the head manufacturing operations represented a fundamental change in the Company’s operating structure as the Company
is now manufacturing heads for use in its hard disk drives. Previously, the Company purchased all of its recording head requirements from external suppliers,
including Read-Rite. The Company acquired the Read-Rite assets for the following reasons:
• to enhance its financial business model,
• to gain better control of head technology as the Company’s business grows,
• to improve flexibility, product planning and quality, and
• to improve its cost structure and tighten its supply chain through better operational integration.
Taking the asset acquisition into consideration, the Company expects its long-term financial business model to benefit from a higher gross margin percentage,
offset by higher research and development expenses, than it otherwise would have had without the acquisition. The gross margin percentage improvement will
result from lower cost of sales, as the Company develops the ability to manufacture heads at a lower cost than what it would have otherwise paid external
suppliers. This is expected to result in higher operating income than it otherwise would have had without the acquisition.
The Company began realizing these net financial benefits in 2004. However, these benefits were offset by downward pressures on gross margins caused by
an aggressive pricing environment. The incremental benefits from an integrated head manufacturing operation are expected to increase as the Company continues
to ramp its head manufacturing capability. The Company is currently satisfying a substantial portion of its head requirements through its own head manufacturing
operations.
As a result of integrating the head manufacturing operations, the Company carries a higher percentage of fixed costs than assumed in its prior financial
business model. For example, depreciation expense for the head manufacturing operations is expected to be between $15 million and $20 million per quarter by
the end of 2005.
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Capital expenditures and working capital investments required to support the head manufacturing operations will increase when compared to the Company’s
prior financial business model. For example, capital expenditures related to the head manufacturing operations are expected to average between $80 million and
$100 million on an annual basis after initial capital investments are completed. Also, inventory turns are expected to decrease to between 17 and 19 from the
Company’s historical average of between 20 and 22.
The Company accounted for this transaction as an asset acquisition. The estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as follows:

Current assets
Property and equipment
Purchased technology
In-process research and development

$ 17.4
90.2
38.8
25.6
$172.0

As of the date of the acquisition, Read-Rite had two in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) projects: 120 gigabyte per platter and 160 gigabyte per
platter products. The fair value allocated to these projects as part of the acquisition was $17.8 million and $7.8 million, respectively. The multi-period excess
earnings method, a discounted cash flow income approach, was used to determine the value allocated to the IPR&D. The rate utilized to discount the cash flows
to their present values was based on the weighted average cost of capital and an additional risk premium based on an analysis of the technology and the IPR&D
stages of completion. Based on these factors, 27% was used as the annual discount rate. These acquired IPR&D projects had not reached technological feasibility
and had no alternative future use. Accordingly, the Company recorded the $25.6 million as a charge to research and development expense at the time of the
acquisition.
Results of Operations

Summary of 2004, 2003 and 2002 Comparison
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, summary information from the Company’s statements of income (in millions).

Years Ended
July 2, 2004

Revenue, net
Gross margin
Operating expenses
Operating income
Net interest and other income
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Income from continuing operations

$3,046.7
461.6
306.7
154.9
0.3
155.2
3.9
151.3

June 27, 2003

100.0%
15.2
10.1
5.1
0.0
5.1
0.1
5.0

$2,718.5
442.9
256.1
186.8
2.9
189.7
7.6
182.1

June 28, 2002

100.0%
16.3
9.4
6.9
0.0
7.0
0.3
6.7

$2,151.2
281.6
230.9
50.7
1.4
52.1
(1.1)
53.2

100.0%
13.1
10.7
2.4
0.0
2.4
(0.0)
2.4

Net Revenue
Net revenue was $3.0 billion for 2004, an increase of 12%, or $328 million, from 2003. Total unit shipments increased to 48.3 million for the year as
compared to 39.7 million from the prior year as a result of an increase in market share and overall demand for hard disk drives in the desktop PC market. This
growth in units was partially offset by a $5 per unit decline in average selling prices (“ASPs”) to $63 per unit for 2004 from $68 per unit in 2003.
Revenue by geographic region for 2004 was 41% from the Americas, 30% from Europe and 29% from Asia, compared to 48%, 30% and 22%, respectively,
for 2003. These changes reflect the Company’s continued focus on revenue growth in emerging geographic markets.
18

Table of Contents
Revenue by sales channel for 2004 was 51% from OEMs, 42% from distributors and 7% from the retail channel, compared to 52%, 40% and 8%,
respectively, for 2003. The distribution of revenue by sales channel has remained relatively consistent for the past several quarters.
Net revenue increased $567 million or 26% in 2003 from 2002. This increase in net revenue was primarily due to the Company’s improved market share as
well as an increase in demand for hard disk drives in the PC market. Unit shipments increased to 39.7 million in 2003 from 29.1 million in 2002, partially offset
by a decrease in ASPs to $68 per unit in 2003 from $74 per unit in 2002.

Gross Margin
For 2004, gross margin percentage decreased to 15.2% from 16.3% for 2003. The decrease in gross margin percentage over the prior year was primarily the
result of aggressive pricing pressures. The Company anticipates that competitive pricing pressure may continue to adversely affect gross margin percentages in
2005. Also contributing to the decrease in the gross margin percentage were start-up expenses and other charges totaling $18.1 million incurred during the first
quarter of 2004 relating to the Company’s head manufacturing operations acquired in July 2003. Western Digital was able to partially offset the impact of these
pricing conditions and start-up related costs with the ongoing accretive benefit of its head manufacturing operations. For 2003, gross margin percentage increased
to 16.3% from 13.1% for 2002. This increase in gross margin percentage was primarily a result of a more moderate pricing environment, manufacturing
efficiencies associated with higher unit volume and continuing cost reduction efforts, offset by an $18.5 million charge related to the Cirrus Logic, Inc. litigation
settlement.

Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses, consisting of research and development (“R&D”) and selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”), were 10.1% of net revenue in
2004 as compared to 9.4% of net revenue in 2003 and 10.7% of net revenue in 2002.
R&D expense was $201 million, $135 million and $120 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase of $66 million in R&D expense in 2004
from 2003 was primarily related to head-design, mobile and enterprise platform development, as well as the charge of $26 million incurred during the first quarter
of 2004 for acquired IPR&D, offset by reduced employee incentive payments. The $26 million charge related to IPR&D projects acquired from Read-Rite that
had not reached technological feasibility and had no alternative future use. As of July 2, 2004, progress on these projects was consistent with management’s
original estimates, including the costs incurred towards completion and projected release dates. The increase of $15 million in R&D in 2003 over 2002 was due to
increases in new development programs and higher employee incentive payments, partially offset by expense reduction efforts.
SG&A expense was $106 million, $121 million and $111 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The $15 million decrease in SG&A expense in 2004
from 2003 was primarily due to a reduction in employee incentive programs and reductions in baseline spending. The $10 million increase in SG&A expense in
2003 from 2002 was primarily related to higher incentive payments resulting from improved operational results.
The Company will continue to manage its operating expense structure in line with its operating profit objectives.

Interest and Other Income
Net interest and other income was $0.3 million, $2.9 million and $1.4 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. This includes net investment gains of
$4.4 million in 2003 and $5.4 million in 2002. Excluding these items, net interest and other income (expense) was $0.3 million, ($1.5) million and ($4.0) million
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase in net interest income over the past two years was primarily due to the Company’s redemption of its
convertible debentures during the third quarter of 2003, resulting in lower interest expense as compared to 2002.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
Income tax expense was $3.9 million in 2004 as compared to $7.6 million in 2003 and an income tax benefit of $1.1 million in 2002. The decrease in the
income tax expense of $3.7 million in 2004 primarily related to lower overall
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earnings and a more favorable mix of earnings within certain tax jurisdictions. Differences between the effective tax rate for 2004 of 2.5%, as compared to the
U.S. federal statutory rate, are primarily due to tax holidays in Malaysia and Thailand that expire at various points in time ranging from 2005 to 2014. The 2003
increase in the income tax expense of $8.7 million from 2002 is primarily related to higher overall earnings in 2003 and the non-recurrence of certain tax benefits
realized in 2002. The Company’s 2002 net income tax benefit of $1.1 million included a federal income tax refund of $3.1 million for a loss carryback available
as a result of tax legislation enacted during that year.
Discontinued Operations
During 2002, the Company discontinued the operations of new business ventures, including Connex, Inc. (“Connex”), SANavigator, Inc. (“SANavigator”)
and Keen Personal Media, Inc. (“Keen”). The Company sold substantially all of the assets of its Connex and SANavigator businesses in 2002 for a net gain of
$24.5 million and terminated the Keen operations. The 2002 operating losses for the new ventures and the net gain recognized on the sale of Connex and
SANavigator have been excluded from continuing operations and reported separately on the statements of income as discontinued operations.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company had cash and cash equivalents of $378 million at July 2, 2004 and $393 million at June 27, 2003. Net cash provided by operating activities
during 2004 was $190 million as compared to $278 million for 2003. Net cash flows from operating activities primarily resulted from net income. This represents
the Company’s principal source of cash. Operating cash flows were impacted by net cash used to fund working capital requirements of $89 million for 2004, an
increase of $116 million from 2003. The increase in net cash used to fund working capital requirements was primarily due to a higher accounts receivable balance
associated with changes in the Company’s mix of customers, higher work in process inventory associated with the head manufacturing operations and the
payment of a $45 million litigation settlement.
The Company’s working capital requirements depend upon the effective management of the Company’s cash conversion cycle. The cash conversion cycle,
which consisted of 39 days sales outstanding (“DSO”) plus 20 days inventory outstanding (“DIO”) less 61 days payable outstanding (“DPO”), was negative two
days for 2004 as compared to negative nine days for 2003. The increase in the cash conversion cycle was due to higher DSO’s as a result of changes in the
Company’s mix of customers and higher DIO’s as a result of the longer production cycle associated with the head manufacturing operations. These increases were
partially offset by an increase in DPO’s. The Company expects its financial business model will continue to generate a negative cash conversion cycle going
forward.
Net cash used in investing activities for 2004 was $227 million as compared to $59 million for 2003. The 2004 investing activities consisted of $95 million
for the Read-Rite asset acquisition and $132 million of net capital expenditures. The 2003 investing activities related primarily to net capital expenditures. The
increase in net capital expenditures was primarily for assets purchased to upgrade the Company’s head manufacturing capabilities, increase desktop hard disk
drive production capabilities and for the normal replacement of existing assets. For 2005, capital expenditures are expected to increase to approximately
$250 million. The increase in capital expenditures is expected to consist primarily of investments in mobile hard disk drive manufacturing capacity, continued
expansion of head manufacturing operations and IT infrastructure upgrades. The Company expects to use planned capital lease facilities to offset up to
$100 million of its capital expenditures. Approximately $19 million of capital leases were completed in 2004.
Net cash provided by financing activities for 2004 was $21 million as compared to net cash used by financing activities of $50 million for 2003. The net cash
provided by financing activities in 2004 consisted primarily of $24 million received upon issuance of common stock under employee plans and $14 million of net
proceeds from long-term debt, partially offset by $16 million used in the Company’s stock repurchase program. The net cash used by financing activities for the
year ended 2003 consisted primarily of $88 million used for redemption of the Company’s remaining convertible debentures, partially offset by $44 million
received upon issuance of common stock under employee plans.
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Capital Commitments
The following is a summary of the Company’s significant contractual cash obligations and commercial commitments at July 2, 2004 (in millions):

Total

Long-term debt, including current portion
Capital lease obligations
Operating leases
Purchase obligations
Total

Less than
1 Year

1-3 Years

3-5 Years

More than
5 Years

$ 50.0
17.9
57.4
867.3

$

9.4
5.9
9.8
855.8

$25.0
12.0
18.9
9.5

$15.6
—
15.0
2.0

$ —
—
13.7
—

$992.6

$880.9

$65.4

$32.6

$13.7

Long-Term Debt
On September 19, 2003, the Company entered into a new $125 million five-year credit facility (“Senior Credit Facility”) replacing the facility that matured
on September 20, 2003. The new Senior Credit Facility provides up to $75 million (subject to outstanding letters of credit and a borrowing base calculation) in
revolving credit and a term loan of $50 million. Both the term loan and revolving credit facility mature on September 19, 2008, and are secured by the Company’s
accounts receivable, inventory, 65% of its stock in its foreign subsidiaries and other assets. At the option of the Company, borrowings bear interest at either
LIBOR (with option periods of one to three months) or a base rate, plus a margin. The Senior Credit Facility requires the Company to maintain certain levels of
income, prohibits the payment of cash dividends on common stock, and contains a number of other covenants. The Company was in compliance with all such
covenants at July 2, 2004. The $50 million term loan was funded on September 22, 2003 and requires quarterly principal payments of $3 million beginning in
October 2004. The Company used the proceeds from the term loan to repay obligations incurred as a result of the Read-Rite asset acquisition (see Note 3, “ReadRite Asset Acquisition” included in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements). At July 2, 2004 there were no borrowings under the revolving credit
facility and $71 million was available.

Purchase Orders
In the normal course of business to reduce the risk of component shortages, the Company enters into purchase orders with suppliers for the purchase of hard
disk drive components used to manufacture the Company’s products. These purchase orders generally cover forecasted component supplies needed for production
during the next quarter, become payable upon receipt of the components, and generally may be changed or canceled at any time prior to shipment of the
components. In some cases we may be obligated to pay for certain costs related to changes to, or cancellation of, a purchase order, such as costs incurred for raw
materials or work in process. The Company has entered into long-term purchase agreements for components with certain vendors such as Komag, IBM, and
Marvell. Future purchases under these agreements are not fixed and determinable as they depend on the Company’s overall unit volume requirements and are
contingent upon the prices, technology and quality of the supplier’s products remaining competitive. These arrangements are not included under “Purchase
Obligations” in the table above. See below under the heading “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results” for a discussion of these commitments.

Forward Exchange Contracts
The Company purchases short-term, forward exchange contracts to hedge the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on certain underlying assets, liabilities
and commitments for operating expenses and product costs denominated in foreign currencies. See Part II, Item 7A, under the heading “Disclosure About Foreign
Currency Risk,” for the Company’s current forward exchange contract commitments.

Stock Repurchase Program
The Company announced a stock repurchase program on May 5, 2004. Under the program, the Company may purchase on the open market up to
$100 million of its common stock depending on market conditions and other
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corporate considerations. Stock repurchases are expected to be funded by operating cash flow. Some of the repurchased shares will offset the dilutive impact of
common stock issued under employee stock option and share purchase programs. During the fourth quarter of 2004 the Company repurchased 1.9 million shares
of its common stock at a total cost of approximately $16.0 million. During 2005, the Company may continue to opportunistically repurchase its stock as market
conditions allow. For example, during August 2004, the Company repurchased an additional 2.1 million shares of common stock at a total cost of $15.0 million.
The Company believes its current cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet its working capital needs through the foreseeable future. There can be
no assurance that the Senior Credit Facility or lease financing will continue to be available to the Company. Also, the Company’s ability to sustain its working
capital position is dependent upon a number of factors that are discussed below under the heading “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results.” The Company
currently anticipates that it will continue to utilize its liquidity and cash flows to improve the efficiency and capability of its existing hard disk drive and head
manufacturing operations.
Critical Accounting Policies
The Company has prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of judgment and estimates that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities. The Company has adopted accounting policies and practices that are generally accepted in the industry in which it operates. The Company believes the
following are its most critical accounting policies that affect significant areas and involve management’s judgment and estimates. If these estimates differ
significantly from actual results, the impact to the consolidated financial statements may be material.

Revenue and Accounts Receivable
In accordance with standard industry practice, the Company has agreements with resellers that provide price protection for inventories held by resellers at the
time of published list price reductions. In addition, the Company may have agreements with resellers that provide for stock rotation on slow-moving items and
other incentive programs. In accordance with current accounting standards, the Company recognizes revenue upon shipment or delivery to resellers and records a
reduction to revenue for estimated price protection and other programs in effect until the resellers sell such inventory to their customers. Adjustments are based on
anticipated price decreases during the reseller holding period, estimated amounts to be reimbursed to qualifying customers, as well as historical pricing
information. If end-market demand for hard disk drives declines significantly, the Company may have to increase sell-through incentive payments to resellers,
resulting in an increase in price protection allowances, which could adversely impact operating results.
The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts by analyzing specific customer accounts and assessing the risk of loss based on insolvency,
disputes or other collection issues. In addition, the Company routinely analyzes the different receivable aging categories and its bad debt loss history and
establishes reserves based on a combination of past due receivables and expected future losses. If the financial condition of a significant customer deteriorates
resulting in their inability to pay their accounts when due, an increase in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts would be required, which could
negatively affect operating results.
The Company records provisions against revenue and cost of revenue for estimated sales returns in the same period that the related revenue is recognized.
The Company bases these provisions on existing product return notifications as well as historical returns by product type (see “Warranty”). If actual sales returns
exceed expectations, an increase in the sales return provision would be required, which could negatively affect operating results.

Warranty
The Company records an accrual for estimated warranty costs when revenue is recognized. Warranty covers costs of repair or replacement of the hard disk
drive over the warranty period, which generally ranges from one to five years. The Company has comprehensive processes with which to estimate accruals for
warranty, which include specific detail on hard disk drives in the field by product type, historical field return rates and costs to repair. If actual product return rates
or costs to repair returned products increase above expectations, an increase in the warranty provision would be required, which could negatively affect operating
results.
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Inventory
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out basis) or net realizable value. Inventory write-downs are recorded for the valuation of inventory
at the lower of cost or net realizable value by analyzing market conditions and estimates of future sales prices as compared to inventory costs and inventory
balances.
The Company evaluates inventory balances for excess quantities and obsolescence on a regular basis by analyzing backlog, estimated demand, inventory on
hand, sales levels and other information, and writes down inventory balances for excess and obsolete inventory based on the analysis. Unanticipated changes in
technology or customer demand could result in a decrease in demand for one or more of the Company’s products, which may require an increase in inventory
write-downs that could negatively affect operating results.

Litigation and Other Contingencies
The Company applies Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” to determine when and how much to accrue for
and disclose related to legal and other contingencies. Accordingly, the Company accrues loss contingencies when management, in consultation with its legal
advisors, concludes that a loss is probable and reasonably estimable. (Refer to Part II, Item 8, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 6 “Legal
Proceedings” included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K). The ability to predict the ultimate outcome of such matters involves judgments, estimates and
inherent uncertainties. The actual outcome of such matters could differ materially from management’s estimates.

Deferred Tax Assets
The Company’s deferred tax assets, which consist primarily of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, are fully reserved due to management’s
determination that it is more likely than not that these assets will not be realized. This determination is based on the weight of available evidence, the most
significant of which is the Company’s loss history in the related tax jurisdictions. Should this determination change in the future, some amount of deferred tax
assets could be recognized, resulting in a tax benefit or a reduction of future tax expense.
Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results

Declines in ASPs in the hard disk drive industry adversely affect our operating results.
The hard disk drive industry has experienced declining ASP’s. Although the rate of decline has moderated in recent years, there can be no assurance that this
trend will continue. In fact, during the fourth quarter of 2004, ASPs decreased significantly. Increases in areal density mean that the average drive we sell has
fewer heads and disks for the same capacity and, therefore, a lower component cost. Because of the competitiveness of the hard disk drive industry, lower costs
generally mean lower prices. This is true even for those products that are competitive and introduced into the market in a timely manner. Our ASPs decline even
further when competitors lower prices as a result of decreased costs or to absorb excess capacity, liquidate excess inventories, restructure or attempt to gain
market share.

Our operating results depend on optimizing time-to-market and time-to-volume, overall quality, and costs of new and established products.
To achieve consistent success with our customers who manufacturer computers, systems and consumer electronic devices, we must balance several key
attributes: time-to-market, time-to-volume, quality, cost, service, price and a broad product portfolio. If we fail to:
• maintain overall quality of products on new and established programs,
• maintain competitive cost structures on new and established products,
• produce sufficient quantities of products at the capacities our customers demand while managing the integration of new and established technologies,
• develop and qualify new products that have changes in overall specifications or features that our customers may require for their business needs,
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• qualify these products with key customers on a timely basis by meeting all of our customers’ needs for performance, quality and features, or
• consistently meet stated quality requirements on delivered products,
our operating results would be adversely affected.

Product life cycles in the desktop hard disk drive market require continuous technical innovation associated with higher areal densities.
New products in the desktop hard disk drive market may require higher areal densities than previous product generations, posing formidable technical and
manufacturing challenges. Higher areal densities require existing head technology to be improved or new technology developed to accommodate more data on a
single disk. In addition, our introduction of new products during a technology transition increases the likelihood of unexpected quality concerns. Our failure to
bring high quality new products to market on time and at acceptable costs may put us at a competitive disadvantage to companies that achieve these results. In
addition, technology improvements may require us to reduce the price on existing products to remain competitive.

Increases in areal density may outpace customers’ demand for storage capacity.
The rate of increase in areal density may be greater than the increase in our customers’ demand for aggregate storage capacity. This could lead to our
customers’ storage capacity needs being satisfied with more lower-cost single-surface drives, thereby decreasing our revenue. As a result, even with increasing
aggregate demand for storage capacity, our ASPs could decline, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

Product life cycles influence our financial results.
Product life cycles have been extending since the middle of calendar year 2002 due in large part to a decrease in the rate of hard disk drive areal density
growth. However, there can be no assurance that this trend will continue. If longer product life cycles continue, we may need to develop new technologies or
programs to reduce our costs on any particular product in order to maintain competitive pricing for such product. This may result in an increase in our overall
expenses and a decrease in our gross margins, both of which could adversely affect our operating results. If product life cycles shorten, it may be more difficult to
recover the cost of product development before the product becomes obsolete. Although we believe that the current rate of growth in areal density is lower than in
the past several years and will continue to decrease in the near term, we expect that areal density will continue to increase. Our failure to recover the cost of
product development in the future could adversely affect our operating results.

If we fail to qualify our products with our customers, they may not purchase any units of a particular product line, which would have a significant adverse
impact on our sales.
We regularly engage in new product qualification with our customers. To be considered for qualification, we must be among the leaders in time-to-market
with our new products. Once a product is accepted for qualification testing, failures or delays in the qualification process can result in our losing sales to that
customer until the next generation of products is introduced. The effect of missing a product qualification opportunity is magnified by the limited number of high
volume computer manufacturers, most of which continue to consolidate their share of the PC market. If product life cycles continue to be extended due to a
decrease in the rate of areal density growth, we may have a significantly longer period to wait before we have an opportunity to qualify a new product with a
customer, which could harm our competitive position. These risks are increased because we expect cost improvements and competitive pressures to result in
declining gross margins on our current generation products.

Unexpected technology advances in the hard disk drive industry could harm our competitive position.
If one of our competitors were able to implement a significant advance in head or hard disk drive technology that enables a “step-change” increase in areal
density that permits greater storage of data on a disk, it could put us at a competitive disadvantage and harm our operating results.
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Advances in magnetic, optical, semiconductor or other data storage technologies could result in competitive products that have better performance or lower
cost per unit of capacity than our products. If these products prove to be superior in performance or cost per unit of capacity, we could be at a competitive
disadvantage to the companies offering those products.

A fundamental change in recording technology could result in significant increases in our operating expenses and could put us at a competitive
disadvantage.
Currently the hard disk drive industry uses giant magnetoresistive head technology, which allows significantly higher storage capacities than the previously
utilized thin-film head technology. However, the industry is developing new recording technologies that may enable greater recording densities than currently
available using magnetoresistive head technology, including perpendicular, current perpendicular-to-plane, and tunneling junction technology. If the industry
experiences a fundamental shift in recording technology, hard disk drive manufacturers would need to timely adjust their designs and processes to accommodate
the new technology in order to remain competitive. As a result, we could incur substantial costs in developing new technologies, media, and tools to remain
competitive. We may also become more dependent on suppliers to ensure our access to components that accommodate the new technology. These results would
increase our operating costs, which may negatively impact our operating results.

The hard disk drive industry is highly competitive and characterized by rapid shifts in market share among the major competitors.
The price of hard disk drives has fallen over time due to increases in supply, cost reductions, technological advances and price reductions by competitors
seeking to liquidate excess inventories or attempting to gain market share. In addition, rapid technological changes often reduce the volume and profitability of
sales of existing products and increase the risk of inventory obsolescence. These factors, taken together, result in significant and rapid shifts in market share
among the industry’s major participants. In addition, product recalls can lead to a loss of market share, which could adversely affect our operating results.

Our prices and margins are subject to declines due to unpredictable end-user demand and oversupply of hard disk drives.
Demand for our hard disk drives depends on the demand for systems manufactured by our customers and on storage upgrades to existing systems. The
demand for systems has been volatile in the past and often has had an exaggerated effect on the demand for hard disk drives in any given period. As a result, the
hard disk drive market has experienced periods of excess capacity, which has led to intense price competition. If intense price competition occurs, we may be
forced to lower prices sooner and more than expected, which could result in lower revenue and gross margins.

Changes in the markets for hard disk drives require us to develop new products.
Over the past few years the consumer market for desktop computers has shifted significantly towards lower priced systems. According to data released by
TrendFOCUS in November 2003, systems priced below $600 comprised the fastest growing segment of the desktop computer market. If we are not able to offer a
competitively priced hard disk drive for the low-cost PC market, our share of that market will likely fall, which could harm our operating results.
The market for hard disk drives is also fragmenting into a variety of devices and products. Many industry analysts expect, as do we, that as communications
are increasingly converted to digital technology from the older, analog technology, the technology of computers and consumer electronics will continue to
converge, and hard disk drives will be found in many consumer products other than computers. For example, although general market acceptance remains in its
early stages, the use of hard disk drives has expanded into the game console market. Microsoft and Sony currently incorporate a hard disk drive into their video
game systems. However, there can be no assurance that these companies will continue incorporating a hard disk drive into their game consoles, or that the market
for these products will grow.
In addition, we expect that the consumer market for audio-video products incorporating a hard disk drive will continue to grow. However, because this
market remains relatively new, although overall growth has been strong, accurate forecasts for future growth remain challenging. Moreover, some of the devices,
such as personal video recorders and digital video recorders, may require attributes not currently offered in our products, which may result in a need to expend
capital, increasing our overall operational expense. If we are not successful in using our hard disk drive technology and
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expertise to develop new products for the emerging consumer electronics market, or if we are required to incur significant costs in developing such products, it
may harm our operating results.
If we do not successfully expand into new hard disk drive market segments, our business may suffer.
To remain a significant supplier of hard disk drives, we will need to offer a broad range of hard disk drive products to our customers. We currently offer a
variety of 3.5-inch form factor hard disk drives for the desktop computer market. However, demand for hard disk drives may shift to products in smaller form
factors, which we do not currently offer, but which some of our competitors offer. In addition, the enterprise and desktop PC industries are transitioning to higher
speed interfaces such as SATA to handle higher data transfer rates. We currently offer SATA products; however, the transition of technology and the introduction
of new products is challenging and creates risks. While we continue to develop new products and look to expand into non-desktop applications such as consumer
electronics and mobile products, the success of our new product introductions is dependent on a number of factors, including difficulties faced in manufacturing
ramp, market acceptance, effective management of inventory levels in line with anticipated product demand, and the risk that our new products will have quality
problems or other defects in the early stages of introduction that were not anticipated in the design of those products. If we fail to successfully develop and
manufacture new products, customers may decrease the amount of our products that they purchase, and we may lose business to our competitors who offer these
products or who use their dominance in the enterprise or mobile market to encourage sales of desktop hard disk drives.

We depend on our key personnel and skilled employees.
Our success depends upon the continued contributions of our key personnel and skilled employees, many of whom would be extremely difficult to replace.
Worldwide competition for skilled employees in the hard disk drive industry is intense. Volatility or lack of positive performance in our stock price may adversely
affect our ability to retain key personnel or skilled employees who have been granted stock options. If we are unable to retain our existing key personnel or skilled
employees, or hire and integrate new key personnel or skilled employees, our operating results would likely be harmed.

Loss of market share with a key customer could harm our operating results.
A majority of our revenue comes from a few customers. For example, during 2004, sales to our top 10 customers accounted for 51% of revenue, as compared
to 55% of revenue for 2003. These customers have a variety of suppliers to choose from and therefore can make substantial demands on us. Even if we
successfully qualify a product with a customer, the customer generally is not obligated to purchase any minimum volume of products from us and is able to
terminate its relationship with us at any time. Our ability to maintain strong relationships with our principal customers is essential to our future performance. If
we lose a key customer, or if any of our key customers reduce their orders of our products or require us to reduce our prices before we are able to reduce costs,
our operating results would likely be harmed. In addition, if customer pressures require us to reduce our pricing such that our gross margins are diminished, we
could decide not to sell our products to a particular customer, which could result in a decrease in our revenue.

Dependence on a limited number of qualified suppliers of components and manufacturing equipment could lead to delays, lost revenue or increased costs.
Because we depend on a limited number of suppliers for certain hard disk drive components and manufacturing equipment, an increase in the cost of such
components or equipment, an extended shortage of required components or equipment, or the failure of key suppliers to remain in business, adjust to market
conditions, or to meet our quality, yield or production requirements could significantly harm our operating results. A number of the components used by us are
available from only a single or limited number of qualified outside suppliers, and there is continued attrition and consolidation in our supplier base. In addition,
some of the components (or component types) used in our products are used in other devices, such as mobile telephones and digital cameras. If there is a
significant simultaneous upswing in demand for such a component (or component type) from several high volume industries, resulting in a supply reduction, or a
component is otherwise in short supply, or if a supplier fails to qualify or has a quality issue with a component, we may experience delays or increased costs in
obtaining that component. In addition, if a component becomes unavailable, we could suffer significant loss of revenue.
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To reduce the risk of component shortages, we attempt to provide significant lead times when buying these components. As a result, we may be subject to
cancellation charges if we cancel orders, which may occur when we make technology transitions.
In some cases, not only are we dependent on a limited number of suppliers, but we also have entered into contractual commitments that require us to buy a
substantial number of components from certain suppliers. For example, we have entered into a volume purchase agreement with Komag for the purchase of media
components, and volume purchase agreements with IBM and Marvell for the purchase of read channel devices. Our future operating results may depend
substantially on Komag’s ability to timely qualify their components in our programs, and each of Komag’s, IBM’s, and Marvell’s ability to supply us with these
components in sufficient volume to meet our production requirements. A significant disruption in any of these suppliers’ ability to manufacture and supply us
with the components could harm our operating results.
In addition, certain equipment we use in our manufacturing or testing processes is available only from a limited number of suppliers. Some of this equipment
uses materials that at times could be in short supply. If these materials are not available, or are not available in the quantities we require for our manufacturing and
testing processes, our ability to manufacture our products could be impacted, and we could suffer significant loss of revenue.

If we are unable to timely and cost-effectively develop heads with leading technology and overall quality, our ability to sell our products may be significantly
diminished, which could materially and adversely affect our business and financial results.
As a result of our head manufacturing operations, we are developing and manufacturing a substantial portion of the heads used in the hard disk drives we
manufacture. Consequently, we are more dependent upon our own development and execution efforts and less able to take advantage of head technologies
developed by other head manufacturers. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be successful in timely and cost-effectively developing and
manufacturing heads for products using perpendicular recording technology, or other future technologies. We also may not achieve acceptable manufacturing
yields using such technologies necessary to satisfy our customers’ product needs, or we may encounter quality problems with the heads we manufacture. In
addition, we may not have access to external sources of supply without incurring substantial costs. If we fail to develop new technologies in a timely manner, or if
we encounter quality problems with the heads we manufacture, and if we do not have access to external sources of supply that incorporate new technologies, we
would have a competitive disadvantage to companies that are successful in this regard, and our business and financial results could suffer.

We will experience additional costs and risks in connection with our head manufacturing operations.
Our acquisition of head manufacturing assets represented a fundamental change in our operating structure, as we are now manufacturing heads for use in the
hard disk drives we manufacture. Consequently, we carry a higher percentage of fixed costs than assumed in our prior financial business model. If the overall
level of production decreases for any reason, our head manufacturing assets may face under-utilization that may impact our results of operations. We are therefore
subject to additional risks related to overall asset utilization, including the need to operate at high levels of utilization to drive competitive costs, and the need for
assured supply of components, especially hard disk drive media, that is optimized to work with our heads.
Moreover, capital expenditures and working capital investments required to support the head manufacturing operations, including research and development
expenses and expenses necessary to investigate new recording technologies to extend technology, will increase.
In addition, we may incur additional costs, expenses and risks, including:
• we may not have sufficient head sources in the event that we are unable to manufacture a sufficient supply of heads to satisfy our needs;
• third party head suppliers may not deal with us or may not deal with us on the same terms and conditions we have previously enjoyed;
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• the costs of operating head manufacturing assets may exceed the prices we have historically paid for heads or the prices that might be otherwise available
to us from other vendors;
• we may be subject to claims that our manufacturing of heads may infringe certain intellectual property rights of other companies;
• we could incur substantial costs, including clean up costs, fines and civil or criminal sanctions, as a result of violations of or liabilities under environmental
laws applicable to our Fremont, California facility, including those governing the discharge of pollutants into the air and water; and
• it may be difficult and time-consuming for us to locate suitable manufacturing equipment for our head manufacturing processes and replacement parts for
such equipment.
If we do not adequately address the challenges related to our head manufacturing operations, our ongoing operations could be disrupted, resulting in a
decrease in our revenue or profit margins and negatively impacting our operating results.

To develop new products, we must maintain effective partner relationships with our major component suppliers.
Under our business model, we do not manufacture any of the component parts used in our hard disk drives, other than heads as a result of our acquisition of
head manufacturing assets in July 2003. As a result, the success of our products depends on our ability to gain access to and integrate parts that are “best in class”
from reliable component suppliers. To do so, we must effectively manage our relationships with our major component suppliers. We must also effectively
integrate different products from a variety of suppliers, each of which employs variations on technology, which can impact, for example, feasible combinations of
heads and media components. In August 2003 we settled litigation we were engaged in with Cirrus Logic, Inc., a supplier who previously was the sole source of
read channel devices for our hard disk drives. As a result of the disputes that gave rise to the litigation, our profitability was at risk until another supplier’s read
channel devices could be designed into our products. Similar disputes with other strategic component suppliers could adversely affect our operating results.

Our failure to timely and efficiently transition our enterprise resource planning software from the version we currently use to a new version could adversely
affect our business and financial results.
We use enterprise resource planning software in the operation of our business and maintenance of business and financial data related to our daily operations.
We are in the process of upgrading this software and we anticipate transitioning to new enterprise resource planning software during the next year. We may
experience unexpected difficulties in transitioning to the new software, including difficulties related to the failure or inefficient operation of the new software.
Such difficulties or failures could result in our inability to access business and financial information stored on the system or the loss of such information. Any
inability to access, or loss of, such information could affect our daily operations, including our ability to ship products and invoice our customers, which could
have a significant adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Some of our customers have adopted a subcontractor model that increases our credit risk and could result in an increase in our operating costs.
Some of our computer manufacturer customers (also referred to as OEMs) have adopted a subcontractor model that requires us to contract directly with
companies that provide manufacturing services to our OEM customers. Because these subcontractors are generally not as well capitalized as our direct OEM
customers, this subcontractor model exposes us to increased credit risks. Our agreements with our OEM customers may not permit us to increase our product
prices to alleviate this increased credit risk. Any credit losses we may suffer as a result of this increased risk would increase our operating costs, which may
negatively impact our operating results.

We have two high-volume hard-drive manufacturing facilities and two facilities supporting our head manufacturing operations, which subjects us to the risk
of damage or loss of any of these facilities.
Our hard disk drives are manufactured in facilities in Malaysia and in Thailand. In addition, following our acquisition of head manufacturing assets in July
2003, we are operating a head wafer fabrication and research and
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development facility in Fremont, California and a slider fabrication, HGA and HSA assembly, and research and development facility in Thailand. A fire, flood,
earthquake or other disaster, condition or event that adversely affects any of these facilities or our ability to manufacture could result in a loss of sales and revenue
and harm our operating results.
Terrorist attacks may adversely affect our business and operating results.
The terrorist attacks on the United States on September 11, 2001, the United States-led military response to counter terrorism and the continued threat of
terrorist activity and other acts of war or hostility, including the war in Iraq, have created uncertainty in the financial and insurance markets and have significantly
increased the political, economic and social instability in some of the geographic areas in which we operate. Further acts of terrorism, either domestically or
abroad, could create further uncertainties and instability. To the extent this results in disruption or delays of our manufacturing capabilities or shipments of our
products, our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Manufacturing our products abroad subjects us to numerous risks.
We are subject to risks associated with our foreign manufacturing operations, including:
• obtaining requisite United States and foreign governmental permits and approvals;
• currency exchange rate fluctuations or restrictions;
• political instability and civil unrest;
• transportation delays or higher freight rates;
• labor problems;
• trade restrictions or higher tariffs;
• exchange, currency and tax controls and reallocations;
• increasing labor and overhead costs; and
• loss or non-renewal of favorable tax treatment under agreements or treaties with foreign tax authorities.
Because we manufacture our products abroad, our operating costs are subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Further fluctuations in the
exchange rate of the Thai Baht, a floating currency, or a determination by the Malaysian government to repeg the Malaysian Ringgit or convert it to a floating
currency, could result in an increase in our operating costs, which may negatively impact our operating results.
We have attempted to manage the impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes by, among other things, entering into short-term, forward exchange
contracts. However, those contracts do not cover our full exposure and can be canceled by the issuer if currency controls are put in place. As a result of the
Malaysian currency controls, we are no longer hedging the Malaysian currency risk. Currently, we hedge the Thai Baht, British Pound Sterling and the Euro.
There has been a trend toward a weakening U.S. dollar relative to most foreign currencies. If this trend continues the U.S. dollar equivalents of unhedged
manufacturing costs could increase because a significant portion of our production costs are foreign-currency denominated. Conversely, there would not be an
offsetting impact to revenues since revenues are substantially U.S. dollar denominated.

Unforeseen environmental costs could harm our operating results.
We may be subject to various state, federal and international laws and regulations governing the environment, including those restricting the presence of
certain substances in electronic products and making producers of those products financially responsible for the collection, treatment, recycling and disposal of
certain products. Such laws and regulations have been passed in several jurisdictions in which we operate, including various European Union member countries.
Similar legislation may be enacted in other locations where we manufacture or sell our products.
We could incur substantial costs in connection with our compliance with such environmental laws and regulations, and we could also be subject to
governmental fines and liability to our customers if we were to violate these laws. If we
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have to make significant capital expenditures to comply with environmental laws, or if we are subject to significant capital expenses in connection with a
violation of these laws, our financial condition or operating results could suffer.
The nature of our business and our reliance on intellectual property and other proprietary information subjects us to the risk of significant litigation.
The hard disk drive industry has been characterized by significant litigation. This includes litigation relating to patent and other intellectual property rights,
product liability claims and other types of litigation. Litigation can be expensive, lengthy, and disruptive to normal business operations. Moreover, the results of
litigation are inherently uncertain and may result in adverse rulings or decisions. We may enter into settlements or be subject to judgments that may, individually
or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
We are currently evaluating notices of alleged patent infringement or notices of patents from patent holders. We also are a party to several judicial and other
proceedings relating to patent and other intellectual property rights. If claims or actions are asserted against us, we may be required to obtain a license or crosslicense, modify our existing technology or design a new non-infringing technology. Such licenses or design modifications can be extremely costly. We may also
be liable for any past infringement. If there is an adverse ruling against us in an infringement lawsuit, an injunction could be issued barring production or sale of
any infringing product. It could also result in a damage award equal to a reasonable royalty or lost profits or, if there is a finding of willful infringement, treble
damages. Any of these results would likely increase our costs and harm our operating results.

Our reliance on intellectual property and other proprietary information subjects us to the risk that these key ingredients of our business could be copied by
competitors.
Our success depends, in significant part, on the proprietary nature of our technology, including non-patentable intellectual property such as our process
technology. Despite safeguards, to the extent that a competitor is able to reproduce or otherwise capitalize on our technology, it may be difficult, expensive or
impossible for us to obtain necessary legal protection. Also, the laws of some foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property to the same extent as do
the laws of the United States. In addition to patent protection of intellectual property rights, we consider elements of our product designs and processes to be
proprietary and confidential. We rely upon employee, consultant and vendor non-disclosure agreements and contractual provisions and a system of internal
safeguards to protect our proprietary information. However, any of our registered or unregistered intellectual property rights may be challenged or exploited by
others in the industry, which might harm our operating results.

We are subject to risks related to product defects, which could result in product recalls and could subject us to warranty claims in excess of our warranty
provisions or which are greater than anticipated due to the unenforceability of liability limitations.
We generally warrant our products for one to five years. We test our hard disk drives in our manufacturing facilities through a variety of means. However,
there can be no assurance that our testing will reveal latent defects in our products, which may not become apparent until after the products have been sold into
the market. Accordingly, there is a risk that product defects will occur, which could require a product recall. Product recalls can be expensive to implement and, if
a product recall occurs during the product’s warranty period, we may be required to replace the defective product. In addition, a product recall may damage our
relationship with our customers, and we may lose market share with our customers, including our OEM customers.
The standard warranties used by us contain limits on damages and exclusions of liability for consequential damages and for negligent or improper use of the
products. We record an accrual for estimated warranty costs at the time revenue is recognized. We may incur additional operating expenses if our warranty
provision does not reflect the actual cost of resolving issues related to defects in our products. If these additional expenses are significant, it could adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Inaccurate projections of demand for our product can cause large fluctuations in our quarterly results.
We often ship a high percentage (at times in excess of 50%) of our total quarterly sales in the third month of the quarter, which makes it difficult for us to
forecast our financial results prior to the end of the quarter. In addition, our quarterly projections and results may be subject to significant fluctuations as a result
of a number of other factors including:
• the timing of orders from and shipment of products to major customers;
• our product mix;
• changes in the prices of our products;
• manufacturing delays or interruptions;
• acceptance by customers of competing products in lieu of our products;
• variations in the cost of components for our products;
• limited access to components that we obtain from a single or a limited number of suppliers, such as Komag, IBM, Marvell, ALPS Electric Co., Ltd.,
STMicroelectronics, and SAE Magnetics Ltd., a subsidiary of TDK Corporation;
• competition and consolidation in the data storage industry;
• seasonal and other fluctuations in demand for PCs often due to technological advances; and
• availability and rates of transportation.

Rapidly changing market conditions in the hard disk drive industry make it difficult to estimate actual results.
We have made and continue to make a number of estimates and assumptions relating to our consolidated financial reporting. The rapidly changing market
conditions with which we deal means that actual results may differ significantly from our estimates and assumptions. Key estimates and assumptions for us
include:
• accruals for warranty costs related to product defects;
• price protection adjustments and other sales promotions and allowances on products sold to retailers, resellers and distributors;
• inventory adjustments for write-down of inventories to lower of cost or market value (net realizable value);
• reserves for doubtful accounts;
• accruals for product returns;
• accruals for litigation and other contingencies; and
• reserves for deferred tax assets.

The market price of our common stock is volatile.
The market price of our common stock has been, and may continue to be, extremely volatile. Factors such as the following may significantly affect the
market price of our common stock:
• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;
• announcements of technological innovations by us or our competitors which may decrease the volume and profitability of sales of our existing products
and increase the risk of inventory obsolescence;
• new products introduced by us or our competitors;
• periods of severe pricing pressures due to oversupply or price erosion resulting from competitive pressures;
• developments with respect to patents or proprietary rights;
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• conditions and trends in the hard disk drive, data and content management, storage and communication industries; and
• changes in financial estimates by securities analysts relating specifically to us or the hard disk drive industry in general.
In addition, general economic conditions may cause the stock market to experience extreme price and volume fluctuations from time to time that particularly
affect the stock prices of many high technology companies. These fluctuations often appear to be unrelated to the operating performance of the companies.
Securities class action lawsuits are often brought against companies after periods of volatility in the market price of their securities. A number of such suits
have been filed against us in the past, and should any new lawsuits be filed, such matters could result in substantial costs and a diversion of resources and
management’s attention.

We may be unable to raise future capital through debt or equity financing.
Due to the risks described herein, in the future we may be unable to maintain adequate financial resources for capital expenditures, expansion or acquisition
activity, working capital and research and development. We have a credit facility, which matures on September 19, 2008, and planned capital lease facilities. If we
decide to increase or accelerate our capital expenditures or research and development efforts, or if results of operations do not meet our expectations, we could
require additional debt or equity financing. However, we cannot ensure that additional financing will be available to us or available on acceptable terms. An
equity financing could also be dilutive to our existing stockholders.
Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Disclosure About Foreign Currency Risk
Although the majority of the Company’s transactions are in U.S. Dollars, some transactions are based in various foreign currencies. The Company purchases
short-term, forward exchange contracts to hedge the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on certain underlying assets, liabilities and commitments for
operating expenses and product costs denominated in foreign currencies. The purpose of entering into these hedge transactions is to minimize the impact of
foreign currency fluctuations on the results of operations. The resulting impact from these hedge contracts is to offset a majority of the currency gains and losses
in the Company’s local currency operating expenses. The contract maturity dates do not exceed six months. The Company does not purchase short-term forward
exchange contracts for trading purposes. Currently, the Company focuses on hedging its foreign currency risk related to the Thai Baht, the British Pound Sterling,
and the Euro.
As of July 2, 2004, the Company had outstanding the following purchased foreign currency forward exchange contracts (in millions, except weighted
average contract rate):

July 2, 2004
Contract
Amount

Foreign currency forward contracts:
Thai Baht
British Pound Sterling
Euro

$170.3
$ 2.0
$ 1.4

Weighted Average
Contract Rate*

40.81
0.55
0.81

Unrealized
Gain (Loss)

0.2
—
—

* Expressed in units of foreign currency per dollar.
In 2004, 2003 and 2002, total realized transaction and forward exchange contract currency gains and losses were not material to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Disclosure About Other Market Risks

Variable Interest Rate Risk
At the option of the Company, borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility would bear interest at either LIBOR (with option periods of one to three months)
or a base rate, plus a margin. If LIBOR or the base rate increases, the Company’s interest payments could also increase. At July 2, 2004 the Company had a
$50 million term loan outstanding under the Senior Credit Facility. A one percent increase in the variable rate of interest on the Senior Credit Facility would
increase interest expense by approximately $0.5 million annually.
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Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors
Western Digital Corporation:
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Western Digital Corporation and subsidiaries as listed in the accompanying index. In connection
with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the financial statement schedule as listed in the accompanying index. These
consolidated financial statements and the financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements and the financial statement schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Western Digital
Corporation and subsidiaries as of July 2, 2004 and June 27, 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended July 2, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein.
KPMG LLP
Costa Mesa, California
July 29, 2004
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in millions, except per share amounts)
Years Ended
July 2,
2004

June 27,
2003

June 28,
2002

$3,046.7
2,585.1

$2,718.5
2,275.6

$2,151.2
1,869.6

461.6

442.9

281.6

Operating expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative

201.0
105.7

134.7
121.4

120.1
110.8

Total operating expenses

306.7

256.1

230.9

Operating income
Net interest and other income

154.9
0.3

186.8
2.9

50.7
1.4

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)

155.2
3.9

189.7
7.6

52.1
(1.1)

Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations

151.3
—

182.1
—

53.2
12.2

Net income

$ 151.3

$ 182.1

$

65.4

Basic income per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations

$

.74
—

$

.93
—

$

.28
.07

$

.74

$

.93

$

.35

$

.70
—

$

.89
—

$

.28
.06

$

.70

$

.89

$

.34

Revenue, net
Cost of revenue
Gross margin

Diluted income per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

205.7

195.6

189.0

216.7

205.5

193.7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in millions)
July 2,
2004

June 27,
2003

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Other
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible and other assets
Total assets

$ 377.8
313.1
148.6
17.8

$ 393.2
243.9
97.8
9.2

857.3
274.7
27.2

744.1
122.1
—

$1,159.2

$ 866.2

$ 434.9
90.4
46.4
15.2

$ 352.3
112.4
41.0
—

586.9
52.7
32.0

505.7
—
33.1

—

—

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued warranty
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Other liabilities
Commitments and contingent liabilities
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; authorized — 5.0 shares;
Outstanding — None
Common stock, $.01 par value; authorized — 450.0 shares;
Outstanding — 208.8 shares in 2004 and 203.6 in 2003
Additional paid-in capital
Deferred compensation
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Treasury stock — common shares at cost; 2.7 shares in 2004 and 0.7 shares in
2003
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

2.1
698.7
(1.3)
(182.9)
0.2

2.0
676.6
(1.2)
(334.2)
—

(29.2)

(15.8)

487.6

327.4

$1,159.2

$ 866.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY and COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in millions)
Common Stock

Balance at June 29,
2001.
ESPP shares issued
Exercise of stock
options and
warrants
Shares issued in
debenture
redemption
Deferred
compensation
plan, net
Net effect of
subsidiary equity
transactions
Net income
Unrealized loss on
investment
securities
Balance at June 28,
2002.
ESPP shares issued
Exercise of stock
options
Shares issued in
debenture
redemption
Deferred
compensation plan
Net income
Realized gain on
investment
securities, net
Balance at June 27,
2003.
ESPP shares issued
Exercise of stock
options
Deferred
compensation plan
Repurchase of
common stock
Net income
Unrealized gain on
foreign currency
contracts
Balance at July 2,
2004.

Shares

Amount

192.8

$1.9

Treasury Stock
Shares

(6.4)
1.3
1.6

2.6

Amount

$(148.2)
13.9
34.3

—
0.2

3.7

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Deferred
Compensation

Retained
Earnings
(Accumulated
Deficit)

Accumulated
Comprehensive
Income

$(3.7)

$(581.7)

$ 3.1

$735.4
(9.6)

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

$

6.8
4.3

(28.5)

5.8

13.6

13.6

(2.6)

0.5

5.9

1.6
5.9
65.4

65.4
(0.5)

1.9

(3.3)

(96.3)

714.2

1.2

—

0.9

24.2

(17.0)

7.2

6.9

0.1

1.9

57.8

(20.8)

37.1

0.1

—

0.2

0.2

(1.5)

2.0

(516.3)

2.6

(0.5)

195.4

(0.2)

(3.2)

2.0

(0.7)

(15.8)

2.2
3.0

208.8

(1.2)

(334.2)

—

(2.6)

327.4

9.8

9.8

0.7

14.7

15.5

(0.1)

1.9

(2.4)

(1.9)

(16.0)

0.1

$2.1

676.6

102.9

0.5
182.1

182.1
(2.6)

203.6

(2.7)

$ (29.2)

(0.1)

$(1.3)

(0.5)

$ 64.9

$182.1
(2.6)

$179.5

$(182.9)

$151.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

$ 0.2

$487.6

$151.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in millions)
Years Ended
July 2,
2004

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by continuing
operations:
Depreciation and amortization
In-process research and development expense
Loss on litigation settlement
Non-cash interest expense
Investment gains, net
Discontinued operations
Changes in:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other

$ 151.3

June 27,
2003

June 28,
2002

$182.1

$ 65.4

101.7
25.6
—
—
—
—

50.4
—
18.5
3.0
(3.4)
—

45.8
—
—
5.7
(4.4)
(12.2)

(66.5)
(41.9)
(9.4)
54.3
(26.8)
1.7

(25.1)
(24.4)
(0.3)
57.8
14.8
4.5

(90.5)
5.4
0.9
80.0
(14.0)
0.7

190.0

277.9

82.8

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures, net
Asset acquisition and other investment activities

(131.7)
(94.8)

(61.9)
3.4

(47.7)
9.9

Net cash used for investing activities

(226.5)

(58.5)

(37.8)

23.9
(16.0)
—
13.8
(0.6)
—

44.3
—
(88.3)
—
—
(5.9)

10.1
—
(17.6)
—
—
0.4

21.1
—

(49.9)
—

(7.1)
18.2

(15.4)
393.2

169.5
223.7

56.1
167.6

$ 377.8

$393.2

$223.7

$
$

3.1
1.3

$
$

3.5
—

$
$

$ 18.5
$
—

$
$

—
0.2

$ —
$ 13.6

Net cash provided by continuing operations

Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of common stock under employee plans
Repurchase of common stock
Debenture redemptions and extinguishments
Net proceeds from long-term debt
Principal payments under capital lease obligations
Other subsidiary financing activity
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities
Net cash provided by discontinued operations
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for income taxes
Cash paid during the period for interest
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Equipment additions funded by capital lease obligations
Common stock issued for extinguishment of convertible debentures

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1.

Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Western Digital Corporation (“Western Digital” or the “Company”) has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States and has adopted accounting policies and practices which are generally accepted in the industry in which it
operates. Following are the Company’s significant accounting policies:

Fiscal Year
The Company has a 52 or 53-week fiscal year. The 2004, 2003 and 2002 fiscal years ended on July 2, June 27 and June 28 respectively. The year ended
July 2, 2004 consisted of 53 weeks and the years ended June 27, 2003 and June 28, 2002 consisted of 52 weeks each. All references to years relate to fiscal years
unless otherwise noted.

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The accounts of foreign subsidiaries have been remeasured using the U.S. dollar as the functional currency. As
such, foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from remeasurement of these accounts are reflected in the results of operations. These foreign exchange gains and
losses were immaterial to the consolidated financial statements. Monetary and nonmonetary asset and liability accounts have been remeasured using the exchange
rate in effect at each year-end and using historical rates, respectively. Income statement accounts have been remeasured using average monthly exchange rates.

Cash Equivalents
The Company’s cash equivalents represent highly liquid investments, primarily money market funds and commercial paper, with original maturities of three
months or less.

Concentration of Credit Risk
The Company designs, develops, manufactures and markets hard disk drives to personal computer manufacturers, resellers and retailers throughout the
world. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and generally requires no collateral. The Company maintains
reserves for potential credit losses, and such losses have historically been within management’s expectations. At any given point in time, the total amount
outstanding from any one of a number of our customers may be individually significant to our financial results. At July 2, 2004 and June 27, 2003, the Company
had reserves for potential credit losses of $6.1 million and $5.2 million, respectively. The Company also has cash equivalent policies that limit the amount of
credit exposure to any one financial institution or investment instrument and require that investments be made only with financial institutions or in investment
instruments evaluated as highly credit-worthy.

Inventory Valuation
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is on a first-in, first-out basis for raw materials and is computed on a currently
adjusted standard basis (which approximates first-in, first-out) for work in process and finished goods.

Property and Equipment
The cost of property and equipment is depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. The majority of the Company’s property and
equipment is being depreciated over periods of three and five years. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis. Leasehold improvements are amortized
over the lesser of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the related lease terms.
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Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” (“SAB 101”).
Under SAB 101 revenue is recognized when the title and risk of loss have passed to the customer, there is persuasive evidence of arrangement, delivery has
occurred, or services have been rendered, the sales price is determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenue is recognized at the time of shipment
for the Company’s original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) customers, and at the time of delivery for its reseller customers.
In accordance with standard industry practice, the Company has agreements with resellers that provide price protection for inventories held by the resellers at
the time of published list price reductions. In addition, the Company may have agreements with resellers that provide for stock rotation on slow-moving items and
other incentive programs. Either party may terminate these agreements upon written notice. In the event of termination, the Company may be obligated to
repurchase a certain portion of the resellers’ inventory. The Company records a reduction to revenue for estimated price protection and other programs in effect
until the resellers sell such inventory to their customers. Adjustments are based on anticipated price decreases during the reseller holding period, estimated
amounts to be reimbursed to qualifying customers, as well as historical pricing information. If end-market demand for hard disk drives declines significantly, the
Company may have to increase sell-through incentive payments to resellers, resulting in an increase in price protection allowances, which could adversely impact
operating results. Net revenue recognized on sales to resellers was approximately $1.5 billion, $1.3 billion and $1.0 billion for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Repurchases of reseller inventory were not material in 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Warranty
The Company records an accrual for estimated warranty costs as products are sold. Warranty covers costs of repair or replacement of the hard disk drive over
the warranty period, which ranges from one to five years and is recorded in the accompanying balance sheet as current or long-term based upon when the
expenditure is expected to occur. The Company has comprehensive processes with which to estimate accruals for warranty, which include specific detail on hard
disk drives in the field by product type, historical field return rates and costs to repair. Although the Company believes that it has the continued ability to
reasonably estimate warranty reserves, unforeseeable changes could cause a material change in the Company’s warranty accrual estimate. Such a change would
be recorded in the period in which the change was identified.

Advertising Expense
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Selling, general and administrative expenses of the Company include advertising costs of $1.5 million,
$3.4 million and $6.0 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which provides that deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized for
temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities and expected benefits of utilizing net
operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards. The Company records a valuation allowance where it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. The impact on deferred taxes of changes in tax rates and laws, if any, are applied to the years during which temporary differences are expected to be
settled and reflected in the consolidated financial statements in the period of enactment.

Per Share Information
The Company computes basic income per share using the net income and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted income per share is computed using the net income and the weighted average number of common shares and dilutive potential common shares
outstanding during the period. Dilutive
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potential common shares include outstanding employee stock options, employee stock purchase plan shares and restricted stock awards.
For the years ended July 2, 2004, June 27, 2003 and June 28, 2002, 14.7 million, 19.9 million and 24.7 million shares, respectively, relating to the possible
exercise of outstanding stock options were not included in the computation of diluted income per share. Also, for the year ended June 28, 2002 an additional
2.9 million shares, issuable upon conversion of the convertible debentures, were excluded from the computation of diluted income per share. The effects of these
items were not included in the computation of diluted income per share as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Stock-Based Compensation
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), establishes the financial accounting and
reporting standards for stock-based compensation plans. As permitted by SFAS 123, the Company elected to continue accounting for stock-based employee
compensation plans in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related interpretations
(“APB Opinion No. 25”) and to follow the pro forma net income, pro forma earnings per share, and stock-based compensation plan disclosure requirements set
forth in SFAS 123. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for each of the past three fiscal years and illustrates the
effect on net income and earnings per share as if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-based employee
compensation.

Year Ended
July 2,
2004

June 27,
2003

June 28,
2002

(in millions,
except per share amounts)

Net income
As reported
Stock-based employee compensation included in reported earnings
Stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair-value
based methods for all awards
Pro forma net income
Basic income per share:
As reported
Pro forma
Diluted income per share:
As reported
Pro forma

$151.3
1.3
(28.0)

$182.1
2.0
(27.3)

$ 65.4
1.6
(24.7)

$124.6

$156.8

$ 42.3

$ 0.74

$ 0.93

$ 0.35

$ 0.61

$ 0.80

$ 0.22

$ 0.70

$ 0.89

$ 0.34

$ 0.58

$ 0.77

$ 0.22

The pro forma earnings per share information is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Black-Scholes model was developed for use in
estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. This model also requires the input of highly subjective
assumptions including the expected stock price volatility and expected period until options are exercised (see Note 7 for additional information on fair value
disclosures). The pro forma impact of applying SFAS 123 at July 2, 2004 is not necessarily representative of future periods.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value for all periods presented because of the short-term maturity of these financial
instruments. The carrying amounts of all other financial instruments in the consolidated balance sheets approximate fair values.

Other Comprehensive Income
Other comprehensive income refers to revenue, expenses, gains and losses that are recorded as an element of shareholders’ equity but are excluded from net
income. The Company’s other comprehensive income is comprised of unrealized gains and losses on foreign currency contracts and marketable securities
categorized as “available for sale” under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115 “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities.”

Foreign Exchange Contracts
Although the majority of the Company’s transactions are in U.S. Dollars, some transactions are based in various foreign currencies. The Company purchases
short-term, forward exchange contracts to hedge the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on certain underlying assets, liabilities and commitments for
operating expenses and product costs denominated in foreign currencies. The contracts have maturity dates that do not exceed six months. The Company does not
purchase short-term forward exchange contracts for trading purposes.
The Company applies the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” (“SFAS 133”), as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain
Hedging Activities, an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133” and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149 “Amendment of Statement 133 on
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS 133, as amended, establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments embedded in
other contracts and for hedging activities. The Company had outstanding forward exchange contracts with commercial banks for the Thai Baht, British Pound
Sterling and Euro with values of $173.7 million and $35.8 million at July 2, 2004 and June 27, 2003, respectively. Changes in fair value on these contracts were
not material to the consolidated financial statements for all years presented.

Use of Estimates
Company management has made estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of certain assets and liabilities in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles. These estimates and assumptions have been applied using methodologies, which are consistent throughout the periods presented. However,
actual results could differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications
Certain prior years’ amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
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Note 2.

Supplemental Financial Statement Data (in millions)

2004

Net Interest and Other Income
Interest income
Interest and other expense
Gain (losses) on investments, net
Other gains(1)
Net interest and other income
Inventories
Finished goods
Work in process
Raw materials and component parts

Property and Equipment
Land and buildings
Machinery and equipment
Machinery and equipment recorded under capital leases
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

Net property and equipment

(1)

2002

$

2.4
(2.1)
—
—

$

3.8
(5.3)
3.1
1.3

$ 4.1
(8.1)
(4.2)
9.6

$

0.3

$

2.9

$ 1.4

$ 70.6
51.6
26.4

$ 66.4
19.6
11.8

$ 148.6

$ 97.8

$ 73.0
521.2
18.5
7.0
28.8

$ 59.4
342.4
—
6.8
11.6

648.5
(373.8)

Accumulated depreciation and amortization

2003

$ 274.7

420.2
(298.1)
$ 122.1

During 2002, the Company sold its creditor position and investments in Komag to an unrelated party for $9.0 million.

Note 3.

Read-Rite Asset Acquisition

In June 2003, Read-Rite Corporation (“Read-Rite”), then one of the Company’s suppliers of magnetic recording heads, commenced voluntary Chapter 7
bankruptcy proceedings. On July 31, 2003, Western Digital purchased substantially all of the assets of Read-Rite, including its wafer fabrication equipment in
Fremont, California and manufacturing facility in Bang Pa-In, Thailand. The cost of the acquisition was $172.0 million and consisted of cash consideration of
$94.8 million, assumed debt obligations of the Thailand operations of approximately $60.2 million and direct costs of the acquisition and other miscellaneous
assumed obligations totaling $17.0 million. The Company accounted for this transaction as an asset acquisition. The estimated fair value of the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are as follows:

Current assets
Property and equipment
Purchased technology
In-process research and development

$ 17.4
90.2
38.8
25.6
$172.0
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As of the date of the acquisition, Read-Rite had two in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) projects: 120 gigabyte per platter and 160 gigabyte per
platter products. The fair value allocated to these projects as part of the acquisition was $17.8 million and $7.8 million, respectively. The multi-period excess
earnings method, a discounted cash flow income approach, was used to determine the value allocated to the IPR&D. The rate utilized to discount the cash flows
to their present values was based on the weighted average cost of capital and an additional risk premium based on an analysis of the technology and the IPR&D
stages of completion. Based on these factors, 27% was used as the annual discount rate. These acquired IPR&D projects had not reached technological feasibility
and had no alternative future use. Accordingly, the Company recorded the $25.6 million as a charge to research and development expense at the time of the
acquisition.
Approximately $38.8 million of the purchase price related to purchased technology, which is being amortized over a weighted average period of three years.
During the fiscal year ended July 2, 2004, the Company recorded $13.2 million of amortization expense related to these intangible assets. Amortization expense is
estimated to be $14.4 million, $4.4 million, $3.4 million and $3.4 million for fiscal years 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

Note 4.

Short-term Borrowings and Long-term Debt

Short-term borrowings and long-term debt consisted of the following (in millions):

Term loan
Capital lease obligations (See Note 5)

$ 50.0
17.9

Total
Less amounts due in one year

67.9
(15.2)
$ 52.7

Line of Credit
On September 19, 2003, the Company entered into a new $125 million five-year credit facility (“Senior Credit Facility”) replacing the facility that matured
on September 20, 2003. The new Senior Credit Facility provides up to $75 million in revolving credit (subject to outstanding letters of credit and a borrowing
base calculation) and a term loan of $50 million. Both the term loan and revolving credit facility mature on September 19, 2008, and are secured by the
Company’s accounts receivable, inventory, 65% of its stock in its foreign subsidiaries and other assets. At the option of the Company, borrowings bear interest at
either LIBOR (with option periods of one to three months) or a base rate, plus a margin. The Senior Credit Facility requires the Company to maintain certain
levels of income, prohibits the payment of cash dividends on common stock, and contains a number of other covenants. The Company was in compliance with all
such covenants at July 2, 2004. The $50 million term loan was funded on September 22, 2003 and requires quarterly principal payments of $3 million beginning
in October 2004. The Company used the proceeds from the term loan to repay obligations incurred as a result of the Read-Rite asset acquisition (see Note 3). At
July 2, 2004 there were no borrowings under the revolving credit facility and $71 million was available.
Convertible Debentures
During 2003, the Company redeemed its remaining outstanding 5.25% zero coupon convertible subordinated debentures due February 18, 2018 (the
“Debentures”) and paid $88.3 million in cash and issued 0.1 million shares of common stock. The book value of the redeemed Debentures was $88.6 million, and
the aggregate principal amount at maturity was $193.5 million. During 2002, the Company paid $17.6 million in cash and issued 2.6 million shares of common
stock in exchange for Debentures with a book value of $31.6 million and an aggregate principal amount at maturity of $72.4 million. The 2002 redemptions were
private, individually negotiated transactions with certain institutional investors.
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Note 5.

Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments
The Company leases certain facilities and equipment under long-term, non-cancelable operating and capital leases. The Company’s operating leases consist
of leased property and equipment that expire at various dates through 2012. Rental expense under these operating leases, including month-to-month rentals, was
$14.9 million, $11.4 million and $11.7 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Company’s capital leases consist of leased equipment. These leases have
maturity dates through June 30, 2007 and interest rates averaging 4.6%. Future minimum lease payments under operating and capital leases that have initial or
remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year at July 2, 2004 are as follows (in millions):

Operating

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter
Total future minimum payments

Capital

$ 9.8
10.5
8.4
7.8
7.2
13.7

$ 6.6
6.6
6.0
—
—
—

$57.4

$19.2

Less: interest on capital leases

(1.3)

Total principal payable on capital leases

$17.9

Product Warranty Liability
The Company records a provision for estimated warranty costs as products are sold to cover the cost of repair or replacement of the hard disk drive during
the warranty period. This provision is based on estimated future returns within the warranty period and costs to repair, using historical field return rates by
product type and current average repair cost. Changes in the warranty provision were as follows (in millions):

2004

2003

Beginning balance
Charges to operations
Utilization
Changes in liability related to pre-existing warranties

$ 52.9
60.6
(55.1)
(1.6)

$ 47.4
54.6
(53.8)
4.7

Ending balance

$ 56.8

$ 52.9

The warranty provision includes amounts classified in non-current liabilities of $10.4 million at July 2, 2004 and $11.9 million at June 27, 2003.
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Note 6.

Legal Proceedings

On August 22, 2003, the Company and Cirrus Logic, Inc. reached a settlement of litigation filed in California Superior Court for the County of Orange
involving alleged breach of contract and other claims resulting from Cirrus’ role as a strategic supplier of read channel devices for the Company’s hard disk
drives. The parties subsequently executed a formal written settlement agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, on October 16, 2003, the Company
made a one-time payment to Cirrus of $45.0 million in exchange for a mutual release of claims. The letter of credit previously posted by the Company also has
been released. Western Digital had previously recorded an obligation totaling approximately $26.5 million related to the disputed payables. The difference of
approximately $18.5 million between the settlement amount and the amount previously recorded was included in cost of sales for the fourth quarter and year
ended June 27, 2003. Formal dismissals of claims were entered with the Court in this matter on October 22, 2003.
In June 1994, Papst Licensing (“Papst”) brought suit against the Company in the United States District Court for the Central District of California, alleging
infringement by the Company of five hard disk drive motor patents owned by Papst. In December 1994, Papst dismissed its case without prejudice. In July 2002,
Papst filed a new complaint against the Company and several other defendants. The suit alleges infringement by the Company of seventeen of Papst’s patents
related to hard disk drive motors that the Company purchased from motor vendors. Papst is seeking an injunction and damages. The Company filed an answer on
September 4, 2002, denying Papst’s complaint. On December 11, 2002, the lawsuit was transferred to the United States District Court for the Eastern District of
Louisiana and included in the consolidated pre-trial proceedings occurring there. The lawsuit was stayed pending the outcome of certain other related litigation.
The Company believes that the outcome of this matter will not have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial statements. The Company intends to
vigorously defend the suit.
In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to legal proceedings, lawsuits and other claims. Although the ultimate aggregate amount of
monetary liability or financial impact with respect to these matters, including the matter described in the preceding paragraph, is subject to many uncertainties and
is therefore not predictable with assurance, management believes that any monetary liability or financial impact to the Company from these matters, individually
and in the aggregate, beyond that provided at July 2, 2004, would not be material to the Company’s financial condition. However, there can be no assurance with
respect to such result, and monetary liability or financial impact to the Company from these legal proceedings, lawsuits and other claims could differ materially
from those projected.
Note 7.

Shareholders’ Equity

Stock Option Plans
Western Digital’s Employee Stock Option Plan (“Employee Plan”) is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors
(“Compensation Committee”), which determines the vesting provisions, the form of payment for the shares and all other terms of the options. Terms of the
Employee Plan require that the exercise price of options be not less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. Options granted
generally vest 25% one year from the date of grant and in twelve quarterly increments thereafter and have a ten-year term. As of July 2, 2004, options to
purchase 9.1 million shares of common stock were exercisable and 3.9 million shares were available for grant under this plan. Pursuant to the terms of the
Employee Plan, participants are permitted to utilize previously purchased common stock as consideration to purchase additional common stock upon exercise of
options or to exercise on a cashless basis through the Company-designated broker.
The Company has a Broad-Based Stock Incentive Plan (the “Broad-Based Plan”) under which options to purchase shares of common stock and stock awards
may be granted to employees of the Company and others. This plan is intended to qualify as “broadly-based” under the New York Stock Exchange shareholder
approval policy. The Compensation Committee determines the vesting provisions and other terms of the options and stock. To date, the options granted vest either
one-year, two years or four years from the date of grant. As of July 2, 2004, options to purchase 6.0 million shares
47

Table of Contents
WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
of common stock were exercisable and 0.9 million shares were available for grant as options or stock awards under this plan.
Under the Broad-Based Plan, the Company issued to certain employees 0.1 million and 0.2 million (net of cancellations) shares of restricted stock during
2004 and 2002, respectively. No shares of restricted stock were issued in 2003. The stock issued in 2004 vests on the third, fourth, and fifth anniversary dates of
the grant and the stock issued in 2002 vests on the second and third anniversary dates of the grant, provided that the recipient is still employed by the Company.
The aggregate market value (net of cancellations) of the restricted stock at the dates of issuance was $1.3 million and $1.1 million for 2004 and 2002,
respectively. These amounts have been recorded as deferred compensation, a separate component of shareholders’ equity, and are being amortized over the
corresponding vesting periods.
The Company has a Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors (“Director Plan”) and has reserved 2.6 million shares for issuance thereunder. The
Director Plan provides for initial option grants to new directors of 75,000 shares per director and additional grants of options to purchase 10,000 shares of
common stock per director each year upon their reelection as a director at the annual shareholders’ meeting. Terms of the Director Plan require that options have a
ten-year term and that the exercise price of options be not less than the fair market value at the date of grant. Options granted generally vest 25% one year from
the date of grant and in twelve quarterly increments thereafter and have a ten-year term. As of July 2, 2004, options to purchase 0.7 million shares of common
stock were exercisable and 0.8 million shares were available for grant under this plan.
The following table summarizes activity under the Employee, Broad-Based and Director Plans (in millions, except per share amounts):

Number
of Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
Per Share

Options outstanding at June 29, 2001
Granted
Exercised
Canceled or expired

23.4
8.3
(1.3)
(1.3)

$ 7.69
3.13
3.50
8.46

Options outstanding at June 28, 2002
Granted
Exercised
Canceled or expired

29.1
5.6
(8.8)
(0.9)

6.54
4.61
4.19
7.69

Options outstanding at June 27, 2003
Granted
Exercised
Canceled or expired

25.0
4.4
(3.0)
(1.3)

6.89
11.70
5.08
10.94

Options outstanding at July 2, 2004.

25.1

7.75
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The following tables summarizes information about options outstanding and exercisable under the Employee, Broad-Based and Director Plans at July 2, 2004
(in millions, except per share amounts):

Options Outstanding

Range of
Exercise Prices

$

Number
of Shares

Weighted Average
Contractual Life
(in years)

Options Exercisable

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Number
of Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

2.10
2.21 – 3.50
3.63 – 3.85
3.88 – 4.87
4.94 – 5.70
5.72 – 6.00
6.05 – 8.58
8.63 – 11.88
11.89 – 12.88
13.00 – 48.50

2.8
1.8
3.2
2.7
0.6
2.9
2.8
2.8
3.2
2.3

7.24
4.74
8.16
6.05
6.09
6.27
5.96
4.93
7.18
5.32

$ 2.10
3.12
3.84
4.43
5.23
5.98
7.39
10.47
12.73
21.01

1.6
1.6
1.3
2.3
0.4
2.5
1.5
1.9
1.2
1.5

$ 2.10
3.14
3.84
4.44
5.23
5.99
7.01
10.63
12.64
25.25

Total

25.1

6.33

7.75

15.8

7.82

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Company has an employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”) that operates in accordance with Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code whereby eligible
employees may authorize payroll deductions of up to 10% of their salary to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at 85% of the fair market value of
common stock on the date of grant or the exercise date, whichever is less. Approximately 5.4 million shares of common stock remain reserved for issuance under
this plan. Approximately 2.2 million, 2.1 million and 1.3 million shares were issued under this plan during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Stock Reserved for Issuance
The following table summarizes all shares of common stock reserved for issuance at July 2, 2004 (in millions):

Number
of Shares

Issuable in connection with:
Exercise of stock options, including options available for grant
Employee stock purchase plan

30.7
5.4
36.1

Fair Value Disclosures
Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by SFAS 123. This information is required to be determined as if the
Company had accounted for its stock options (including shares issued under the Stock Option Plans and the ESPP, collectively called “options”) granted
subsequent to July 1, 1995, under the fair value method of that statement (see Note 1 for further information on pro forma net income and earnings per share).
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The fair value of options granted in 2004, 2003 and 2002 reported below has been estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:

Stock Option Plans

Option life (in years)
Risk-free interest rate
Stock price volatility
Dividend yield

ESPP

2004

2003

2002

2004

2003

2002

3.94
1.65%
0.75
—

3.75
3.31%
0.88
—

3.00
3.37%
0.88
—

1.25
1.09%
0.77
—

1.25
1.93%
0.88
—

2.00
2.90%
0.88
—

The following is a summary of the per share weighted average fair value of stock options granted in the years listed below:

Options granted under the Stock Option Plans
Shares granted under the ESPP

2004

2003

2002

$6.56
$4.73

$2.89
$2.64

$1.94
$2.90

Stock Purchase Rights
In 1989, the Company implemented a plan to protect shareholders’ rights in the event of a proposed takeover of the Company. Under the plan, each share of
the Company’s outstanding common stock carried one Right to Purchase Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (the “Right”). The Right enabled the
holder, under certain circumstances, to purchase common stock of Western Digital or of an acquiring company at a substantially discounted price ten days after a
person or group publicly announces it has acquired or has tendered an offer for 15% or more of the Company’s outstanding common stock. On September 10,
1998 the Company’s Board of Directors approved the adoption of a new Rights plan to replace the previous plan, which expired in September 1998. The Rights
under the 1998 plan were similar to the rights under the 1989 plan except they were redeemable by the Company at $.01 per Right and expired in 2008. In
connection with the establishment of a holding company structure on April 6, 2001, the Company terminated the Rights under the 1998 plan and adopted a new
Rights plan. The 2001 plan is similar to the terminated 1998 plan, except that the exercise price was reduced from $150.00 to $50.00 per share, and the expiration
date for the 2001 Rights plan was extended to April 2011.

Note 8.

The Western Digital Corporation 401(k) Plan

Effective July 1, 1991, the Company adopted the Western Digital Corporation 401(k) Plan (the “Plan”) formerly known as the Western Digital Corporation
Retirement Savings and Profit Sharing Plan. The Plan covers substantially all domestic employees, subject to certain eligibility requirements. The Company may
make annual contributions to the 401(k) plan at the discretion of the Board of Directors. For 2004, 2003 and 2002 the Company made contributions to the 401(k)
plan of $2.9 million, $1.8 million and $1.4 million, respectively.

Note 9.

Business Segment, International Operations and Major Customers

Segment Information
As of July 2, 2004, the Company operated in one segment, the hard disk drive business. The Company’s new business ventures were discontinued in 2002
(see Note 10).
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International Operations
The Company’s operations outside the United States include manufacturing facilities in Malaysia and Thailand as well as sales offices throughout Europe,
Asia and the Middle East. The following table summarizes the Company’s operations by geographic areas for the past three years.

2004

2003

2002

(in millions)

Revenue from external customers(1):
Americas
Europe, Africa and the Middle East
Asia
Total
Long-lived assets:
Americas
Europe, Africa and the Middle East
Asia
Total

(1)

$1,261
$ 901
$ 885

$1,310
$ 810
$ 599

$1,160
$ 703
$ 288

$3,047

$2,719

$2,151

$ 121
$ —
$ 181

$ 16
$ —
$ 106

$
$
$

$ 302

$ 122

$ 108

18
—
90

Revenue is attributed to geographic regions based on location of customer.
Major Customers

During 2004, sales to Dell accounted for 14% of the Company’s revenue. During 2003, sales to Dell and Hewlett-Packard (including sales to Compaq
Computer after its merger with Hewlett-Packard in 2002) accounted for 20% and 13% of revenue, respectively. During 2002, sales to Dell and Hewlett-Packard
(including sales to Compaq computer prior to its merger with Hewlett-Packard in 2002) accounted for 15% and 13% of revenue, respectively.

Note 10.

Discontinued Operations

The Company acquired Connex, Inc. (“Connex”), a storage systems and solutions startup, in 1999. SANavigator, Inc. (“SANavigator”) was formed as a
subsidiary of Connex in 2001 and developed and marketed storage area network management software.
During 2000, the Company formed Keen Personal Media, Inc. (“Keen PM”), to develop and sell interactive personal video recorder and set-top box software,
services and hardware for broadband television content management and commerce.
In 2002, the Company discontinued Connex, SANavigator and Keen. The disposals have been accounted for as discontinued operations and, accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements for all periods presented have been reclassified. In August 2001, substantially all of the operating assets of Connex were sold to
Quantum Corporation for cash proceeds of $11.0 million, and in September 2001 substantially all of the operating assets of SANavigator were sold to McData
Corporation for cash proceeds of $29.8 million. These transactions generated a gain of $24.5 million, net of costs incurred from the measurement date of July 1,
2001 through the end of the period to shutdown the businesses.
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Note 11.

Income Taxes

The domestic and international components of income (loss) before income taxes are as follows (in millions):

United States
International
Income before income taxes

2004

2003

2002

$ (44.2)
199.4

$ 64.9
124.8

$ (56.5)
120.8

$155.2

$189.7

$ 64.3

The components of the income tax expense (benefit) are as follows (in millions):

2004

2003

2002

Current
United States
International
State

$1.8
1.8
0.3

$4.0
3.4
0.2

$(3.1)
1.7
0.3

Income tax expense (benefit)

$3.9

$7.6

$(1.1)

The tax benefits associated with employee exercises of non-qualified stock options, disqualifying dispositions of stock acquired with incentive stock options,
and disqualifying dispositions of stock acquired under the employee stock purchase plan generally reduce taxes currently payable. However, no tax benefits were
recorded to additional paid-in capital in 2004, 2003 and 2002 because their realization was not believed to be more likely than not. Consequently, a valuation
allowance was recorded against the entire benefit. Benefits which may be recognized in the future related to stock option deductions are approximately
$43.6 million.
During 2002, the company received a refund of U.S. federal income taxes of $3.1 million. This refund was for alternative minimum taxes paid in prior years
and was made in accordance with legislation enacted during 2002.
Temporary differences and carryforwards, which give rise to a significant portion of deferred tax assets and liabilities at July 2, 2004 and June 27, 2003 are as
follows (in millions):

Deferred tax assets:
NOL carryforward
Business credit carryforward
Reserves and accrued expenses not currently deductible
All other

2004

2003

$ 240.5
47.5
68.3
18.5

$ 252.5
40.4
66.2
2.1

374.8
(374.8)

Valuation allowance
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Unremitted income of foreign subsidiaries
Total deferred tax liabilities
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361.2
(361.2)

$

—

$

—

$

9.3

$

9.3

$

9.3

$

9.3
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Reserves and accrued expenses not currently deductible include the following (in millions):

Sales related reserves and adjustments
Accrued compensation and benefits
Inventory reserves and adjustments
Other accrued liabilities
Total deferred tax assets

2004

2003

$42.4
10.8
1.9
13.2

$43.3
10.9
1.4
10.6

$68.3

$66.2

Remaining net undistributed earnings from foreign subsidiaries at July 2, 2004 on which no U.S. tax has been provided, amounted to approximately
$401.3 million. The net undistributed earnings are intended to finance local operating requirements. Accordingly, an additional United States tax provision has not
been made on these earnings.
The Company determines deferred taxes for each of its tax-paying subsidiaries within each tax jurisdiction. The deferred tax assets indicated above are
attributable primarily to tax jurisdictions where a history of earnings has not been established. The taxable earnings in these tax jurisdictions are subject to
volatility. Therefore, the Company believes a valuation allowance is needed to reduce the deferred tax asset to an amount that is more likely than not to be
realized.
Reconciliation of the United States federal statutory rate to the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows:

2004

U.S. Federal statutory rate
State income taxes, net
Tax rate differential on international income
Tax effect of repatriation
Utilization of NOL carryforward
Change in valuation allowance
Other
Effective tax rate

2003

35.0%
0.2
(43.8)
0.0
0.0
8.7
2.4

35.0%
0.1
(21.9)
14.7
(23.5)
(4.2)
3.8

2.5%

4.0%

2002

35.0%
0.5
(63.1)
272.2
(218.2)
(28.0)
(0.2)
(1.8)%

Certain income of selected subsidiaries is taxed at substantially lower income tax rates as compared to local statutory rates. The lower rates reduced income
taxes and improved net income by $54.9 million ($0.25 per diluted share), $33.6 million ($0.16 per diluted share) and $29.3 million ($0.15 per diluted share) in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These lower rates are in effect in Thailand through 2011 and in Malaysia through 2014.
At July 2, 2004, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $603.0 million and $490.5 million, respectively. These
loss carryforwards are available to offset future federal and state taxable income through 2022 and 2014, respectively. In addition, the Company had various
federal and state tax credit carryforwards of approximately $47.5 million. Approximately $23.5 million of these credit carryforwards are available to offset future
taxable income through 2024, and the remaining $24.0 million are available indefinitely.
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Note 12.

Quarterly Results of Operations (unaudited)
First(1)

Second

Third

Fourth(2)

(in millions, except per share amounts)

2004
Revenue, net
Gross margin
Operating income
Net income
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
2003
Revenue, net
Gross margin
Operating income
Net income
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

$714.2
96.2
4.9
5.0
$ 0.02

$834.8
141.8
71.3
68.8
$ 0.33

$748.9
122.6
48.9
47.9
$ 0.23

$748.8
100.9
29.8
29.6
$ 0.14

$ 0.02

$ 0.32

$ 0.22

$ 0.14

$582.9
83.6
25.3
22.2
$ 0.12

$749.5
144.1
76.0
74.4
$ 0.38

$705.8
122.0
57.1
54.5
$ 0.28

$680.3
93.2
28.4
31.0
$ 0.16

$ 0.11

$ 0.36

$ 0.26

$ 0.15

(1)

The first quarter of 2004 includes $50.4 million of start-up expenses and one-time charges related to the Read-Rite asset acquisition.

(2)

The fourth quarter of 2003 includes an $18.5 million loss on the settlement of the Cirrus litigation recorded in cost of sales and a $3 million gain on the sale
of investments recorded in other income.
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Three years ended July 2, 2004
(in millions)
Allowance for
Doubtful
Accounts

Accrued
Warranty(1)

Balance at June 29, 2001
Charges to operations
Deductions

$13.3
3.5
(9.2)

$ 52.5
46.5
(51.6)

Balance at June 28, 2002
Charges to operations
Deductions

7.6
2.9
(5.3)

47.4
59.3
(53.8)

Balance at June 27, 2003
Charges to operations
Deductions

5.2
1.2
(0.3)

52.9
59.0
(55.1)

Balance at July 2, 2004.

(1)

$ 6.1

$ 56.8

Accrued warranty includes amounts classified in non-current liabilities of $10.4 million at July 2, 2004, $11.9 million at June 27, 2003 and $20.5 million at
June 28, 2002.
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Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s reports
filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures,
management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the
desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(b), the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management,
including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on the foregoing, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that the Company would meet its
disclosure obligations.
There has been no change in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting during the Company’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Item 9B.

Other Information

None.
PART III

Item 10.

Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

There is incorporated herein by reference the information required by this Item included in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended July 2, 2004, except
that the information required by this Item 10 concerning executive officers is set forth in Part I of this report under “Item 1. Business — Executive Officers of the
Registrant.”

Item 11.

Executive Compensation

There is incorporated herein by reference the information required by this Item included in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended July 2, 2004.

Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

There is incorporated herein by reference the information required by this Item included in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended July 2, 2004.
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Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

There is incorporated herein by reference the information, if any, required by this Item included in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended July 2,
2004.

Item 14.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

There is incorporated herein by reference the information required by this Item included in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended July 2, 2004.
PART IV

Item 15.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Documents filed as a part of this Report:
(1) Index to Financial Statements
The financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this document are filed as part of this Report.
(2) Financial Statement Schedules
The financial statement schedule included in Part II, Item 8 of this document is filed as part of this Report.
All other schedules are omitted as the required information is inapplicable or the information is presented in the consolidated financial statements or related
Notes.
Separate financial statements of the Company have been omitted as the Company is primarily an operating company and its subsidiaries are wholly or
majority owned and do not have minority equity interests and/or indebtedness to any person other than the Company in amounts which together exceed 5% of the
total consolidated assets as shown by the most recent year-end consolidated balance sheet.
(3) Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed herewith or are incorporated by reference, as specified below, from exhibits previously filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The Company shall furnish copies of exhibits for a reasonable fee (covering the expense of furnishing copies) upon written request to the
Company’s Secretary at the Company’s principal executive offices.

Exhibit
Number

2.1

3.1
3.2
3.3
4.1

4.2

Description

Asset Purchase Agreement between Chapter 7 Trustee for the Bankruptcy Estate of Read-Rite Corporation and RR (US) Acquisition
Corporation, dated July 24, 2003, including Option Agreements to purchase all of the outstanding capital stock of Read-Rite
International, Sunward Technologies International, and Read Rite Holding Company(16)
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Western Digital Corporation, filed with the office of the Secretary of State of the
State of Delaware on April 6, 2001(7)
Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Western Digital Corporation, filed with the office of the Secretary of State of
the State of Delaware on January 8, 2002(15)
Amended and Restated By-laws of Western Digital Corporation, adopted as of May 19, 2004†
Rights Agreement between Western Digital Corporation and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agent, dated as of
April 6, 2001, which includes as Exhibit A thereto the Form of Right Certificate to be distributed to holders of Rights after the
Distribution Date (as that term is defined in the Rights Agreement)(7)
Form of Common Stock Certificate(1)
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Exhibit
Number

4.3
10.1
10.1.1
10.2
10.2.1
10.3
10.3.1
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.10.1
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.14.1
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23

Description

Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Western Digital Corporation, dated April 6, 2001(7)
Western Digital Corporation Amended and Restated Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended on November 5, 1998(3)*
First Amendment to the Western Digital Corporation Employee Stock Option Plan, dated April 6, 2001(8)*
Western Digital Corporation Broad-Based Stock Incentive Plan(5)*
First Amendment to the Western Digital Corporation Broad-Based Stock Incentive Plan, dated April 6, 2001(8)*
Western Digital Corporation Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors, effective as of May 25, 2000(8)*
First Amendment to the Western Digital Corporation Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors, dated
April 6, 2001(8)*
Western Digital Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (amended as of November 20, 2003)(19)*
Amended and Restated Western Digital Corporation Non-Employee Directors Stock-For-Fees Plan, effective as of November 14,
2002(13)*
Western Digital Corporation Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Plan, effective March 28, 2003(14)*
Western Digital Corporation Incentive Compensation Plan(9)*
Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan, effective March 28, 2003(14)*
Amended and Restated Executive Bonus Plan, effective March 28, 2003(14)*
Amended and Restated 401(k) Plan, adopted as of March 28, 2002(11)*
First Amendment to Western Digital Corporation 401(k) Plan, effective as of July 1, 2002(13)*
Western Digital Corporation Executive Retention Plan(2)*
Amended and Restated Long-Term Retention Agreement, between Western Digital Corporation and Matthew E. Massengill, effective
as of December 20, 2002(13)*
Amended and Restated Long-Term Retention Agreement, between Western Digital Corporation and Arif Shakeel, effective as of
December 20, 2002(13)*
Western Digital Corporation 1999 Employee Severance Plan for U.S. Employees, effective December 1, 1999(4)*
First Amendment to the Western Digital Corporation 1999 Employee Severance Plan for U.S. Employees, dated April 6, 2001(8)*
Western Digital Corporation Amended and Restated Change of Control Severance Plan, effective March 29, 2001(13)*
Letter agreement, dated October 19, 2001, by and between Western Digital Corporation and D. Scott Mercer(10)*
Letter agreement, dated September 10, 2004, by and between Western Digital Technologies, Inc. and Stephen D. Milligan†*
Form of Indemnity Agreement for Directors of Western Digital Corporation(12)
Form of Indemnity Agreement for Officers of Western Digital Corporation(12)
Sublease, dated as of September 23, 2003, by and between Advanced Logic Research, Inc. and Western Digital Corporation†
Lease by and between Serrano Jack, L.L.C. and Western Digital Corporation, dated May 30, 2000(6)
Standard Industrial/ Commercial Single-Tenant Lease and Addendum No. 1, dated May 1, 2000, between One Morgan, LLC and
Western Digital Corporation(18)
Lease Agreement, dated June 3, 1996, together with First Amendment, between South Bay/ Edenvale Associates and Western Digital
Corporation(18)
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Exhibit
Number

10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28
21
23
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

†
*

§

Description

Single Tenant Industrial Lease Agreement, dated as of August 24, 1992, between Shuwa Investments Corporation and Read-Rite
Corporation, together with Second Amendment to Lease, dated as of May 28, 2002(18)
Supply Agreement for the Fabrication and Purchase of Semiconductor Products, dated June 13, 2002, among Marvell Semiconductor,
Inc., Marvell Asia Pte. Ltd. and Western Digital Technologies, Inc.(14)(17)
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of September 19, 2003, among Western Digital Technologies, Inc., the other credit
parties identified therein, General Electric Capital Corporation and Bank of America, N.A.(20)§
Continuing Guaranty, between Western Digital Corporation and General Electric Capital Corporation, dated as of April 7, 2001(8)
Master Equipment Lease Agreement dated June 24, 2004 between CIT Technologies Corporation, doing business as CIT Systems
Leasing, and Western Digital Technologies, Inc.†
Subsidiaries of Western Digital Corporation†
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm†
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002†
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002†
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002†
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002†

New exhibit filed with this Report.
Compensation plan, contract or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit pursuant to applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment request filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

(1)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 8-B, filed April 13, 1987.

(2)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 10, 1998.

(3)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 8, 1999.

(4)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 14, 2000.

(5)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 15, 2000.

(6)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 28, 2000.

(7)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
April 6, 2001.

(8)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 27, 2001.

(9)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 13, 2001.

(10)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on February 8, 2002.

(11)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 6, 2002.
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(12)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on November 8, 2002.

(13)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on February 7, 2003.

(14)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 9, 2003.

(15)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-107227), as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on July 22, 2003.

(16)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 15, 2003.

(17)

Subject to confidentiality order dated September 5, 2003.

(18)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 23, 2003.

(19)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 7,
2003.

(20)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on November 7, 2003.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
By:

/s/ STEPHEN D. MILLIGAN
Stephen D. Milligan
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Dated: September 13, 2004
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

Title

Date

/s/ MATTHEW E. MASSENGILL

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer)

September 13, 2004

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

September 13, 2004

Vice President and Corporate Controller (Principal
Accounting Officer)

September 13, 2004

Director

September 13, 2004

Director

September 13, 2004

Director

September 13, 2004

Director

September 13, 2004

Director

September 13, 2004

Director

September 13, 2004

Director

September 13, 2004

Director

September 13, 2004

Matthew E. Massengill
/s/ STEPHEN D. MILLIGAN
Stephen D. Milligan
/s/ JOSEPH R. CARRILLO
Joseph R. Carrillo
/s/ PETER D. BEHRENDT
Peter D. Behrendt
/s/ I. M. BOOTH
I. M. Booth
/s/ KATHLEEN A. COTE
Kathleen A. Cote
/s/ HENRY T. DENERO
Henry T. DeNero
/s/ WILLIAM L. KIMSEY
William L. Kimsey
/s/ MICHAEL D. LAMBERT
Michael D. Lambert
/s/ ROGER H. MOORE
Roger H. Moore
/s/ THOMAS E. PARDUN
Thomas E. Pardun
61

Table of Contents
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Exhibit
Number

2.1

3.1
3.2
3.3
4.1

4.2
4.3
10.1
10.1.1
10.2
10.2.1
10.3
10.3.1
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.10.1
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.14.1

Description

Asset Purchase Agreement between Chapter 7 Trustee for the Bankruptcy Estate of Read-Rite Corporation and RR (US) Acquisition
Corporation, dated July 24, 2003, including Option Agreements to purchase all of the outstanding capital stock of Read-Rite
International, Sunward Technologies International, and Read Rite Holding Company(16)
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Western Digital Corporation, filed with the office of the Secretary of State of
the State of Delaware on April 6, 2001(7)
Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Western Digital Corporation, filed with the office of the Secretary of State
of the State of Delaware on January 8, 2002(15)
Amended and Restated By-laws of Western Digital Corporation, adopted as of May 19, 2004†
Rights Agreement between Western Digital Corporation and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agent, dated as of
April 6, 2001, which includes as Exhibit A thereto the Form of Right Certificate to be distributed to holders of Rights after the
Distribution Date (as that term is defined in the Rights Agreement)(7)
Form of Common Stock Certificate(1)
Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Western Digital Corporation, dated April 6, 2001(7)
Western Digital Corporation Amended and Restated Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended on November 5, 1998(3)*
First Amendment to the Western Digital Corporation Employee Stock Option Plan, dated April 6, 2001(8)*
Western Digital Corporation Broad-Based Stock Incentive Plan(5)*
First Amendment to the Western Digital Corporation Broad-Based Stock Incentive Plan, dated April 6, 2001(8)*
Western Digital Corporation Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors, effective as of May 25, 2000(8)*
First Amendment to the Western Digital Corporation Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors, dated
April 6, 2001(8)*
Western Digital Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (amended as of November 20, 2003)(19)*
Amended and Restated Western Digital Corporation Non-Employee Directors Stock-For-Fees Plan, effective as of November 14,
2002(13)*
Western Digital Corporation Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Plan, effective March 28, 2003(14)*
Western Digital Corporation Incentive Compensation Plan(9)*
Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan, effective March 28, 2003(14)*
Amended and Restated Executive Bonus Plan, effective March 28, 2003(14)*
Amended and Restated 401(k) Plan, adopted as of March 28, 2002(11)*
First Amendment to Western Digital Corporation 401(k) Plan, effective as of July 1, 2002(13)*
Western Digital Corporation Executive Retention Plan(2)*
Amended and Restated Long-Term Retention Agreement, between Western Digital Corporation and Matthew E. Massengill, effective
as of December 20, 2002(13)*
Amended and Restated Long-Term Retention Agreement, between Western Digital Corporation and Arif Shakeel, effective as of
December 20, 2002(13)*
Western Digital Corporation 1999 Employee Severance Plan for U.S. Employees, effective December 1, 1999(4)*
First Amendment to the Western Digital Corporation 1999 Employee Severance Plan for U.S. Employees, dated April 6, 2001(8)*
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Exhibit
Number

10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28
21
23
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

†
*

§

Description

Western Digital Corporation Amended and Restated Change of Control Severance Plan, effective March 29, 2001(13)*
Letter agreement, dated October 19, 2001, by and between Western Digital Corporation and D. Scott Mercer(10)*
Letter agreement, dated September 10, 2004, by and between Western Digital Technologies, Inc. and Stephen D. Milligan†*
Form of Indemnity Agreement for Directors of Western Digital Corporation(12)
Form of Indemnity Agreement for Officers of Western Digital Corporation(12)
Sublease, dated as of September 23, 2003, by and between Advanced Logic Research, Inc. and Western Digital Corporation†
Lease by and between Serrano Jack, L.L.C. and Western Digital Corporation, dated May 30, 2000(6)
Standard Industrial/ Commercial Single-Tenant Lease and Addendum No. 1, dated May 1, 2000, between One Morgan, LLC and
Western Digital Corporation(18)
Lease Agreement, dated June 3, 1996, together with First Amendment, between South Bay/ Edenvale Associates and Western Digital
Corporation(18)
Single Tenant Industrial Lease Agreement, dated as of August 24, 1992, between Shuwa Investments Corporation and Read-Rite
Corporation, together with Second Amendment to Lease, dated as of May 28, 2002(18)
Supply Agreement for the Fabrication and Purchase of Semiconductor Products, dated June 13, 2002, among Marvell Semiconductor,
Inc., Marvell Asia Pte. Ltd. and Western Digital Technologies, Inc.(14)(17)
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of September 19, 2003, among Western Digital Technologies, Inc., the other credit
parties identified therein, General Electric Capital Corporation and Bank of America, N.A.(20)§
Continuing Guaranty, between Western Digital Corporation and General Electric Capital Corporation, dated as of April 7, 2001(8)
Master Equipment Lease Agreement dated June 24, 2004 between CIT Technologies Corporation, doing business as CIT Systems
Leasing, and Western Digital Technologies, Inc.†
Subsidiaries of Western Digital Corporation†
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm†
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002†
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002†
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002†
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002†

New exhibit filed with this Report.
Compensation plan, contract or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit pursuant to applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment request filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

(1)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 8-B, filed April 13, 1987.

(2)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 10, 1998.

(3)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 8, 1999.
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(4)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 14, 2000.

(5)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 15, 2000.

(6)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 28, 2000.

(7)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
April 6, 2001.

(8)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 27, 2001.

(9)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 13, 2001.

(10)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on February 8, 2002.

(11)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 6, 2002.

(12)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on November 8, 2002.

(13)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on February 7, 2003.

(14)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 9, 2003.

(15)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-107227), as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on July 22, 2003.

(16)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 15, 2003.

(17)

Subject to confidentiality order dated September 5, 2003.

(18)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 23, 2003.

(19)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 7,
2003.

(20)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-08703), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on November 7, 2003.
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EXHIBIT 3.3
WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
(A DELAWARE CORPORATION)
AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS
ARTICLE I
OFFICES
1.01 REGISTERED OFFICE. The registered office of Western Digital
Corporation (hereinafter this "Corporation") in the State of Delaware shall be
at 9 East Loockerman Street, Dover, and the name the registered agent in charge
thereof shall be National Registered Agents, Inc.
1.02 PRINCIPAL OFFICE. The principal office for the transaction of the
business of this Corporation shall be 20511 Lake Forest Drive, in the City of
Lake Forest, County of Orange, State of California. The Board of Directors
(hereinafter the Board) is hereby granted full power and authority to change
said principal office from one location to another.
1.03 OTHER OFFICES. This Corporation may also have such other offices at
such other places, either within or without the State of Delaware, as the Board
may from time to time determine or as the business of this Corporation may
require.
ARTICLE II
MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS
2.01 ANNUAL MEETINGS.
Corporation for the purpose
such proper business as may
date and place as the Board

Annual meetings of the stockholders of this
of electing directors and for the transaction of
come before such meetings may be held at such time,
shall determine by resolution.

2.02 SPECIAL MEETINGS. Special meetings of the stockholders may be called
at any time by the Board, the Chairman of the Board, or the President.
2.03 PLACE OF MEETINGS. All meetings of the stockholders shall be held at
such places, within or without the State of Delaware, as may from time to time
be designated by the person or persons calling the respective meeting and
specified in the respective notices or waivers of notice thereof.
2.04 NOTICE OF MEETINGS. Except as otherwise required by law, notice of
each meeting of the stockholders, whether annual or special, shall be given not
less than 10 nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting to each
stockholder of record entitled to vote at such meeting by delivering a printed
notice thereof to the stockholder personally, by depositing such notice in the
United States mail, in a postage-prepaid envelope, directed to the stockholder
at the post office address furnished by the stockholder to the Secretary of this
Corporation for such purpose or, if the stockholder shall not have furnished to
the Secretary the stockholder's address for such purpose, then at the
stockholder's post office address last known to the Secretary, or by
transmitting a notice thereof to the stockholder by any other means, including
electronic, directed to the stockholder at the location furnished by such
stockholder to the Secretary of this Corporation for such purpose. Except as
otherwise expressly required by law, no publication of any notice of a meeting
of the stockholders shall be required. Every notice of a meeting of the
stockholders shall state the place, date and hour of the meeting, and in the
case of a special meeting, shall also state the purpose or purposes for which
the meeting is called. Notice of any meeting of stockholders shall not be
required to be given to any stockholder to whom notice may be omitted pursuant
to applicable Delaware law or who shall have waived such notice and such notice
shall be deemed waived by any stockholder who shall attend such meeting in
person or by proxy except a stockholder who shall attend such meeting for the
express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting to the transaction
of business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Except as
otherwise expressly required by law, notice of any adjourned meeting of the
stockholder need not be given if the time and place thereof are announced at the
meeting at which the adjournment is taken.

2.05 QUORUM. Except as otherwise required by law, the holders of record of
a majority in voting interest of the shares of stock of this Corporation
entitled to be voted at any meeting of stockholders of this Corporation, present
in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at any meeting or any
adjournment thereof. A majority in voting interest of the stockholders present
in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at a meeting or, in the absence
therefrom of all stockholders, any officer entitled to preside at, or to act as
secretary of, such meeting may adjourn such meeting from time to time. At any
such adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present any business may be
transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called.
2.06 VOTING.
(a) Each stockholder shall, at each meeting of the stockholders, be
entitled to vote in person or by proxy each share or fractional share of the
stock of this Corporation having voting rights on the matter in question and
which shall have been held by and registered in the name of the stockholder on
the books of this Corporation:
(i) on the date fixed pursuant to Section 2.09 of these Amended and
Restated By-Laws as the record for the determination of stockholder entitled to
notice of and to vote at such meeting, or
(ii) if no such record date shall have been so fixed, then (A) at
the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice of the
meeting shall be given or (B) if notice of the meeting shall be waived, at the
close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting shall
be held.
(b) Shares of its own stock belonging to this Corporation or to another
corporation, if a majority of the shares entitled to vote in the election of
directors in such other corporation is held, directly or indirectly, by this
Corporation, shall neither be entitled to vote nor be counted for quorum
purposes. Persons holding stock of this Corporation in a fiduciary capacity
shall be entitled to vote such stock. Persons whose stock is pledged shall be
entitled to vote, unless in the transfer by the pledgor on the books of this
Corporation the pledgor shall have expressly empowered the pledge to vote
thereon. Stock having voting power standing of record in the names of two or
more persons, whether fiduciaries, members of a partnership, joint tenants in
common, tenants by entirety or otherwise, or with respect to which two or more
persons have the same fiduciary relationship, shall be voted in accordance with
the provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.
(c) Any such voting rights may be exercised by the stockholder entitled
thereto in person or by the stockholder's proxy, provided, however, that no
proxy shall be voted or acted upon after eleven months from its date unless said
proxy shall provide for a longer period. The attendance at any meeting of a
stockholder who may theretofore have given a proxy shall not have the effect of
revoking the same unless the stockholder shall in writing so notify the
secretary of the meeting prior to the voting of the proxy. At any meeting of the
stockholders all matters, except as otherwise provided in the Certificate of
Incorporation, in these Amended and Restated By-Laws or by law, shall be decided
by the vote of a majority in voting interest of the stockholders present in
person or by proxy and entitled to vote thereat and thereon, a quorum being
present. The vote at any meeting of the stockholders on any question need not be
by ballot, unless so directed by the chairman of the meeting. On a vote by
ballot each ballot shall be signed by the stockholder voting, or by his or her
proxy, if there be such proxy, and it shall state the number of shares voted.
2.07 LIST OF STOCKHOLDERS. The Secretary of this Corporation shall prepare
and make, at least 10 days before every meeting of stockholders, a complete list
of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, arranged in alphabetical
order, and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares
registered in the name of each stockholder. Such list shall be open to the
examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, during
ordinary business hours, for a period of at least 10 days prior to the meeting,
either at a place within the city where the meeting is to be held, which place
shall be specified in the notice of the meeting, or, if not so specified, at the
place where the meeting is to be held. The list shall also be produced and kept
at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be
inspected by any stockholder who is present.
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2.08 JUDGES. If at any meeting of the stockholder a vote by written ballot
shall be taken on any questions, the chairman of such meeting may appoint a
judge or judges to act with respect to such vote. Each judge so appointed shall
first subscribe an oath faithfully to execute the duties of a judge at such
meeting with strict impartiality and according to the best of his ability. Such
judges shall decide upon the qualification of the voters and shall report the
number of shares represented at the meeting and entitled to vote on such
question, shall conduct and accept the votes, and, when the voting is completed,
shall ascertain and report the number of shares voted respectively for and
against the question. Reports of judges shall be in writing and subscribed and
delivered by them to the Secretary of this Corporation. The judges need not be
stockholders of this Corporation, and any officer of this Corporation may be a
judge on any question other than a vote for or against a proposal in which he
shall have a material interest.
2.09 FIXING DATE FOR DETERMINATION OF STOCKHOLDER OF RECORD. In order that
this Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote
at any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, or entitled to
receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any
rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any other change,
conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful action,
the Board may fix, in advance, a record date, which shall not be more than 60
nor less than 10 days before the date of such meeting, nor more than 60 days
prior to any other action. If in any case involving the determination of
stockholders for any purpose other than notice of or voting at a meeting of
stockholders the Board shall not fix such a record date, the record date for
determining stockholders for such purpose shall be the close of business on the
day on which the Board shall adopt the resolution relating thereto. A
determination of stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of
stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of such meeting; provided, however,
that the Board may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.
2.10 STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS AND NOMINATIONS.
(a) At any meeting of stockholders, only such business shall be conducted,
and only such proposals shall be acted upon, as shall have been brought before
the meeting (1) by or at the direction of a majority of the directors or (2) by
any stockholder of this Corporation who complies with the notice procedures set
forth in this Section 2.10(a). For a proposal to be properly brought before a
meeting by a stockholder, the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof
in writing to the Secretary of this Corporation. To be timely, a stockholder's
notice must be delivered to, or mailed and received at, the principal executive
offices of this Corporation not less than 60 days nor more than 120 days prior
to the scheduled meeting, regardless of any postponements, deferrals or
adjournments of that meeting to a later date; provided, however, that if less
than 70 days' notice or prior public disclosure of the date of the scheduled
meeting is given or made, notice by the stockholder, to be timely, must be so
delivered or received not later than the close of business on the tenth day
following the earlier of the day on which such notice of the date of the
scheduled meeting was mailed or the day on which such public disclosure was
made. A stockholder's notice to the Secretary shall set forth as to each matter
the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting (i) a brief description of
the proposal desired to be brought before the meeting and the reasons for
conducting such business at the meeting, (ii) the name and address, as they
appear on this Corporation's books, of the stockholder proposing such business
and any other stockholders known by such stockholder to be supporting such
proposal, (iii) the class and number of shares of this Corporation's stock which
are beneficially owned by the stockholder on the date of such stockholder notice
and by any other stockholders known by such stockholder to be supporting such
proposal on the date of such stockholder notice, and (iv) any financial interest
of the stockholder in such proposal. In addition, the stockholder making such
proposal shall promptly provide any other information reasonably requested by
this Corporation. The presiding officer of the meeting shall determine at the
meeting whether the stockholder proposal was made in accordance with the terms
of this Section 2.10(a). If the presiding officer determines that a stockholder
proposal was not made in accordance with the terms of this Section 2.10(a), he
or she shall so declare at the meeting and any such proposal shall not be acted
upon at the meeting. This provision shall not prevent the consideration and
approval or disapproval at the meeting of reports of officers, directors and
committees or the Board, but, in connection with such reports, no new business
shall be acted upon at such meeting that is brought by a stockholder unless
stated, filed and received as herein provided.
(b) Subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of shares of preferred
stock of this Corporation then outstanding, only persons who are nominated in
accordance with the following procedures shall be eligible for election as
directors. Nominations of persons for election to the Board of this Corporation
may be made at a meeting of stockholders (1) by or at the direction of the

Board, (2) by any nominating committee or person appointed by the Board or (3)
by any stockholder of this Corporation entitled to vote for the election of
directors at the meeting who
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complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 2.10(b). Such
nominations, other than those made by or at the direction of the Board, shall be
made pursuant to timely notice in writing to the Secretary of this Corporation.
To be timely, a stockholder's notice must be delivered to, or mailed and
received at, the principal executive offices of this Corporation not less than
60 days nor more than 120 days prior to the scheduled meeting, regardless of any
postponements, deferrals or adjournments of that meeting to a later date;
provided, however, that if less than 70 days' notice or prior public disclosure
of the date of the scheduled meeting is given or made, notice by the
stockholder, to be timely, must be so delivered or received not later than the
close of business on the tenth day following the earlier of the day on which
such notice of the date of the scheduled meeting was mailed or the day on which
such public disclosure was made. A stockholder's notice to the Secretary shall
set forth (i) as to each person whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for
election or re-election as a director, (A) the name, age, business address and
residence address of the person, (B) the principal occupation or employment of
the person, (C) the class and number of shares of capital stock of this
Corporation which are beneficially owned by the person, (D) the consent of the
person to serve as a director of the Corporation if so elected, and (E) any
other information relating to the person that is required to be disclosed in
solicitations for proxies for election of directors pursuant to applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and (ii) as to the stockholder
giving the notice (A) the name and address, as they appear on this Corporation's
books, of the stockholder, (B) the class and number of shares of this
Corporation's stock which are beneficially owned by the stockholder on the date
of such stockholder notice and (C) a description of all arrangements or
understandings between the stockholder and each nominee and any other person(s)
(naming such person(s)) pursuant to which the nomination is to be made by the
stockholder. This Corporation may require any proposed nominee to furnish such
other information as may reasonably be required by this Corporation to determine
the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as director of this
Corporation. In addition, the stockholder making such nomination shall promptly
provide any other information reasonably requested by this Corporation. The
presiding officer of the meeting shall determine and declare at the meeting
whether the nomination was made in accordance with the terms of this Section
2.10(b). If the presiding officer determines that a nomination was not made in
accordance with the terms of this Section 2.10(b), he or she shall so declare at
the meeting and any such defective nomination shall be disregarded.
ARTICLE III
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
3.01 GENERAL POWERS. Subject to the requirements of the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the property, business and affairs of
this Corporation shall be managed by the Board.
3.02 NUMBER AND TERM OF OFFICE. The number of directors shall be not less
than five nor more than twelve until this Section 3.02 is amended by a
resolution duly adopted by the Board or by the stockholders, in either case, in
accordance with the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation of this
Corporation. The specific number of directors at any time shall be that number
between five and twelve as may be determined from time to time by the Board by
resolution. Directors need not be stockholders. Each of the directors of this
Corporation shall hold office until his successor shall have been duly elected
and shall qualify or until he shall resign or shall have been removed in the
manner provided in these Amended and Restated By-Laws.
3.03 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS. The directors shall be elected annually by the
stockholders of this Corporation and the persons receiving the greatest number
of votes, up to the number of directors to be elected, shall be the directors.
3.04 RESIGNATIONS. Any director of this Corporation may resign at any time
by giving written notice to the Board or to the Secretary of this Corporation.
Any such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if the
time be not specified, it shall take effect immediately upon its receipt; and
unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not
be necessary to make it effective.
3.05 VACANCIES. Except as otherwise provided in the Certificate of
Incorporation, any vacancy in the Board, whether because of death, resignation,
disqualification, an increase in the number of directors, or any other cause,
may be filed by vote of the majority of the remaining directors, although less
than a quorum. Each director so chosen to fill a vacancy shall hold office until
his successor shall have been elected and shall qualify or until he shall resign
or shall have been removed in the manner provided in these Amended and Restated
By-Laws.
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3.06 PLACE OF MEETING, ETC. The Board may hold any of its meetings at such
place or places within or without the State of Delaware as the Board may from
time to time by resolution designate or as shall be designated by the person or
persons calling the meeting or in the notice or a waiver of notice of any such
meeting. Directors may participate in any regular or special meeting of the
Board by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment
pursuant to which all persons participating in the meeting of the Board can hear
each other, and such participation shall constitute presence in person at such
meeting.
3.07 FIRST MEETING. The Board shall meet as soon as practicable after each
annual election of directors and notice of such first meeting shall not be
required.
3.08 REGULAR MEETINGS. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held at such
times as the Board shall from time to time by resolutions determine. If any day
fixed for a regular meeting shall be a legal holiday at the place where the
meeting is to be held, then the meeting shall be held at the same hour and place
on the next succeeding business day not a legal holiday. Except as provided by
law, notice of regular meetings need not be given.
3.09 SPECIAL MEETINGS. Special meetings of the Board for any purpose or
purposes may be called at any time by the Chairman of the Board, the President,
any Vice President, the Secretary or any two directors. Prior written notice of
special meetings of the Board shall be given at least four days in advance of
such special meeting or at least 48 hours in advance for notice given personally
or by telephone, facsimile, electronic mail or other similar means of
communication. Any such notice shall be addressed or delivered to each director
at such director's address as it is shown upon the records of this Corporation
or as may have been given to this Corporation by the director for such purpose
or if no such address has been provided or is in the records of this
Corporation, then to the place in which the meetings of the directors are
regularly held. Notice by mail shall be deemed to have been given at the time a
written notice is deposited in the United States mails, postage prepaid. Any
other written notice via facsimile, electronic mail or other similar means of
communication shall be deemed to have been given at the time it is personally
delivered to the recipient or is delivered to a common carrier for transmission,
or it is actually communicated to the recipient or to a person at the office of
the recipient who the person giving the notice has reason to believe will
promptly communicate it to the recipient, whichever occurs first. Any other
notice shall be deemed to have been given at the time it is communicated, in
person or by telephone or similar means, to the recipient or to a person or
electronic voice message system at the office of the recipient who the person
giving the notice has reason to believe will promptly communicate it to the
recipient.
3.10 QUORUM AND MANNER OF ACTING. Except as otherwise provided in these
Amended and Restated By-Laws, the Certificate of Incorporation, or by law, the
presence of a majority of the authorized number of directors shall be required
to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the
Board, and all matters shall be decided at any such meeting, a quorum being
present, by the affirmative votes of a majority of the directors present. A
meeting at which a quorum is initially present may continue to transact business
notwithstanding the withdrawal of directors, provided any action taken is
approved by at least a majority of the required quorum for such meeting. In the
absence of a quorum, a majority of directors present at any meeting may adjourn
the same from time to time until a quorum shall be present. Notice of any
adjourned meeting need not be given. The directors shall act only as a Board,
and the individual directors shall have no power as such.
3.11 ACTION BY CONSENT. Any action required or permitted to be taken at
any meeting of the Board or of any committee thereof may be taken without a
meeting if a written consent thereto is signed by all members of the Board or of
such committee, as the case may be, and such written consent is filed with the
minutes of proceedings of the Board or committee.
3.12 REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS. Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of
Incorporation, any director may be removed at any time, either with or without
cause, by the affirmative vote of the stockholders having a majority of the
voting power of this Corporation given at a special meeting of the stockholders
called for the purpose.
3.13 COMPENSATION. The directors shall receive only such compensation for
their services as directors as may be allowed by resolution of the Board. The
Board may also provide that this Corporation shall reimburse each such director
for any expense incurred by such director on account of his or her attendance at
any meetings of the Board or committees of the Board. Neither the payment of
such compensation nor the reimbursement of such expenses shall be construed to

preclude any director from serving this Corporation or its subsidiaries in any
other capacity and receiving compensation therefor.
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3.14 COMMITTEES. The Board may appoint one or more committees, each
consisting of one or more directors, and delegate to such committees any of the
authority of the Board permitted by law except with respect to:
(a) The approval of any action for which the General Corporation Law of
the State of Delaware also requires stockholders approval or approval of the
outstanding shares;
(b) The filing of vacancies on the Board or on any committee;
(c) The fixing of compensation of the directors for serving on the Board
or on any committee;
(d) The amendment or repeal of these Amended and Restated By-Laws or the
adoption of new By-Laws;
(e) The amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board which by its
express terms in not so amendable or repealable;
(f) A distribution to the stockholders of this Corporation except at a
rate or in a periodic amount or within a price range determined by the Board;
(g) The appointment of other committees of the Board or the members
thereof.
Any such committee must be appointed by resolution adopted by a majority
of the authorized number of directors and may be designated an Executive
Committee or by such other name as the Board shall specify. The Board may
designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may
replace any absent member at any meeting of the committee. The appointment of
members or alternate members of a committee requires the vote of a majority of
the authorized number of directors. The Board shall have the power to prescribe
the manner in which proceedings of any such committee shall be conducted. In the
absence of any such prescription, such committee shall have the power to
prescribe the manner in which its proceedings shall be conducted. Unless the
Board or such committee shall provide, the regular and special meetings of any
such committee shall be governed by the provisions of this Article applicable to
meetings and actions of the Board. Minutes shall be kept of each meeting of such
committee.
3.15 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE. The passage of any resolution of the committee
designated by the Board as the Executive Committee shall, in addition to any
other limitations prescribed by the Board in accordance with the provisions of
Section 3.14, require the affirmative vote of a majority of directors present
and voting on such resolution who are not employees of this Corporation.
3.16 RIGHTS OF INSPECTION. Every director shall have the right to any
reasonable time to inspect and copy all books, records, and documents of every
kind and to inspect the physical properties of this Corporation and also of its
subsidiary corporations, domestic or foreign. Such inspection by a director may
be made in person or by agent or attorney and includes the right to copy and
obtain extracts.
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ARTICLE IV
OFFICERS
4.01 CORPORATE OFFICERS.
(a) The Officers of the Corporation shall consist of a Chief Executive
Officer, a President, a Secretary and a Chief Financial Officer. The Corporation
may have, at the discretion of the Board, a Chairman of the Board.
(b) In addition to the officers specified in Section 4.01(a), the Board
may appoint such additional officers as the Board may deem necessary or
desirable, including one or more Vice Presidents, one or more Assistant
Secretaries, a Treasurer and one or more Assistant Treasurers, each of whom
shall hold office for such period, have such authority and perform such duties
as the Board may from time to time determine. The Board may delegate to any
officer of the Corporation or any committee of the Board the power to appoint,
remove and prescribe the term and duties of any officer provided for in this
Section 4.01(b).
(c) One person may hold two or more offices, except that the Secretary may
not hold the office of President.
4.02 APPOINTMENT AND TERM OF OFFICE. Each officer shall serve at the
pleasure of the Board of Directors and shall hold office until a successor shall
have been appointed or until such officer's death, disqualification, resignation
or removal. Any officer may be removed, either with or without cause, by the
Board of Directors or, except in case of an officer appointed by the Board of
Directors, by any officer upon whom such power of removal may be conferred by
the Board of Directors.
4.03 RESIGNATIONS. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written
notice of such officer's resignation to the Corporation. Any such resignation
shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if the time be not
specified, upon receipt thereof by the Corporation. Unless otherwise specified
therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it
effective.
4.04 VACANCIES. A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation,
removal or disqualification or other event, may be filled in the manner
prescribed in these By-Laws for regular appointments to such office.
4.05 CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD. The Chairman of the Board, if such an officer
is elected, shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders and the Board and
shall have such other powers and duties as may from time to time be assigned to
him or her by the Board or as may be prescribed by the By-Laws.
4.06 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER. The Chief Executive Officer shall have,
subject to the control of the Board, general and active supervision, direction
and control of the business of the Corporation and its officers, agents and
employees, and shall perform all duties as may from time to time be assigned to
him or her by the Board. In the absence of the Chairman of the Board, or if
there be none, the Chief Executive Officer shall preside at all meetings of the
stockholders and at all meetings of the Board.
4.07 PRESIDENT. The President of the Corporation shall have the general
powers and duties of management usually vested in the office of president and
general manager of a corporation and shall have such other authority and shall
perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by
the Board or Chief Executive Officer.
4.08 SECRETARY. The Secretary shall keep or cause to be kept, at the
principal executive office of the Corporation or at such other place as the
Board may order, a book of minutes of all meetings of the stockholders, the
Board and its committees, the time and place of holding such meetings, whether
regular or special, and, if special, how authorized, the notice thereof given,
the names of those present at Board and committee meetings, the number of shares
present or represented at stockholder meetings and the proceedings thereof. The
Secretary shall keep, or shall cause to be kept, at the principal executive
office or at the office of the Corporation's transfer agent or registrar, a
share register, or a duplicate share register, showing the names of stockholders
and their addresses, the number and classes of shares of stock held by each, the
number and date of certificates issued for such shares and the number and
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date of cancellation of every certificate surrendered for cancellation. The
Secretary shall give, or shall cause to be given, in conformity with these
Amended and Restated By-Laws, notice of all meetings of the stockholders and of
the Board and of any committees thereof requiring notice. The Secretary shall
keep the seal of the Corporation in safe custody and shall have such other
powers and shall perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned
to him or her by the Board.
4.09 CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER. The Chief Financial Officer shall keep and
maintain, or shall cause to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct
accounts of the properties and business transactions of the Corporation, and
shall send or shall cause to be sent to the stockholders of the Corporation such
financial statements and reports as are by law or by these Amended and Restated
By-Laws required to be sent to them. The books of account shall at all
reasonable times be open to inspection by any director. The Chief Financial
Officer shall render to the Chief Executive Officer and directors, whenever they
request it, an account of all transactions as Chief Financial Officer and of the
financial condition of the Corporation, and shall have such other powers and
perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by
the Board.
4.10 COMPENSATION. The compensation of those officers appointed by the
Board pursuant to Section 4.01(a) or (b) of these By-Laws shall be fixed from
time to time by the Board or a committee of the Board delegated with such
authority. No officer shall be prevented from receiving compensation by reason
of the fact that the officer is also a director of the Corporation or of any
subsidiary corporation. Nothing contained herein shall preclude any officer from
serving the Corporation, or any subsidiary corporation, in any other capacity
and receiving compensation therefore.
ARTICLE V
CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DRAFTS, BANK ACCOUNTS, ETC.
5.01 EXECUTION OF CONTRACTS. The Board, except as in these Amended and
Restated By-Laws otherwise provided, may authorize any officer or officers,
agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute any instrument in the
name of and on behalf of this Corporation, and such authority may be general or
confined to specific instances. Unless so authorized by the Board or by these
Amended and Restated By-Laws, no officer, agent or employee shall have any power
or authority to bind this Corporation by any contract or engagement or to pledge
its credit or to render it liable for any purpose or in any amount.
5.02 CHECKS, DRAFTS, ETC. All checks, drafts or other orders for payment
of money, notes or other evidence of indebtedness, issued in the name of or
payable to this Corporation, shall be signed or endorsed by such person or
persons and in such manner as, from time to time, shall be determined by
resolution of the Board. Each authorized person shall give such bond, if any, as
the Board may require.
5.03 DEPOSITS. All funds of this Corporation not otherwise employed shall
be deposited from time to time to the credit of this Corporation in such banks,
trust companies and other depositories as the Board may select, or as may be
selected by any officer or officers, assistant or assistants, agent or agents,
or attorney or attorneys of this Corporation to whom such power shall have been
delegated by the Board. For the purpose of deposit and for the purpose of
collection for the account of this Corporation, the President and Vice President
or the Treasurer (or any other officer or officers, assistant or assistants,
agent or agents, or attorney or attorneys of this Corporation who shall from
time to time be determined by the Board) may endorse, assign and deliver checks,
drafts and other orders for the payment of money which are payable to the order
of this Corporation.
5.04 GENERAL AND SPECIAL BANK ACCOUNTS. The Board may from time to time
authorize the opening and keeping of general and special bank accounts with such
banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board may select or as may
be selected by any officer or officers, assistant or assistants, agent or
agents, or attorney or attorneys of this Corporation to whom such power shall
have been delegated by the Board. The Board may make such special rules and
regulations with respect to such bank accounts, not inconsistent with the
provisions of these Amended and Restated By-Laws, as it may deem expedient.
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ARTICLE VI
SHARES AND THEIR TRANSFER
6.01 CERTIFICATES FOR STOCK.
(a) The shares of this Corporation shall be represented by certificates,
provided that the Board may provide by resolution or resolutions that some or
all of any or all classes or series of its stock shall be uncertificated shares.
Any such resolution shall not apply to shares represented by a certificate until
such certificate is surrendered to this Corporation. Notwithstanding the
adoption of such a resolution by the Board every holder of stock represented by
certificates and upon request every holder of uncertificated shares shall be
entitled to have a certificate, in such form as the Board shall prescribe,
signed by, or in the name of this Corporation by the Chairman or Vice Chairman
of the Board, or the President or Vice President, and by the Treasurer or an
Assistant Treasurer, or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of this
Corporation representing the number of shares registered in certificate form.
Any of or all of the signatures on the certificates may be by facsimile. In case
any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed, or whose facsimile
signature has been placed upon, any such certificate shall have ceased to be
such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is issued,
such certificate may nevertheless be issued by this Corporation with the same
effect as though the person who signed such certificate, or whose facsimile
signature shall have been place thereupon, were such officer, transfer agent or
registrar at the date of issue.
(b) A record shall be kept of the respective names of the persons, firms
or corporations owning the stock represented by such certificates, the number
and class of shares represented by such certificates, respectively, and the
respective dates thereof, and in case of cancellation, the respective dates of
cancellation. Every certificate surrendered to this Corporation for exchange or
transfer shall be cancelled, and no new certificate or certificates shall be
issued in exchange for any existing certificate until such existing certificate
shall have been so cancelled, except in cases provided for in Section 6.04
6.02 TRANSFERS OF STOCK. Transfers of shares of stock of this Corporation
shall be made only on the books of this Corporation by the registered holder
thereof, or by such holder's attorney thereunto authorized by power of attorney
duly executed and filed with the Secretary, or with a transfer clerk or a
transfer agent appointed as provided in Section 6.03, and upon surrender of the
certificate or certificates for such shares properly endorsed and the payment of
all taxes thereon. The person in whose name shares of stock stand on the books
of this Corporation shall be deemed the owner thereof for all purposes as
regards this Corporation. Whenever any transfer of shares shall be made for
collateral security, and not absolutely, such fact shall be so expressed in the
entry of transfer if, when the certificate or certificates shall be presented to
this Corporation for transfer agents and one or more registrars, and may require
all certificates for stock to bear the signature or signatures of any of them.
6.03 REGULATIONS. This Board may make such rules and regulations as it may
deem expedient, not inconsistent with these Amended and Restated By-Laws,
concerning the issue, transfer and registration of certificates for shares of
the stock of this Corporation. It may appoint, or authorize any officer or
officers to appoint, one or more transfer clerks or one or more transfer agents
and one or more registrars, and may require all certificates for stock to bear
the signature or signatures of any of them.
6.04 LOST, STOLEN, DESTROYED, AND MUTILATED CERTIFICATES. In any case of
loss, theft, destruction, or mutilation of any certificate of stock, another may
be issued in its place upon proof of such loss, theft, destruction, or
mutilation and upon the giving of a bond of indemnity to this Corporation in
such form and in such sum as the Board may direct; provided, however, that a new
certificate may be issued without requiring any bond when, in the judgment of
the Board, it is proper to do so.
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ARTICLE VII
INDEMNIFICATION
7.01 SCOPE OF INDEMNIFICATION. This Corporation shall indemnify and hold
harmless any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to
any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil,
criminal, administrative or investigative by reason of the fact that such person
is or was a director or officer of this Corporation or, while a director or
officer of this Corporation, is or was serving at the request of this
Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation,
partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including service with
respect to employee benefit plans, against all liability and loss suffered and
expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in
settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with
such action, suit or proceeding to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law
as it presently exists or may hereafter be amended and the Certificate of
Incorporation. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, except as otherwise
provided in Section 7.06, this Corporation shall be required to indemnify an
officer or director of this Corporation in connection with a proceeding (or part
thereof) commenced by such officer or director only if the commencement of such
proceeding (or part thereof) by the officer or director was authorized by the
Board of Directors of this Corporation.
7.02 ADVANCE OF EXPENSES. Costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees)
incurred by or on behalf of a director or officer in defending or investigating
any action, suit, proceeding or investigation shall be paid by this Corporation
in advance of the final disposition of such matter, if such director or officer
shall undertake in writing to repay any such advances in the event that it is
ultimately determined that he or she is not entitled to indemnification.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no advance shall be made by this Corporation if a
determination is reasonably and promptly made by the Board by a majority vote of
a quorum of disinterested directors, or (if such a quorum is not obtained or,
even if obtainable, a quorum of disinterested directors so directs) by
independent legal counsel, that, based upon the facts known to the Board or
counsel at the time such determination is made, (a) the director or officer
acted in bad faith or deliberately breached his or her duty to this Corporation
or its stockholders, and (b) as a result of such actions by the director or
officer, it is more likely than not that it will ultimately be determined that
such director or officer is not entitled to indemnification.
7.03 OTHER RIGHTS AND REMEDIES. The indemnification and advancement of
expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, the other subsections of this
Article shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking
indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under any Amended and
Restated By-Laws, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or
otherwise, both as to action in such person's official capacity and as to action
in another capacity while holding such office.
7.04 CONTINUATION OF INDEMNIFICATION AND ADVANCEMENT OF EXPENSES. The
indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to,
this Article shall, unless otherwise provided when authorized or ratified,
continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director or officer and shall
inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a
person.
7.05 INSURANCE. Upon resolution passed by the Board, this Corporation may
purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a
director, officer, employee or agent of this Corporation or, while a director,
officer, employee or agent of this Corporation, is or was serving at the request
of this Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any
liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such
capacity, or arising out of such person's status as such, whether or not this
Corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability
under the provisions of this Article.
7.06 CLAIMS. If a claim for indemnification or advancement of expenses
under this Article VII is not paid in full within forty-five days after a
written claim therefor by the officer or director has been received by this
Corporation, the officer or director may file suit to recover the unpaid amount
of such claim and, if successful in whole or in part, shall be entitled to be
paid the expense of prosecuting such claim. In any such action, the Corporation
shall have the burden of proving that the officer or director is not entitled to
the requested indemnification or advancement of expenses under applicable law.
10

7.07 AMENDMENT OR REPEAL. Any repeal or modification of the foregoing
provisions of this Article VII shall not adversely affect any right or
protection hereunder of any officer or director of this Corporation in respect
of any act or omission occurring prior to the time of such repeal or
modification.
7.08 OTHER INDEMNIFICATION AND PREPAYMENT OF EXPENSES. This Article VII
shall not limit the right of this Corporation, to the extent and in the manner
permitted by law, to indemnify and to advance expenses to persons other than
officers or directors of this Corporation when and as authorized by appropriate
corporate action.
ARTICLE VIII
MISCELLANEOUS
8.01 SEAL. The Board shall adopt a corporate seal, which shall be in the
form of a circle and shall bear the name of this Corporation and words and
figures showing that this Corporation was incorporated in the State of Delaware
and the year of incorporation.
8.02 WAIVER OF NOTICES. Whenever notice is required to be given by these
Amended and Restated By-Laws or the Certificate of Incorporation or by law, the
person entitled to said notice may waive such notice in writing, either before
or after the time stated therein, and such waiver shall be deemed equivalent to
notice. Attendance of a person at a meeting (whether in person or by proxy in
the case of a meeting of stockholders) shall constitute a waiver of notice of
such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose
of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any
business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the
business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of any regular or special meeting
of the stockholders, directors, or members of a committee of directors need be
specified in any written waiver of notice.
8.03 AMENDMENTS. These Amended and Restated By-Laws, or any of them, may
be altered, amended or repealed, and new By-Laws may be made, (i) by the Board,
by vote of a majority of the number of directors then in office as directors,
acting at any meeting of the Board, or (ii) by the stockholders, provided that
notice of such proposed amendment, modification, repeal or adoption is given in
the notice of special meeting.
8.04 REPRESENTATION OF OTHER CORPORATIONS. The President, any Vice
President, or the Secretary of this Corporation are each authorized to vote,
represent and exercise on behalf of this Corporation all rights incident to any
and all shares of any other corporation or corporations standing in the name of
this Corporation. The authority herein granted to said officers to vote or
represent on behalf of this Corporation any and all shares held by this
Corporation in any other corporation or corporations may be exercised either by
such officers in person or by any person authorized so to do by proxy or power
of attorney duly executed by said officers.
# # #
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CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY
The undersigned, being the duly elected Secretary of Western Digital
Corporation (formerly, Western Digital Holdings, Inc.), a Delaware corporation,
hereby certifies that the Amended and Restated By-Laws to which this Certificate
is attached were duly adopted by the Board of Directors of such corporation as
of May 19, 2004.
/s/ Raymond M. Bukaty
--------------------------Raymond M. Bukaty
Secretary
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EXHIBIT 10.17
Western Digital Corporation
20511 Lake Forest Drive
Lake Forest, California 92630
Tel:
FAX:

510.683.7387
510.683.7141

DAVID C. FETAH
Vice President
Human Resources & Administration
September 10, 2004
Mr. Steve Milligan
BY HAND DELIVERY
Dear Steve:
In connection with your employment by Western Digital Technologies, Inc.
(the "Company"), which became effective on September 23, 2002, you became
eligible for a payment of $35,000.00 to be paid upon completion of twenty-four
(24) months of employment ("Payment Date") at the Company. This payment is
considered taxable income to you. Your eligibility for this payment requires you
to have full-time employee status on the Payment Date. If you either voluntarily
terminate or are terminated by the Company for Good Cause prior to the Payment
Date, you will not be eligible to receive the payment. Additionally, if you
either voluntarily terminate or are terminated by the Company for Good Cause six
(6) months after the Payment Date, this payment shall be repaid by you to the
Company. For purposes hereof, "Good Cause" means (i) theft or damage of Western
Digital property, (ii) possession, sale or distribution of illegal drugs, (iii)
being under the influence of alcohol or drugs (except to the extent medically
prescribed) while on duty or on Company premises, (iv) involvement in activities
representing conflicts of interest, (v) improper disclosure of confidential
information, (vi) conduct endangering, or likely to endanger, the health or
safety of another employee, (vii) conviction of a felony, or (viii) falsifying
or misrepresenting information on Company records.
This letter supersedes and replaces in its entirety all prior agreements
and understandings between you and the Company relating to the subject matter
hereof.
Please return the signed and dated original indicating your acceptance of
this letter. A copy has been enclosed for your records. If you have any
questions, please do not hesitate to call.
Sincerely,
/s/ David C. Fetah
- -------------------------David C. Fetah
Vice President
Human Resources and Administration
ACCEPTANCE: /s/ Stephen D. Milligan
---------------------------Signature

9/10/04
---------------------Date

EXHIBIT 10.20
SUBLEASE
THIS SUBLEASE (this "Sublease") is made and entered into as of the 23 day
of September, 2003, by and between ADVANCED LOGIC RESEARCH, INC., a Delaware
corporation (hereinafter called "Sublandlord"), and WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION,
a Delaware corporation (hereinafter called "Subtenant");
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, by that certain Amended and Restated Standard Lease [Single
Tenant - Triple Net] dated as of June 21, 1999 (the "Original Prime Lease"), as
amended by that certain First Amendment to Lease dated as of January 27, 2000
(the "First Amendment"), a copy of which instruments are attached hereto as
Exhibit "A" and by this reference made a part hereof (hereinafter, with all such
amendments, called the "Prime Lease"), MSGW CALIFORNIA I, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (hereinafter, together with its successors and
assigns, called "Landlord"), leased to GATEWAY, INC., a Delaware corporation
(formerly known as Gateway 2000, Inc.) three (3) buildings (known as Buildings
1, 2 and 3) located in Lake Forest, Orange County, California, which buildings
contain, collectively, approximately 150,000 Rentable Square Feet (the "Prime
Lease Space").
WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Assignment of Lease and Assumption
Agreement dated as of June 21, 1999, Gateway, Inc. assigned all of its right,
title and interest in and to the Prime Lease to Sublandlord.
WHEREAS, subject to the consent of Landlord, Subtenant desires to sublease
from Sublandlord, and Sublandlord desires to Sublease to Subtenant, that 50,000
rentable square foot portion of the Prime Lease Space which is comprised of that
building (the "Building") located at 26160 Enterprise Way in Lake Forest, Orange
County, California which is known as Building 3 (the "Premises") which is as
shown on the floor plans attached to this Sublease as Exhibit "B", all upon the
terms and subject to the conditions and provisions hereinafter set forth;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual
covenants and promises contained herein and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby mutually
acknowledged, Sublandlord and Subtenant hereby agree as follows:
1.
Demise; Use. Sublandlord hereby leases to Subtenant and Subtenant
hereby leases from Sublandlord the Premises for the term and rental and upon the
other terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, to be used and occupied by
Subtenant solely for general office use as permitted under the Prime Lease and
otherwise in compliance with applicable zoning rules, regulations and ordinances
and all covenants, conditions and restrictions of record and for no other use or
purpose.
2.
Term. The term of this Sublease shall commence (the "Commencement
Date") on the date upon which this Sublease is fully executed and the Landlord
has delivered its consent hereto, and, unless sooner terminated pursuant to the
provisions hereof, shall terminate on the earlier of January 31, 2012 and the
prior termination of the term of the Prime Lease. As used herein, the phrase
"Lease Year" shall mean the twelve calendar month period commencing on the Rent
Commencement Date (as hereinafter defined) (or, if the Rent Commencement Date is
not the first day of a calendar month, then commencing on the first day of the
calendar month during which the Rent Commencement Date occurs) and each
anniversary thereof, except that (i) the last Lease Year may not be twelve
calendar months and
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shall terminate on the last day of the term of this Sublease, and (ii) the first
Lease Year shall include that period of time from the Commencement Date to and
including the Rent Commencement Date.
3.

Base Rent.

(a)
As used herein, the Rent Commencement Date shall be that date
which is the earlier of (i) fifteen (15) days following the Commencement Date
(such period being intended as a rent free period for Tenant's planning and
commencement of office improvement buildout and fixture and equipment
installation), and (ii) that date upon which Subtenant commences its business
operations from all or any portion of the Premises. Commencing upon the Rent
Commencement Date, Subtenant shall pay to Sublandlord base annual rental
(hereinafter called "Base Rent") for the Premises as follows (month 1 as noted
in the schedule below shall commence on the Rent Commencement Date):

TIME PERIOD
- ------------------------------

ANNUAL BASE RENT
RATE PER RENTABLE
SQUARE FOOT
-----------------

ANNUAL BASE RENT
(BASED ON 50,000
RENTABLE SQUARE FEET)
---------------------

MONTHLY
INSTALLMENTS
--------------

Months 1-4

$

0.00

$

0.00

Months 5-24

$

12.00

$

600,000.00

$ 50,000.00

Months 25-48

$

12.60

$

630,000.00

$ 52,500.00

Months 49-72

$

13.23

$

661,500.00

$ 55,125.00

Months 73-96

$

13.89

$

694,500.00

$ 57,875.00

Months 97 - January 31, 2012*

$

14.59

$

729,500.00*

$ 60,791.67*

*Note: Sublandlord and Subtenant acknowledge and agree that as the expiration of
the term of this Sublease is January 31, 2012, the ninth Lease Year (commencing
in month 97 as shown on the schedule above) shall be less than a full twelve
(12) calendar month period and accordingly the Annual Base Rent and Monthly
Installments set forth in the schedule above shall be prorated for the actual
days occurring within the final time period of this Sublease commencing with
Month 97.
Each such installment shall be due and payable in advance on the first day of
each calendar month of the term hereof. Subtenant shall pay the first
installment of Monthly Base Rent due under this Lease concurrently with the
execution of this Sublease by Subtenant. If the term of this Sublease commences
on a day other than the first day of a month or ends on a day other than the
last day of a month, Base Rent for such month shall be prorated; prorated Base
Rent for any such partial first month of the term hereof shall be paid on the
date on which the term commences. Concurrently with the full execution and
delivery of this Sublease by Subtenant, Subtenant shall pay to Sublandlord the
first due installment of monthly Base Rent due and owing under this Sublease
(i.e., that installment of monthly Base Rent due under this Lease for Month 5 as
noted in the schedule above).
(b)
All Base Rent and additional rent shall be paid without setoff
or deduction whatsoever and shall be paid to Sublandlord at the following
address: Real Estate Administration, c/o Gateway, Inc. 610 Gateway Drive Y91,
North Sioux City, South Dakota 97049, or at such other place as Sublandlord may
designate by notice to Subtenant. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained in this Sublease, Sublandlord and Subtenant acknowledge and agree that
in the event of a default by
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$

0.00

Sublandlord, as tenant, under the Prime Lease which remains uncured beyond any
applicable notice and cure period and as a result of which the Landlord directs
Subtenant in writing (with a copy to Sublandlord) to remit the rent payments
under this Sublease directly to the Landlord, then Subtenant shall comply with
the direction of Landlord and any sums so paid to Landlord shall be credited
against the rent payments due under this Sublease; provided, however, in no
event shall the foregoing be deemed to permit the Landlord and Subtenant to
modify in any way the obligations of Subtenant under this Sublease (e.g.,
Landlord shall not be permitted to forgive or waive any obligation of Subtenant
under this Sublease without obtaining the consent of Sublandlord, which consent
Sublandlord shall be entitled to withhold in its sole and absolute discretion).
(c)
As set forth for months 1 through 4 in the schedule above,
Sublandlord and Subtenant acknowledge and agree that Sublandlord shall provide
to Subtenant an abatement against Base Rent due hereunder for the purpose of
reimbursing to Subtenant the cost of certain improvements to be performed by
Subtenant within the Premises (any such improvements to be otherwise performed
at Subtenant's sole cost and expense and in strict accordance with the terms and
provisions of this Sublease). Sublandlord and Subtenant acknowledge and agree
that so long as Subtenant is not then in default under this Sublease and as set
forth in the schedule above, Subtenant shall be entitled to an abatement of the
Base Rent due and owing under this Sublease for months 1 through 4 following the
Rent Commencement Date; provided, however, (i) in the event of any such default
during such abatement period as a result of which Subtenant is no longer
entitled to such an abatement, the monthly Base Rent which shall be deemed to be
due during such period of time shall be equal to the amount of such monthly Base
Rent due and owing during months 5 through 24 of the term, and (ii) during such
abatement period, Subtenant shall remain responsible to pay any and all amounts
due and owing under this Sublease for additional rent due hereunder (including,
without limitation, all pass-throughs from the Prime Lease and all utilities
provided to the Premises).
4.

Additional Rent; Payments; Interest.

(a)
Except for "Monthly Base Rent" (as such term is defined in the
Prime Lease and for the payment of which Subtenant shall have no obligation
under this Sublease), Subtenant shall also pay to Sublandlord all other amounts
payable by Sublandlord under the Prime Lease which are attributable to the
Premises or attributable to Subtenant, its agents, employees, customers or
invitees, including without limitation, the Operating Costs (as such term is
defined herein); provided, however, that the payment of Operating Costs as set
forth below shall not commence until the Rent Commencement Date. By way of
example and not by way of limitation, charges by Landlord for furnishing air
conditioning or heating to the Premises at times in addition to those certain
times specified in the Prime Lease, costs incurred by Landlord in repairing
damage to the Building caused by an employee of Subtenant, increased insurance
premiums due as a result of Subtenant's use of the Premises, and amounts
expended or incurred by Landlord on account of any default by Subtenant which
gives rise to a default under the Prime Lease would be amounts payable by
Subtenant pursuant to this Subsection 4(a).
(b)
Each amount due to pursuant to Subsection 4(a) above and each
other amount payable by Subtenant hereunder, unless a date for payment of such
amount is provided for elsewhere in this Sublease, shall be due and payable on
the fifth day following the date on which Landlord or Sublandlord has given
notice to Subtenant of the amount thereof, but in no event later than the date
on which any such amount is due and payable under the Prime Lease.
(c)
All amounts other than Base Rent payable to Sublandlord under
this Sublease shall be deemed to be additional rent due under this Sublease. All
past due installments of Base Rent and additional rent shall bear interest from
the date due until paid at the rate specified in the Prime Lease for interest on
late payments, and any and all amounts due and owing under this Sublease by
Subtenant shall
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not be deemed to be "past due" until such failure to pay continues for a period
in excess of five (5) days following the date same is otherwise due under this
Lease.
(d)
Subtenant shall pay Landlord on the due dates for services
requested by Subtenant which are billed by Landlord directly to Subtenant rather
than Sublandlord.
(e)
Definitions. For purposes of this Sublease and in addition to
the terms defined elsewhere in this Sublease, the following terms shall have the
meanings set forth below:
(1)
"Operating Costs" shall mean (a) Operating Expenses (as
defined in Paragraph 6 of the Prime Lease, which Sublandlord and Subtenant
acknowledge and agree shall mean, collectively, Common Area Operating Expenses
and Building Operating Expenses, as defined in the Prime Lease) charged by
Landlord to Sublandlord pursuant to Paragraph 6 of the Prime Lease, and (b) Real
Property Taxes (as defined in paragraph 12 of the Prime Lease) charged by
Landlord to Sublandlord pursuant to Paragraph 12 of the Prime Lease.
(2)
"Subtenant's Percentage Share" for purposes of Tenant's
Common Area Percentage (as defined in the Prime Lease) shall mean 33.33% and
"Subtenant's Percentage Share" for purposes of Tenant's Building Percentage (as
defined in the Prime Lease) shall mean 100%. Sublandlord and Subtenant
acknowledge and agree that at such time as such Percentage Shares are being
applied to Operating Costs, Sublandlord shall calculate the amounts owed by
Subtenant hereunder by applying the appropriate Percentage Share to Common Area
Operating Expenses or Building Operating Expenses, as the case may be. For
purposes of Real Estate Taxes, the appropriate Percentage Share shall be applied
to determine Subtenant's obligations hereunder based on the assessed area which
is the basis for the calculation of Real Estate Taxes under the Prime Lease. In
addition to the Base Rent payable pursuant to Section 3 above, from and after
the Rent Commencement Date, for each calendar year of the term, Subtenant, as
additional rent, shall pay Subtenant's Percentage Share of the Operating Costs
payable by Sublandlord for the then current calendar year. Sublandlord shall
give Subtenant written notice of Sublandlord's estimate of the amount of
additional rent per month payable pursuant to this Subsection for each calendar
year promptly following the Sublandlord's receipt of Landlord's estimate of the
Operating Costs payable under the Prime Lease. Thereafter, the additional rent
payable pursuant to this Subsection shall be determined and adjusted in
accordance with the provisions below.
(f)
The determination and adjustment of additional rent
contemplated under Subsection 4(e) above shall be made in accordance with the
following procedures:
(1)
Upon receipt of a statement from Landlord specifying the
estimated Operating Costs to be charged to Sublandlord under the Prime Lease
with respect to each calendar year, or as soon after receipt of such statement
as practicable, Sublandlord shall give Subtenant written notice of its estimate
of additional rent payable under Subsection 4(e) for the ensuing calendar year,
which estimate shall be prepared based on the estimate received from Landlord
(as Landlord's estimate may change from time to time), together with a copy of
the statement received from Landlord. Sublandlord's estimate of additional rent
to be paid by Subtenant pursuant to this Sublease shall not exceed Subtenant's
Percentage Share of Landlord's estimate delivered to Sublandlord pursuant to the
Prime Lease (as Landlord's estimate may change from time to time). On or before
the first day of each month during each calendar year, Subtenant shall pay to
Sublandlord as additional rent one-twelfth (1/12th) of such estimated amount
together with the Base Rent.
(2)
In the event Sublandlord's notice set forth in
Subsection 4(f)(l) is not given in December of the calendar year preceding the
calendar year for which Sublandlord's notice is applicable, as the case may be,
then until the calendar month after such notice is delivered by
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Sublandlord, Subtenant shall continue to pay to Sublandlord monthly, during the
ensuing calendar year, estimated payments equal to the amounts payable hereunder
during the calendar year just ended. Upon receipt of any such post-December
notice Subtenant shall (i) commence as of the immediately following calendar
month, and continue for the remainder of the calendar year, to pay to
Sublandlord monthly such new estimated payments and (ii) if the monthly
installment of the new estimate of such additional rent is greater than the
monthly installment of the estimate for the previous calendar year, pay to
Sublandlord within thirty (30) days of the receipt of such notice an amount
equal to the difference of such monthly installment multiplied by the number of
full and partial calendar months of such year preceding the delivery of such
notice.
(3)
Within thirty (30) days after the receipt by Sublandlord
of a final statement of Operating Costs from Landlord with respect to each
calendar year, Sublandlord shall deliver to Subtenant a statement of the
adjustment to be made pursuant to Section 4(f) hereof for the calendar year just
ended, together with a copy of the statement received by Sublandlord from
Landlord. If on the basis of such statement Subtenant owes an amount that is
less than the estimated payments for the calendar year just ended previously
paid by Subtenant, Sublandlord shall credit such excess to the next payments of
rent coming due or, if the term of this Sublease is about to expire, promptly
refund such excess to Subtenant. If on the basis of such statement Subtenant
owes an amount that is more than the estimated payments for the calendar year
just ended previously made by Subtenant, Subtenant shall pay the deficiency to
Sublandlord within thirty (30) days after delivery of the statement from
Sublandlord to Subtenant.
(4)
For partial calendar years during the term of this
Sublease, the amount of additional rent payable pursuant to Subsection 4(f) that
is applicable to that partial calendar year shall be prorated based on the ratio
of the number of days of such partial calendar year falling during the term of
this Sublease to 365. The expiration or earlier termination of this Sublease
shall not affect the obligations of Sublandlord and Subtenant pursuant to this
Section 4, and such obligations shall survive and remain to be performed after
any expiration or earlier termination of this Sublease.
(5)
Upon reasonable prior written notice to Sublandlord and
at the sole cost and expense of Subtenant, Subtenant shall have the right at any
time and from time to time to require Sublandlord to exercise its rights to
audit Landlord's computation of Operating Costs in accordance with Section 6(e)
of the Prime Lease. In addition, Subtenant or an accounting firm selected by
Subtenant will have the right, by prior written notice ("Audit Notice") to
Sublandlord given within sixty (60) days ("Audit Period") following receipt of
any statement of adjusted Operating Costs, to audit Sublandlord's accounting
records with respect to Operating Costs and the computation of Subtenant's share
thereof, subject to the following terms and conditions: (i) Subtenant shall be
entitled to such audit not more than one (1) time in any Lease Year and shall
only be permitted with respect to the fiscal period immediately prior to the
Audit Notice, (ii) such audit shall take place at the location where Sublandlord
customarily maintains such books and records (which Subtenant acknowledges is
currently in Sublandlord's offices in North Sioux City, South Dakota), (iii)
such audit shall be at the sole cost and expense of Subtenant, except as noted
below, (iv) as a condition to such audit, Subtenant and any other party
undertaking such audit on behalf of Subtenant shall execute and deliver to
Sublandlord a confidentiality agreement respecting such records in form and
content satisfactory to Sublandlord, and (v) Subtenant shall not be permitted to
use a contingent fee auditor. If any such audit or review correctly reveals that
Sublandlord has overcharged Subtenant, then within thirty (30) days after the
results of such audit are made available to Sublandlord, Sublandlord agrees to
reimburse Subtenant the amount of such overcharge; provided, however, in no
event shall Sublandlord be obligated to reimburse any such amounts to Subtenant
if such overcharge arises as a result of the information and/or statements
provided by the Landlord (e.g., if any such overcharge is due to an error passed
through to Subtenant as a result of the statements and/or information obtained
by Sublandlord under the Prime Lease, then in no event shall Subtenant be
entitled
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to a reimbursement of same from Sublandlord). If the audit reveals that
Subtenant was undercharged, then within thirty (30) days after the results of
the audit are made available to Subtenant, Subtenant agrees to reimburse
Sublandlord the amount of such undercharge.
5.
Condition of Premises and Construction of Improvements. Except as
may be otherwise expressly set forth in this Sublease, Subtenant hereby
acknowledges and agrees that it is to demise the Premises in an "as-is"
condition and Subtenant's taking possession of the Premises shall be conclusive
evidence as against Subtenant that the Premises were in good order and
satisfactory condition when Subtenant took possession. No promise of Sublandlord
to alter, remodel or improve the Premises has been made by Sublandlord (or any
other party taking by, through or under Sublandlord) to Subtenant, and no
representation respecting the condition of the Premises have been made by
Sublandlord (or any other party taking by, through or under Sublandlord) to
Subtenant except as may be otherwise expressly set forth in this Sublease.
Subtenant hereby represents and warrants that it has made any and all
inspections of the Premises it deems necessary to satisfy itself with respect to
all aspects of the conditions thereof. Upon the expiration of the term hereof,
or upon any earlier termination of the term hereof or of Subtenant's right to
possession, Subtenant shall surrender the Premises in at least as good condition
as at the commencement of the term of this Sublease, ordinary wear and tear
excepted.
6.

The Prime Lease.

(a)
This Sublease and all rights of Subtenant hereunder and with
respect to the Premises are subject to the terms, conditions and provisions of
the Prime Lease. Subtenant hereby assumes and agrees to perform faithfully and
be bound by, with respect to the Premises, all of Sublandlord's obligations,
covenants, agreements and liabilities under the Prime Lease and all terms,
conditions, provisions and restrictions contained in the Prime Lease except:
(i)
for the payment of "Monthly Base Rent" (as such term is
defined in the Prime Lease);
(ii) that Subtenant shall not have any obligations to
construct or install tenant improvements except as may be provided herein; and
(iii) that the following provisions of the Prime Lease do not
apply to this Sublease: any provisions in the Prime Lease allowing or purporting
to allow Sublandlord any rent concessions or abatements or construction
allowances, any provisions allowing Sublandlord to extend or renew the term of
the Prime Lease (including, without limitation, Paragraph 3(b) of the Prime
Lease), any provisions of the Prime Lease providing for any representations
and/or warranties with respect to Hazardous Materials (including, without
limitation, Paragraph 8(d) of the Prime Lease), any provisions relating to
warranties regarding improvements within the Premises (including, without
limitation, Paragraph 14(d) of the Prime Lease), any rights granted to terminate
the Prime Lease due to an interruption in utilities (including, without
limitation, Paragraph 17 of the Prime Lease), any provisions permitting any
right of self-help, offset or termination in the event of any default by
Landlord under the terms and provisions of the Prime Lease (including, without
limitation, the provisions of the last paragraph of Paragraph 23 of the Prime
Lease), any rights to install signage without obtaining the consent of the
Sublandlord and/or Landlord (including, without limitation, Paragraph 34 of the
Prime Lease), any option to purchase the Building or other real property
(including, without limitation, Paragraphs 41, 43 and 44 of the Prime Lease),
any option to lease additional premises (including, without limitation,
Paragraph 42 of the Prime Lease) and any right to terminate the Prime Lease
(including, without limitation, Paragraph 47 of the Prime Lease), and any
provisions of the Work Letter Agreement attached to the Prime Lease as Exhibit C
thereto. Sublandlord acknowledges and agrees that Subtenant shall specifically
have all rights of Sublandlord under the Prime Lease as such rights pertain to
the Premises (i)
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for the use of the roof of the Building (including, without limitation, such
rights as arise under Paragraph 48 of the Prime Lease as applied to the
Premises), and (ii) to install a generator to serve the Building (including,
without limitation, such rights as arise under Paragraph 49 of the Prime Lease),
such generator to be installed within the area located on the attached Exhibit
"C".
(b)

Without limitation of the foregoing:

(i)
Subtenant shall not make any changes, alterations or
additions in or to the Premises except as otherwise expressly provided herein.
In connection therewith, Sublandlord and Subtenant acknowledge and agree that
Subtenant may desire to make certain alterations, additions and/or improvements
to the Premises following its occupancy thereof. In connection with such work
(hereinafter referred to as the "Subtenant Work"), such work shall be performed
at the sole cost and expense of Subtenant (subject to the rent abatement
provided by Sublandlord in lieu of a construction allowance) and shall strictly
conform to all the terms and provisions of the Prime Lease and this Sublease;
(ii) If Subtenant desires to take any other action and the
Prime Lease would require that Sublandlord obtain the consent of Landlord before
undertaking any action of the same kind, Subtenant shall not undertake the same
without the prior written consent of Sublandlord. Sublandlord may condition its
consent on the consent of Landlord being obtained and may require Subtenant to
contact Landlord directly for such consent;
(iii) All rights given to Landlord and its agents and
representatives by the Prime Lease to enter the Premises shall inure to the
benefit of Sublandlord and their respective agents and representatives with
respect to the Premises, and Subtenant shall also have all the rights, and all
privileges, options, reservations and remedies, granted or allowed to, or held
by, Sublandlord, as Tenant, under the Prime Lease, all of which rights,
privileges, options, reservations and remedies in favor of Subtenant shall be
limited as set forth in this Sublease;
(iv) Sublandlord shall also have all other rights, and all
privileges, options, reservations and remedies, granted or allowed to, or held
by, Landlord under the Prime Lease;
(v)
Subtenant shall maintain insurance of the kinds and in
the amounts required to be maintained by Sublandlord under the Prime Lease. All
policies of liability insurance shall name as additional insureds the Landlord
and Sublandlord and their respective officers, directors or partners, as the
case may be, and the respective agents and employees of each of them; and
(vi) Subtenant shall not do anything or suffer or permit
anything to be done which could result in a default under the Prime Lease or
permit the Prime Lease to be canceled or terminated.
(c)
Notwithstanding anything contained herein or in the Prime
Lease which may appear to be to the contrary, Sublandlord and Subtenant hereby
agree as follows:
(i)
Subtenant shall not, without the prior written consent
of Sublandlord, assign, mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise transfer or
permit the transfer of this Sublease or any interest of Subtenant in this
Sublease, by operation of law or otherwise, or permit the use of the Premises or
any part thereof by any persons other than Subtenant and Subtenant's employees,
or sublet the Premises or any part thereof. Sublandlord shall not unreasonably
withhold, condition or delay its consent to any such transfer if (1) Subtenant
is not then in default under any of the terms and conditions of this Sublease,
(2) the proposed transferee is sufficiently creditworthy, in Sublandlord's sole
determination, (3) the proposed transferee is not a competitor of Sublandlord or
is a governmental agency, and (4) the
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proposed transferee has experience and reputation which is satisfactory to
Sublandlord (the foregoing reasons are not meant to be an exhaustive list of the
bases upon which Sublandlord may withhold its consent to such a transfer). (B)
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall Subtenant be obligated to
obtain the consent of Sublandlord in connection with any sub-sublet of all or
any portion of the Premises to any entity which is in control of, under common
control, or controlled by, Subtenant (any such entity is referred to herein as
an "Affiliate") or an assignment of Subtenant's interest hereunder to any
Affiliate of Subtenant or in connection with the merger, consolidation or
reorganization of Subtenant with any other entity or the sale of all or
substantially all of Subtenant's stock or assets provided the following
conditions are met: (1) to the extent that the Landlord's consent under the
Prime Lease is required in connection with such a transfer, Subtenant obtains
same at its sole cost and expense and provides evidence of same to Sublandlord,
(2) Subtenant provides written notice to Sublandlord and Landlord not less than
ten (10) business days prior to the effectiveness of such transfer, (3) in the
case of a sub-sublet or actual assignment of this Sublease (as opposed to a
transfer by operation of law, such as a merger), such sub-subtenant or assignee
enters into an agreement in form and content reasonably satisfactory to
Sublandlord assuming all of the obligations of the Subtenant hereunder, whether
accruing prior to or after the effectiveness of the transfer, (4) there is no
release of the Subtenant in connection with any such transfer, and (5) the net
worth of the Subtenant entity which is liable for the terms and provisions of
this Sublease immediately following such transfer is not less than the net worth
of the Subtenant entity immediately prior to the transfer, and (6) no default
has occurred under this Sublease beyond applicable notice and cure periods (the
transfers noted in this clause (B) are referred to herein as "Permitted
Transfers"). (C) Further, subject to all of the terms of the Prime Lease
(including, without limitation, any obligation imposed on Sublandlord to pay to
Landlord any consideration in connection with a transfer of this Lease as set
forth in Section 24(h) thereof, other than in connection with any Permitted
Transfers, in the event of any assignment of this Sublease or sub-sublease of
the Premises by Subtenant, Subtenant shall pay to Sublandlord fifty percent
(50%) of any consideration received by Subtenant for such assignment or
sub-sublease, as the case may be, net of the reasonable actual out-of- pocket
costs incurred by Subtenant to effect such transfer, in excess of the rent
payable under this Sublease, such payment to be provided to Sublandlord no later
than thirty (30) days after the determination thereof and the date such excess
rent is received by Subtenant;
(ii) neither rental nor other payments hereunder shall abate
by reason of any damage to or destruction of the Premises or the Building or any
part thereof, unless, and then only to the extent that, rental and such other
payments actually abate under the Prime Lease with respect to the Premises on
account of such event;
(iii) Sublandlord and Subtenant acknowledge and agree that in
the event the Prime Lease permits Sublandlord, as the tenant thereunder, to
terminate the Prime Lease in the event of any casualty to the Premises, then in
no event shall Subtenant have the right to exercise any such termination rights
under this Sublease, except that in the event Sublandlord, as the tenant under
the Prime Lease, elects to so exercise such termination rights, then this
Sublease shall terminate at the same time and in the same manner as the Prime
Lease;
(iv) Subtenant shall not have any right to any portion of the
proceeds of any award for a condemnation or other taking, or a conveyance in
lieu thereof, of all or any portion of the Building, the premises subject to the
Prime Lease or the Premises other than, subject to all of the terms of the Prime
Lease, any compensation as may be separately awarded or recoverable by Subtenant
for the taking of Subtenant's furniture, fixtures, equipment and other personal
property within the Premises and for Subtenant's relocation expenses;
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(v)
Subtenant shall not have any right to exercise or have
Sublandlord exercise any option under the Prime Lease, including, without
limitation, any option to extend the term of the Prime Lease or lease additional
space; and
(vi) In the event of any conflict between the terms,
conditions and provisions of the Prime Lease and of this Sublease, the terms,
conditions and provisions of this Sublease shall, in all instances, govern and
control.
(d)
It is expressly understood and agreed that Sublandlord does
not assume and shall not have any of the obligations or liabilities of Landlord
under the Prime Lease and that Sublandlord is not making the representations,
warranties or indemnifications, if any, made by Landlord in the Prime Lease.
With respect to work, services, repairs and restoration or the performance of
other obligations required of Landlord under the Prime Lease, Sublandlord's sole
obligation with respect thereto shall be to request the same, upon written
request from Subtenant, and to use reasonable efforts, at Subtenant's sole cost
and expense, to obtain the same from Landlord. Sublandlord shall not be liable
in damages, nor shall rent abate hereunder, for or on account of any failure by
Landlord to perform the obligations and duties imposed on it under the Prime
Lease; provided, however, upon reasonable prior written notice from Subtenant
and the delivery to Sublandlord of an indemnification agreement executed by
Subtenant in form reasonably satisfactory to Sublandlord by which Subtenant (i)
agrees to assume and be responsible for any and all costs incurred by
Sublandlord to enforce any of the rights of Sublandlord under the Prime Lease,
and (ii) indemnifies, defends and holds Subtenant and its agents, employees,
officers, directors, shareholders and contractors harmless from and against any
and all loss, cost, damage, expense, claim and/or counterclaim claim whatsoever
(including attorneys' fees and court costs) arising as a result of Sublandlord's
exercise of any of its remedies against Landlord under the Prime Lease,
Sublandlord shall exercise all rights and pursue all remedies available to it
under the Prime Lease by reason of any default by Landlord pertaining to the
Premises and Subtenant shall receive the benefit of any remedies obtained by
Sublandlord from Landlord with respect to the Premises such as abated or reduced
rent or monetary compensation in the same proportion as the Base Rent due under
this Lease bears to the base rent due under the Prime Lease (e.g., if a remedy
under the Prime Lease would permit Sublandlord an abatement of seventy-five
percent (75%) of the base rent due under the Prime Lease, and Subtenant is
entitled to the benefit of such abatement, then notwithstanding the actual
dollar value of such abatement, Subtenant would be entitled to an abatement of
seventy-five percent (75%) of the Base Rent due under this Sublease); provided,
however, (a) in no event shall Subtenant be entitled to any of the rights,
remedies or indemnifications of Landlord under the Prime Lease if the transfer
of same to Subtenant would diminish the ability of Sublandlord to realize the
benefits of same, and (b) notwithstanding the foregoing, Sublandlord and
Subtenant acknowledge and agree that as noted in the Recitals to this Sublease,
the Prime Lease covers additional real property other than the Building, and
accordingly, in no event shall Sublandlord be obligated to pursue any remedy
available to it under the Prime Lease if the pursuit of such remedies would
affect the rights and obligations of Sublandlord with respect to such other real
property. Sublandlord and Subtenant acknowledge and agree that any repair,
maintenance and/or replacement obligations with respect to the Premises which
are the responsibility of the Sublandlord, as tenant under the Prime Lease,
shall be performed by Subtenant at Subtenant's sole cost and expense. In the
event that a condition exists in the Premises that Landlord is obligated to
repair under the terms of the Prime Lease, Subtenant shall so advise
Sublandlord, and Sublandlord, in turn, shall promptly advise Landlord thereof.
Any amounts which are payable by Subtenant hereunder shall be deemed additional
rent due under this Sublease.
(e)
Nothing contained in this Sublease shall be construed to
create privity of estate or contract between Subtenant and Landlord, except the
agreements of Subtenant in Sections 10 and 11 hereof in favor of Landlord, and
then only to the extent of the same.
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7.

Default by Subtenant.
(a)

Upon the happening of any of the following:

(i)
Subtenant fails to pay any Base Rent within five (5)
days after receipt of notice of non-payment from Sublandlord except that in no
event shall Sublandlord be obligated to provide written notice of any such
monetary default more than two (2) times in any twelve (12) consecutive month
period, and following such two (2) instances in any such twelve (12) month
period, Subtenant shall be in default hereunder if it fails to pay any Base Rent
within five (5) days after the date same is due hereunder (Sublandlord and
Subtenant acknowledge and agree that the notice provided for in this clause (i)
shall be in lieu of and not in addition to any notice required under California
Code of Civil Procedure, Section 1161 (regarding unlawful detainer), or any
successor statute);
(ii) Subtenant fails to pay any other amount due from
Subtenant hereunder and such failure continues for fifteen (15) days after
notice thereof from Sublandlord to Subtenant;
(iii) Subtenant fails to perform or observe any other covenant
or agreement set forth in this Sublease and such failure continues for thirty
(30) days after notice thereof from Sublandlord to Subtenant; or
(iv) any other event occurs which involves Subtenant or the
Premises and which would constitute a default under the Prime Lease if it
involved Sublandlord or the Prime Lease Space and such default is not cured
within the lesser of (a) thirty (30) days after notice thereof from Sublandlord
to Subtenant, or (b) such period of time as permitted under the Prime Lease to
cure such default.
Subtenant shall be deemed to be in default hereunder, and Sublandlord may
exercise, without limitation of any other rights and remedies available to it
hereunder or at law or in equity, any and all rights and remedies of Landlord
set forth in the Prime Lease in the event of a default by Sublandlord
thereunder.
(b)
In the event Subtenant fails or refuses to make any payment or
perform any covenant or agreement to be performed hereunder by Subtenant,
Sublandlord may make such payment or undertake to perform such covenant or
agreement (but shall not have any obligation to Subtenant to do so). In such
event, amounts so paid and amounts expended in undertaking such performance,
together with all costs, expenses and attorneys' fees incurred by Sublandlord in
connection therewith, shall be additional rent hereunder.
8.
Nonwaiver. Failure of Sublandlord to declare any default or delay in
taking any action in connection therewith shall not waive such default. No
receipt of moneys by Sublandlord from Subtenant after the termination in any way
of the term or of Subtenant's right of possession hereunder or after the giving
of any notice shall reinstate, continue or extend the term or affect any notice
given to Subtenant or any suit commenced or judgment entered prior to receipt of
such moneys.
9.
Cumulative Rights and Remedies. All rights and remedies of
Sublandlord under this Sublease shall be cumulative and none shall exclude any
other rights or remedies allowed by law.
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10.

Waiver of Claims and Indemnity.

(a)
Subtenant hereby releases and waives any and all claims
against Landlord and Sublandlord and each of their respective officers,
directors, partners, agents and employees for injury or damage to person,
property or business sustained in or about the Building or the Premises by
Subtenant other than by reason of gross negligence or willful misconduct and
except in any case which would render this release and waiver void under law.
(b)
Subtenant agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless
Landlord and its beneficiaries, Sublandlord and the managing agent of the
Building and each of their respective officers, directors, partners, agents and
employees, from and against any and all claims, demands, costs and expenses of
every kind and nature, including attorneys' fees and litigation expenses,
arising from Subtenant's occupancy of the Premises, Subtenant's construction of
any leasehold improvements in the Premises, or from any breach or default on the
part of Subtenant in the performance of any agreement or covenant of Subtenant
to be performed or performed under this Sublease or pursuant to the terms of
this Sublease, or from any act or neglect of Subtenant or its agents, officers,
employees, guests, servants, invitees or customers in or about the Premises,
except to the extent the liability, costs, damages and/or expenses arise from
the intentional or grossly negligent acts of Sublandlord or its agents,
contractors or employees. In case any such proceeding is brought against any of
said indemnified parties, Subtenant covenants, if requested by Sublandlord, to
defend such proceeding at its sole cost and expense by legal counsel reasonably
satisfactory to Sublandlord.
(c)
Sublandlord agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless
Subtenant and its officers, directors, partners, agents and employees, from and
against any and all claims, demands, costs and expenses of every kind and
nature, including attorneys' fees and litigation expenses, arising from the
Sublandlord's grossly negligent or willful failure to comply, as required under
this Sublease and which are not the responsibility of Subtenant hereunder,
including, without limitation with respect to applicable governmental
regulations relating to the Building and any release of hazardous substances
into the Building in violation of applicable law by Sublandlord, except to the
extent the liability, costs, damages and/or expenses arise from the intentional
or negligent acts of Subtenant or its agents, contractors or employees.
11.
Waiver of Subrogation. Anything in this Sublease to the contrary
notwithstanding, Sublandlord and Subtenant each hereby waive any and all rights
of recovery, claims, actions or causes of action against the other and the
officers, directors, partners, agents and employees of each of them, and
Subtenant hereby waives any and all rights of recovery, claims, actions or
causes of action against Landlord and its agents and employees for any loss or
damage that may occur to the Premises, or any improvements thereto, or any
personal property of any person therein or in the Building, by reason of fire,
the elements or any other cause insured against under valid and collectible fire
and extended coverage insurance policies, regardless of cause or origin,
including negligence, except in any case which would render this waiver void
under law, to the extent that such loss or damage is actually recovered under
said insurance policies.
12.
Brokerage Commissions. Each party hereby represents and warrants to
the other that other than Julien J. Studley, Inc. and Daum Commercial Real
Estate Services whose commissions shall be payable by Sublandlord) it has had no
dealings with any real estate broker or agent in connection with this Sublease,
and that it knows of no real estate broker or agent who is or might be entitled
to a commission in connection with this Sublease. Each party agrees to protect,
defend, indemnify and hold the other harmless from and against any and all
claims inconsistent with the foregoing representations and warranties for any
brokerage, finder's or similar fee or commission in connection with this
Sublease, if
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such claims are based on or relate to any act of the indemnifying party which is
contrary to the foregoing representations and warranties.
13.
Successors and Assigns. This Sublease shall be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of Sublandlord and shall be
binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors of Subtenant and, to the
extent any such assignment may be approved, Subtenant's assigns. The provisions
of Subsection 6(e) and Sections 10 and 11 hereof shall inure to the benefit of
the successors and assigns of Landlord.
14.
Entire Agreement. This Sublease contains all the terms, covenants,
conditions and agreements between Sublandlord and Subtenant relating in any
manner to the rental, use and occupancy of the Premises. No prior agreement or
understanding pertaining to the same shall be valid or of any force or effect.
The terms, covenants and conditions of this Sublease cannot be altered, changed,
modified or added to except by a written instrument signed by Sublandlord and
Subtenant.
15.

Notices.

(a)
In the event any notice from the Landlord or otherwise
relating to the Prime Lease is delivered to the Premises or is otherwise
received by Subtenant, Subtenant shall, as soon thereafter as possible, but in
any event within twenty-four (24) hours, delivei such notice to Sublandlord if
such notice is written or advise Sublandlord thereof by telephone if such notice
is oral.
(b)
Notices and demands required or permitted to be given by
either party to the other with respect hereto or to the Premises shall be in
writing and shall not be effective for any purpose unless the same shall be
served either by personal delivery with a receipt requested, by overnight air
courier service or by United States certified or registered mail, return receipt
requested, postage prepaid; provided, however, that all notices of default shall
be served either by personal delivery with a receipt requested or by overnight
air courier service, addressed as follows:
if to Sublandlord:

GATEWAY, INC.
Real Estate Administration
610 Gateway Drive Y91
North Sioux City, South Dakota 97049
and
GATEWAY, INC.
14303 Gateway Place
Poway, California 92064
Attn: General Counsel

if to Subtenant:

WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
Legal Department
20511 Lake Forest Drive
Lake Forest, CA 92630
Attn: Ray Bukaty

With a copy to:

WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
20511 Lake Forest Drive
Lake Forest, CA 92630
Attn: Cindy Campos
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Notices and demands shall be deemed to have been given two (2) days after
mailing, if mailed, or, if made by personal delivery or by overnight air courier
service, then upon such delivery. Either party may change its address for
receipt of notices by giving notice to the other party.
16.
Authority of Subtenant etc. Subtenant represents and warrants to
Sublandlord that this Sublease has been duly authorized, executed and delivered
by and on behalf of Subtenant and constitutes the valid, enforceable and binding
agreement of Subtenant and of each party constituting Subtenant, each of whom
shall be jointly and severally liable hereunder in accordance with the terms
hereof.
17.
Limitation on Liability. Sublandlord shall not be liable for
personal injury or property damage to Subtenant, its officers, agents,
employees, invitees, guests, licensees or any other person in the Premises,
regardless of how such injury or damage may be caused; provided, however, as to
any claims for personal injury, the foregoing shall not limit the liability of
Sublandlord with respect to any personal injury caused by the intentional or
grossly negligent acts of Sublandlord or its agents, contractors or employees.
Any property of Subtenant kept or stored in the Premises shall be kept or stored
at the sole risk of Subtenant. Subtenant shall hold Sublandlord harmless from
any claims arising out of any personal injury or property damage occurring in
the Premises, including subrogation claims by Subtenant's insurance carrier(s).
18.
Consents and Approvals. In any instance when Sublandlord's consent
or approval is required under this Sublease, Sublandlord's refusal to consent to
or approve any matter or thing shall be deemed reasonable if, among other
matters, such consent or approval is required under the provisions of the Prime
Lease incorporated herein by reference but has not been obtained from Landlord.
Except as otherwise provided herein, Sublandlord shall not unreasonably withhold
or delay its consent to or approval of a matter if such consent or approval is
required under the provisions of the Prime Lease and Landlord has consented to
or approved of such matter. If Subtenant shall seek the approval by or consent
of Sublandlord and Sublandlord shall fail or refuse to give such consent or
approval, Subtenant shall not be entitled to any damages for any withholding or
delay of such approval or consent by Sublandlord, it being agreed that
Subtenant's sole remedy in connection with an alleged wrongful refusal or
failure to approve or consent shall be an action for injunction or specific
performance shall be available only in those cases where Sublandlord shall have
expressly agreed in this Sublease not to unreasonably withhold or delay its
consent.
19.
Consent of Landlord. The obligations of Sublandlord and Subtenant
under this Sublease are conditioned and contingent upon the Landlord consenting
hereto. In the event Landlord's consent is not obtained within thirty (30) days
after the date hereof, this Sublease shall automatically terminate and become
null and void, Sublandlord shall return any security deposit and/or any other
rent or other consideration paid by Subtenant which has not otherwise been
appropriately applied to the payment of Base Rent or other amounts due
hereunder, and neither Sublandlord nor Subtenant shall have any further
obligations or liability hereunder or to each other with respect to the
Premises.
20.
Examination. Submission of this instrument for examination or
signature by Subtenant does not constitute a reservation of or option for the
Premises or in any manner bind Sublandlord, and no lease, sublease or obligation
on Sublandlord shall arise until this instrument is signed and delivered by
Sublandlord and Subtenant and the consent of Landlord is obtained as described
in Section 19 above.
21.
Security Deposit. Subtenant concurrently with the execution of this
Sublease, shall deposit with Sublandlord the sum of $63,488.31 as security for
the faithful performance by Subtenant of all terms, covenants and conditions of
this Sublease. Such security deposit shall be held by Sublandlord as security
for the faithful performance by Subtenant of all terms, covenants and conditions
of this Sublease. Subtenant agrees that Sublandlord may apply the security
deposit to remedy any failure by Subtenant to
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repair or maintain the Premises or to perform any other terms, covenants and
conditions contained herein or make any payment owing hereunder, all following
the expiration of applicable notice and cure periods. If Subtenant has kept and
performed all terms, covenants and conditions of this Sublease during the term,
Sublandlord will, within thirty (30) days after the expiration hereof, promptly
return the security deposit to Subtenant or the last permitted assignee of
Subtenant's interest hereunder. Should Sublandlord use any portion of the
security deposit to cure any default by Subtenant hereunder, Subtenant shall
forthwith replenish the security deposit to the original amount. Sublandlord
shall not be required to keep the security deposit separate from its general
funds, and Subtenant shall not be entitled to interest on any such deposit.
22.
Furniture. Subtenant shall be entitled to use the furniture,
fixtures and equipment located within the Premises as described on Exhibit "D"
attached hereto (the "FFE") at no cost during the term of this Sublease;
provided, however, in no event shall Sublandlord be obligated to remove any such
FFE in the event that Subtenant elects not to use same during the term of this
Sublease. During the term of this Sublease Subtenant shall be responsible to
maintain such FFE in good condition and repair, reasonable wear and tear
excepted, at Subtenant's sole cost and expense. Subtenant further acknowledges
and agrees that Sublandlord is providing such FFE to Subtenant in its "as-is"
condition and is not making any representation or warranty with respect to its
condition to Subtenant hereunder.
23.
Parking. During the term of this Sublease, so long as Subtenant is
not in default under this Sublease, Subtenant and its employees shall be
entitled to use Subtenant's Percentage Share (for the Common Area Percentage) of
the parking rights granted to Sublandlord as tenant, under the Prime Lease.
Subtenant acknowledges and agrees that its right to use such parking area shall
be upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Prime Lease, including,
without limitation, any and all rules and regulations promulgated by Landlord
with respect thereto. Sublandlord hereby agrees that other than any pass through
of costs under the Prime Lease or any other rights of the Landlord thereunder,
in no event shall Sublandlord independently impose any parking fee for the use
of such parking spaces.
24.
Signage. Subject to all the terms and conditions of this Sublease
and the Prime Lease, Subtenant shall have the right to install interior signage
within the Premises as permitted Sublandlord, as tenant, under the Prime Lease,
and Subtenant shall further be permitted to utilize all of the exterior building
signage permitted Sublandlord with respect to the Building, as tenant under the
Prime Lease subject to obtaining any and all governmental and other approvals
and obtaining Landlord's and Sublandlord's consent thereto. Subtenant's right to
so install such signage shall be at Subtenant's sole cost and expense and shall
require the prior written consent of Sublandlord and Landlord as to the design,
size, location and manner of installation of same, and Sublandlord hereby
covenants and agrees that it shall not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay
such consent. Upon the expiration of the term of this Sublease or the earlier
termination hereof, Subtenant shall be responsible to remove any such signage
and repair any damage caused by same. Such agreement by Subtenant shall survive
the expiration of the term of this Sublease or the earlier expiration hereof.
25.
Security. Subject to (i) all of the terms and conditions of this
Sublease, including, without limitation, the terms of Section 6(b)(i) hereof,
and (ii) obtaining the prior written consent of Sublandlord (such consent not to
be unreasonably withheld, conditioned and/or delayed) and Landlord, to the
extent required under the Prime Lease, Subtenant shall have the right to connect
(splice into) all existing security systems and equipment serving the Premises
to operate its own security system for the Premises.
26.
Quiet Enjoyment. So long as Subtenant shall observe and perform all
the covenants and agreements of Subtenant set forth in this Sublease, subject to
the terms and conditions of this Sublease, Sublandlord or any other party
claiming by, through or under Sublandlord shall do any act or perform any
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thing which would materially adversely affect Subtenant's peaceful and quiet
enjoyment and possession of the Premises.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Sublandlord and Subtenant have executed this Sublease
as of the date aforesaid.
"SUBLANDLORD"

ADVANCED LOGIC RESEARCH, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By: /s/ Stephen Smurthwaite
-------------------------------Its: Vice President

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

)
)ss.
)

On 9-23-03, before me, Rebecca L. Moot, a Notary Public in and for said
state, personally appeared Stephen Smurthwaite, personally known to me (or
proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence) to be the person whose name
is subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she
executed the same in his/her authorized capacity, and that by his/her signature
on the instrument, the person, or the entity upon behalf of which the person
acted, executed the instrument.
WITNESS my hand and official seal.
/s/ Rebecca L. Moot
-----------------------------------Notary Public in and for said State
(NOTARY PUBLIC SEAL)
(SEAL)
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"SUBTENANT"

WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION,
a Delaware corporation
By: /s/ CINDY CAMPOS, MCR
-------------------------------Its: REAL ESTATE SPECIALIST

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF ORANGE

)
)ss.
)

On SEPTEMBER 22, 2003, before me, LEONA M. CAMPOS, a Notary Public in and
for said state, personally appeared CINDY M. CAMPOS, personally known to me to
be the person whose name is subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged
to me that she executed the same in her authorized capacity, and that by her
signature on the instrument, the person, or the entity upon behalf of which the
person acted, executed the instrument.
WITNESS my hand and official seal.

/s/ LEONA M. WARK
-----------------------------------Notary Public in and for said State
(SEAL)
(NOTARY PUBLIC SEAL)
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Exhibit 10.28
MELA IV
(01/99)
MASTER EQUIPMENT LEASE AGREEMENT
DATED JUNE 24, 2004

LESSEE:

WESTERN DIGITAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

LESSOR:

CIT TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION,
d/b/a CIT SYSTEMS LEASING

STREET ADDRESS:

20511 Lake Forest Drive

ADDRESS:

2285 Franklin Road
Bloomfield Hills, MI

CITY/STATE/ZIP:

Lake Forest, CA

92630

LEASE
NUMBER:

1.
AGREEMENT. Lessor agrees to lease to Lessee and Lessee agrees to
lease from Lessor the equipment (Equipment) described in any schedule (Schedule)
that incorporates this Master Equipment Lease Agreement (Agreement) by
reference. A Schedule shall incorporate this Agreement by reference by listing
the above-referenced Lease Number thereon. Such lease shall be governed by the
terms and conditions of this Agreement, as well as by the terms and conditions
set forth in the applicable Schedule. Each Schedule shall constitute an
agreement separate and distinct from this Agreement and any other Schedule. In
the event of a conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and a Schedule,
the provisions of the Schedule shall govern.
2.
ASSIGNMENT OF PURCHASE DOCUMENTS. Lessee shall execute and deliver
to Lessor a writing acceptable to Lessor whereby Lessor is assigned all of
Lessee's rights and interest in and to: (a) the Equipment described in the
applicable Schedule and (b) any purchase order, contract or other documents
(collectively, Purchase Documents) relating thereto that Lessee has entered into
with the Seller (as specified in the applicable Schedule). If Seller is not an
affiliate of Lessor, Lessee shall deliver to Lessor a writing acceptable to
Lessor whereby Seller acknowledges, and provides any required consent to, such
assignment. If Lessee has not entered into any Purchase Document for the
Equipment with Seller, Lessee authorizes Lessor to act as Lessee's agent to
issue a purchase order to Seller for the Equipment and for associated matters,
and such purchase order shall be subject to this Section 2 and all references in
this Agreement to Purchase Documents shall include such purchase order. By
executing the applicable Schedule, Lessee represents and warrants that Lessee
either (y) has reviewed, approved and received a copy of the applicable Purchase
Documents or (z) has been informed by Lessor (i) of the identity of the Seller,
(ii) that Lessee may have rights under the Purchase Documents and (iii) that
Lessee may contact Seller for a description of such rights. The foregoing
information shall not be applicable if the Equipment specified in the Schedule
is not new equipment being purchased by Lessor for lease to Lessee.
3.
DELIVERY; ACCEPTANCE. Lessee shall cause the Equipment to be
delivered, at Lessee's expense, to Lessee at the Equipment Location (as
specified in the applicable Schedule) and Lessee shall accept the Equipment upon
the later of (a) the installation, at Lessee's expense, of the Equipment or (b)
the satisfaction of the acceptance criteria, if any, specified in the applicable
Purchase Documents. In any event, Lessee shall evidence its acceptance of the
Equipment and commencement of the lease with respect thereto by executing and
delivering to Lessor a commencement certificate (Commencement Certificate) in a
form acceptable to Lessor within five (5) business days after delivery. By
executing and delivering a Commencement Certificate to Lessor, (x) Lessee
represents and warrants that it has selected the Equipment and Seller specified
on the applicable Schedule and (y) Lessee has irrevocably accepted such
Equipment under lease. Lessee shall reimburse Lessor for any late payment,
interest on late payment or any other similar fee or charge imposed by Seller as
the result of Lessee's failure to timely furnish to Lessor all pertinent lease
documentation.
4.
PURCHASE OF EQUIPMENT. Provided that no Event of Default (as defined
in Section 18) exists, and no event has occurred and is continuing that with
notice or the lapse of time or both would constitute an Event of Default, Lessor
shall be obligated to purchase the Equipment from Seller and to lease the
Equipment to Lessee if (and only if) Lessor receives on or before the Latest
Commencement Date (as specified in the applicable Schedule) the related
Commencement Certificate and Schedule (both executed by Lessee), and such other
documents or assurances as Lessor may reasonably request. The foregoing
information shall not be applicable if the Equipment specified in the Schedule
is not new equipment being purchased by Lessor for lease to Lessee.
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5.
TERM. The initial term of each Schedule (Initial Term) shall begin
on the date specified as the Commencement Date on the Commencement Certificate
with respect to such Schedule and shall continue for the period specified in
such Schedule. Any renewal term of a Schedule (Renewal Term) shall begin on the
expiration of, as applicable, the Initial Term or any preceding Renewal Term
(collectively, Term).
6.
RENT; LATE CHARGES. Lessee shall pay Lessor the first Rental Payment
(as specified in the applicable Schedule) for the Equipment on or before the
Commencement Date of the applicable Schedule, and shall pay Lessor the remaining
periodic Rental Payments on or before the periodic payment dates specified in
the applicable Schedule or, if periodic payment dates are not specified, on or
before the corresponding day of each subsequent period during the Initial Term
of the applicable Schedule, regardless of whether Lessee has received notice
that such Rental Payments are due. Additionally, if pursuant to this Agreement
or the applicable Schedule the Term is extended or a renewal option exercised,
Lessee shall also pay all Rental Payments required with respect thereto. All
Rental Payments will be sent to Lessor's above-referenced address, or to such
other address as specified by Lessor in writing. Lessee agrees to pay Lessor
interest at the rate of 1-1/2% per month (or such lesser rate as is the maximum
rate allowable under applicable law) on any Rental Payment (or other amount due
hereunder) that is not paid within 10 days of its due date.
7.
INSURANCE. At its own expense, Lessee shall provide and maintain the
following insurance: (a) insurance against the loss or theft of or damage to the
Equipment for the greater of the Stipulated Loss Value (computed as described in
the applicable Schedule) or full

replacement value thereof, naming Lessor as a loss payee; and (b) public
liability and third party property damage insurance, naming Lessor as an
additional insured. Such insurance shall be in a form, amount and with companies
reasonably satisfactory to Lessor, shall contain the insurer's agreement to give
Lessor 30 days' prior written notice before cancellation or material change
thereof, and shall be payable to Lessor pursuant to Section 7(a) above,
regardless of any act, omission or breach by Lessee. Lessee shall deliver to
Lessor the certificates of such insurance on or before the Commencement Date of
the applicable Schedule, and at such other times as Lessor may reasonably
request. If no Event of Default exists, and no event has occurred and is
continuing that with notice or the lapse of time or both would constitute an
Event of Default, the proceeds of any insurance required under clause (a) hereof
that have been paid to Lessor shall be applied against Lessee's obligations to
Lessor under Section 12 hereof.
8.
TAXES. Lessee shall reimburse Lessor for (or pay directly, but only
if instructed by Lessor) all taxes, fees, and assessments that may be imposed by
any taxing authority on the Equipment, on its purchase, ownership, delivery,
possession, operation, rental, return to Lessor or its purchase by Lessee
(collectively, Taxes); provided, however, that Lessee shall not be liable for
any such Taxes (whether imposed by the United States of America or by any other
domestic or foreign taxing authority) imposed on or measured by Lessor's net
income or tax preference items. Lessee's obligation includes, but is not limited
to, the obligation to pay all license and registration fees and all sales, use,
personal property and other taxes and governmental charges, together with any
penalties, fines and interest thereon, that may be imposed during the Term of
the applicable Schedule. Lessee is liable for these Taxes whether they are
imposed upon Lessor, Lessee, the Equipment, this Agreement or the applicable
Schedule. If Lessee is required by law or administrative practice to make any
report or return with respect to such Taxes, Lessee shall promptly advise Lessor
thereof in writing and shall cooperate with Lessor to ensure that such reports
are properly filed and accurately reflect Lessor's interest in the Equipment.
Lessor has no obligation to contest any such Taxes, however Lessee may do so
provided that: (a) Lessee does so in its own name and at its own expense; (b)
the contest does not and will not result in any lien attaching to any Equipment
or otherwise jeopardize Lessor's right to any Equipment; and (c) Lessee
indemnifies Lessor for all expenses (including legal fees and costs),
liabilities and losses that Lessor incurs as a result of any such contest.
9.
REPAIRS; USE; LOCATION; LABELS. Lessee shall: (a) at its own
expense, keep the Equipment in good repair, condition and working order and
maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's recommended engineering and
maintenance standards; (b) use the Equipment lawfully and exclusively in
connection with its business operations and for the purpose for which the
Equipment was designed and intended; and (c) without Lessor's prior written
consent, not move the Equipment from the Equipment Location. If Lessor supplies
Lessee with labels stating that the Equipment is owned by Lessor, Lessee shall
affix such labels to the Equipment pursuant to Lessor's instructions.
10.
MAINTENANCE; INSPECTION; ALTERATIONS. At its own expense, Lessee
shall: (a) [in Lessee's reasonable discretion,] enter into and maintain a
maintenance agreement for the Equipment with the manufacturer or other party
acceptable to Lessor; (b) maintain the Equipment in the same condition as when
delivered, subject only to ordinary wear and tear, and in good operating order
and appearance; (c) make all alterations or additions to the Equipment that may
be required or supplied by the Seller, the manufacturer or which is otherwise
legally necessary; and (d) make no other alterations or additions to the
Equipment (except for alterations or additions that will not impair the value or
performance of the Equipment and that are readily removable without damage to
the Equipment). Any modifications, alterations or additions that Lessee makes to
the Equipment (except as permitted by Section 10(d) above) shall become Lessor's
property and shall also be deemed to be Equipment. Upon request, Lessor, or any
party designated by Lessor, shall have the right to inspect the Equipment and
Lessee's applicable maintenance agreement and records at any reasonable time.
11.
PERSONAL PROPERTY; LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES; TITLE. The Equipment
shall at all times remain personal property, notwithstanding that the Equipment,
or any part thereof, may be (or becomes) affixed or attached to real property or
any improvements thereon. Except for the interest of Lessor, Lessee shall keep
the Equipment free and clear of all levies, liens and encumbrances of any nature
whatsoever. Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, the Equipment shall
at all times remain the property of Lessor and Lessee shall have no right, title
or interest therein.
12.
RISK OF LOSS. As between Lessor and Lessee, Lessee shall bear the
entire risk of loss, theft, destruction or damage to the Equipment from any
cause whatsoever or requisition of the Equipment by any governmental entity or
the taking of title to the Equipment by eminent domain or otherwise
(collectively, Loss). Lessee shall advise Lessor in writing within 10 days of

any such Loss. Except as provided below, no such Loss shall relieve Lessee of
the obligation to pay Lessor Rental Payments and all other amounts owed
hereunder. In the event of any such Loss, Lessor, at its option, may: (a) if the
Loss has not materially impaired the Equipment (in Lessor's reasonable
judgment), require Lessee, upon Lessor's demand, to place the Equipment in good
condition and repair reasonably satisfactory to Lessor; or (b) if the Loss has
materially impaired the Equipment (in Lessor's reasonable judgment), require
Lessee, upon Lessor's demand, to pay Lessor its anticipated return (Lessor's
Return), which shall consist of the following amounts: (i) the Rental Payments
(and other amounts) then due and owing under the applicable Schedule; plus (ii)
the Stipulated Loss Value (computed as described in the applicable Schedule) of
the Equipment; plus (iii) all other amounts that become due and owing under the
applicable Schedule, but only to the extent such amounts are not included in the
moneys paid to Lessor pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) above. Upon Lessor's full
receipt of such Lessor's Return: (y) the applicable Schedule shall terminate,
and except as provided in Section 24, Lessee shall be relieved of all
obligations under the applicable Schedule; and (z) Lessor shall transfer all of
its interest in the Equipment to Lessee "AS IS, WHERE IS," and without any
warranty, express or implied from Lessor, other than the absence of any liens or
claims by, through, or under Lessor. Notwithstanding clause (b) hereof, Lessee
may, at its option, continue Rental Payments under the applicable Schedule,
without interruption, and replace the damaged Equipment with Equipment of
identical model, manufacturer, and condition (Replacement Equipment) (in which
case Lessee shall cause the Replacement Equipment to be delivered to a location
acceptable to Lessor and shall convey title (lien free) to the Lessor whereupon
the Replacement Equipment shall be subject to all of the terms and conditions of
this Agreement and the applicable Schedule).
13.
NON-CANCELABLE NET LEASE. ALL LEASES HEREUNDER SHALL BE
NON-CANCELABLE NET LEASES, AND LESSEE AGREES THAT IT HAS AN UNCONDITIONAL
OBLIGATION TO PAY ALL RENTAL PAYMENTS AND OTHER AMOUNTS WHEN DUE. LESSEE IS NOT
ENTITLED TO ABATE OR REDUCE RENTAL PAYMENTS OR ANY OTHER AMOUNTS DUE, OR TO SET
OFF ANY
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CHARGES AGAINST THOSE AMOUNTS. LESSEE IS NOT ENTITLED TO RECOUPMENTS,
CROSS-CLAIMS, COUNTERCLAIMS OR ANY OTHER DEFENSES TO ANY RENTAL PAYMENTS OR
OTHER AMOUNTS DUE HEREUNDER, WHETHER THOSE DEFENSES ARISE OUT OF CLAIMS BY
LESSEE AGAINST LESSOR, SELLER, THIS AGREEMENT, ANY SCHEDULE OR OTHERWISE.
NEITHER DEFECTS IN EQUIPMENT, DAMAGE TO IT, NOR ITS LOSS, DESTRUCTION OR LATE
DELIVERY SHALL TERMINATE THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY SCHEDULE, OR AFFECT LESSEE'S
OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER. UNLESS LESSEE'S OBLIGATION TO PAY RENTAL PAYMENTS AND
OTHER AMOUNTS HAS BEEN TERMINATED PURSUANT TO THE EXPRESS TERMS OF THIS
AGREEMENT, ALL RENTAL PAYMENTS AND OTHER AMOUNTS SHALL CONTINUE TO BE DUE AND
PAYABLE HEREUNDER.
14.
LESSOR DISCLAIMERS; LIMITATION OF REMEDIES. IT IS SPECIFICALLY
UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED THAT: (A) LESSOR SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO HAVE MADE ANY
REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY OR PROMISE MADE BY SELLER, NEITHER SELLER NOR LESSOR
SHALL ACT AS, OR BE DEEMED TO BE, AN AGENT OF THE OTHER, AND LESSOR SHALL NOT BE
BOUND BY, OR LIABLE FOR, ANY REPRESENTATION OR PROMISE MADE BY SELLER (EVEN IF
LESSOR IS AFFILIATED WITH SELLER); (B) LESSOR SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY
FAILURE OF ANY EQUIPMENT OR ANY DELAY IN ITS DELIVERY OR INSTALLATION; (C)
LESSOR SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY BREACH OF ANY WARRANTY THAT SELLER MAY HAVE
MADE; (D) LESSEE HAS SELECTED ALL EQUIPMENT WITHOUT LESSOR'S ASSISTANCE; (E)
LESSOR IS NOT A MANUFACTURER OF ANY EQUIPMENT; AND (F) LESSOR HAS NOT MADE AND
DOES NOT NOW MAKE ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH
RESPECT TO THE DESIGN, COMPLIANCE WITH SPECIFICATIONS, OPERATION, OR CONDITION
OF ANY EQUIPMENT (OR ANY PART THEREOF), THE MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS OF
EQUIPMENT FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR ISSUES REGARDING PATENT INFRINGEMENT,
TITLE AND THE LIKE. IT IS FURTHER AGREED THAT LESSOR SHALL HAVE NO LIABILITY TO
LESSEE, LESSEE'S CUSTOMERS, OR ANY THIRD PARTIES FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT,
SPECIAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY SCHEDULE
OR CONCERNING ANY EQUIPMENT, OR FOR ANY DAMAGES BASED ON STRICT OR ABSOLUTE TORT
LIABILITY; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT SHALL DEPRIVE
LESSEE OF ANY RIGHTS IT MAY HAVE AGAINST ANY PERSON OTHER THAN LESSOR. LESSEE
SHALL LOOK SOLELY TO SELLER FOR ANY AND ALL CLAIMS AND WARRANTIES RELATING TO
THE EQUIPMENT. Lessor hereby assigns to Lessee for the term of the applicable
Schedule the right to enforce; provided no Event of Default then exists under
this Agreement and such enforcement is pursued in Lessee's name, any
representations, warranties and agreements made by Seller pursuant to the
purchase documents, and Lessee may retain any recovery resulting from any such
enforcement efforts. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, LESSEE WAIVES
ANY AND ALL RIGHTS AND REMEDIES CONFERRED UPON A LESSEE BY ARTICLE 2A OF THE UCC
AND ANY RIGHTS NOW OR HEREINAFTER CONFERRED BY STATUTE OR OTHERWISE THAT MAY
LIMIT OR MODIFY LESSOR'S RIGHTS AS DESCRIBED IN THIS SECTION OR OTHER SECTIONS
OF THIS AGREEMENT.
15.
LESSEE WARRANTIES. Lessee represents, warrants and covenants to
Lessor that: (a) unless it is an individual, Lessee is duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing under applicable law; (b) Lessee has the power and
authority to enter into this Agreement, all Schedules and all other related
instruments or documents hereunder (collectively, Fundamental Agreements); (c)
such Fundamental Agreements are enforceable against Lessee in accordance with
their terms and do not violate or create a default under any instrument or
agreement binding on Lessee; (d) there are no pending or threatened actions or
proceedings before any court or administrative agency that would have a material
adverse effect on Lessee or any Fundamental Agreement, unless such actions are
disclosed to Lessor and consented to in writing by Lessor; (e) Lessee shall
comply in all material respects with all Federal, state and municipal laws and
regulations the violation of which could have a material adverse effect upon the
Equipment or Lessee's performance of its obligations under any Fundamental
Agreement; (f) Lessee shall obtain all governmental approvals necessary for it
to enter into and perform each Fundamental Agreement; (g) each Fundamental
Agreement shall be effective against all creditors of Lessee under applicable
law, including fraudulent conveyance and bulk transfer laws, and shall raise no
presumption of fraud; (h) financial statements and other related information
furnished by Lessee shall be prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and shall present Lessee's financial position as of the
dates given on such statements; (i) Lessee shall furnish Lessor with its
certified financial statements, opinions of counsel, resolutions, and such other
information and documents as Lessor may reasonably request; (J) ALL EQUIPMENT IS
LEASED FOR BUSINESS PURPOSES ONLY, AND NOT FOR PERSONAL, FAMILY OR HOUSEHOLD
PURPOSES; and (k) all Equipment is tangible personal property and shall not
become a fixture or real property under Lessee's use thereof. Lessee shall be
deemed to have reaffirmed the foregoing warranties each time it executes any
Fundamental Agreement.
16.
GENERAL INDEMNITY. Lessee shall indemnify, hold harmless, and, if so
requested by Lessor, defend Lessor against all claims (Claims) directly or
indirectly arising out of or connected with the Equipment or any Fundamental
Agreement. Claims refers to all losses, liabilities, damages, penalties,
expenses (including legal fees and costs), claims, actions, and suits, whether
based on a theory of strict liability of Lessor or otherwise, and includes, but

is not limited to, matters regarding: (a) the selection, manufacture, purchase,
acceptance, rejection, ownership, delivery, lease, possession, maintenance, use,
condition, return or operation of the Equipment; (b) any latent defects or other
defects in any Equipment, whether or not discoverable by Lessor or by Lessee;
(c) any patent, trademark, or copyright infringement; and (d) the condition of
any Equipment arising or existing during Lessee's use.
17.
SURRENDER; EXTENSION OF TERM. Unless Lessee purchases the Equipment
or renews the Term pursuant to the applicable Schedule, or acquires the
Equipment pursuant to Section 12 hereof, Lessee shall, at its expense,
deinstall, inspect and properly pack the Equipment, and return the Equipment at
the expiration of the Term, free of all liens and rights of others, by
delivering it on board such common carrier as Lessor may specify with freight
prepaid to any destination within the United States of America specified by
Lessor. The Equipment shall be accompanied by an original copy of the relocation
inventory or other applicable form completed by the agent performing the
deinstallation. If Lessor so requests, Lessor and its agents shall have the
right to enter upon any premises where Equipment may be located to perform any
of Lessee's tasks noted above in this Section 17, and Lessee shall reimburse
Lessor for all costs and expenses Lessor incurs in fulfilling such tasks. Lessee
agrees that the Equipment, when returned to Lessor, shall be in the same
condition as when delivered to Lessee, reasonable wear and tear excepted, and
certified as being eligible for the manufacturer's generally available
maintenance contract at then prevailing rates, without Lessor incurring any
expense to repair, rehabilitate or certify such Equipment (Lessee shall be
liable for all costs and expenses Lessor incurs to
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place the Equipment in such condition). If requested by Lessor, Lessee, at its
expense, shall store the Equipment on its premises for a reasonable period, not
to exceed ten (10) business days during which period the Equipment shall be
subject to all of the terms and conditions hereof, except for the obligation to
make Rental Payments. In all instances where Lessee is returning Equipment to
Lessor, Lessee shall provide Lessor with one hundred twenty days (120) written
notice thereof, and shall return the Equipment to Lessor within one week of
deinstallation. If Lessee fails to provide the aforementioned notice or return
the Equipment to Lessor in the time and manner provided above, the Term shall be
extended for successive one hundred twenty (120) day periods until Lessee
returns the Equipment in accordance with Section 17, or Lessor terminates this
Agreement or any Schedule by ten (10) days written notice to Lessee. If any
Schedule is extended pursuant to the preceding sentence, Lessee shall continue
to pay the higher of either the periodic Rental Payments in effect prior to the
expiration of the then existing term of the applicable Schedule (whether it be
the Initial Term or any Renewal Term (Applicable Term)) or the Fair Rental Value
(as defined below), whichever is greater, or such other periodic rental payment
amount as is specified for such extension period in the Schedule, and all other
provisions of this Agreement shall continue to apply. Fair Rental Value for the
Equipment shall be determined by agreement of Lessor and Lessee, or, at Lessee's
sole expense, by an independent appraiser selected by Lessor. Fair Rental Value
means the periodic amount which would be payable for the Equipment in an arm's
length transaction between an informed and willing Lessee and an informed and
willing Lessor, neither under the compulsion to lease.
18.
EVENTS OF DEFAULT. Any of the following shall constitute an Event of
Default under this Agreement and all Schedules: (a) Lessee fails to pay any
Rental Payment or any other amount payable to Lessor hereunder within 10 days
after its due date; or (b) Lessee fails to perform or observe any other material
representation, warranty, covenant, condition or agreement to be performed or
observed by Lessee hereunder or in any other agreement with Lessor, , and Lessee
fails to cure any such material breach within 10 days after notice thereof; or
(c) any representation or warranty made by Lessee hereunder, or in any other
instrument provided to Lessor by Lessee, proves to be incorrect in any material
respect when made; or (d) Lessee makes an assignment for the benefit of
creditors, whether voluntary or involuntary; or (e) a proceeding under any
bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement of debts, insolvency or receivership law
is filed by or against Lessee or Lessee takes any action to authorize any of the
foregoing matters, and, if any of the foregoing events is not voluntary, it
continues undismissed for ninety (90) days; or (f) Lessee becomes insolvent or
fails generally to pay its debts as they become due, the Equipment is levied
against, seized or attached, or Lessee seeks to effectuate a bulk sale of
Lessee's inventory or assets; or (g) Lessee voluntarily or involuntary dissolves
or is dissolved, or terminates or is terminated; or (h) any guarantor under this
Agreement is the subject of an event listed in clauses (b) through (g) above; or
(i) unless the same is promptly replaced by Lessee, any letter of credit
required pursuant to any Schedule is breached, canceled, terminated or not
renewed during the Term of any such Schedule.
19.
REMEDIES. If an Event of Default occurs, Lessor may, in its sole
discretion, exercise one or more of the following remedies: (a) terminate this
Agreement or any or all Schedules; or (b) take possession of, or render
unusable, any Equipment wherever the Equipment may be located, without demand or
notice, without any court order or other process of law and without liability to
Lessee for any damages occasioned by such action, and no such action shall
constitute a termination of any Schedule; or (c) require Lessee to deliver the
Equipment at a location designated by Lessor; or (d) declare the Lessor's Return
(as defined in Section 12 hereof and calculated by Lessor as of the date of the
Event of Default) for each applicable Schedule due and payable as liquidated
damages for loss of a bargain and not as a penalty and in lieu of any further
Rental Payments under the applicable Schedule; or (e) proceed by court action to
enforce performance by Lessee of any Schedule and/or to recover all damages and
expenses incurred by Lessor by reason of any Event of Default; or (f) terminate
any other agreement that Lessor may have with Lessee; or (g) exercise any other
right or remedy available to Lessor at law or in equity. Also, Lessee shall pay
Lessor all costs and expenses (including legal fees and costs and fees of
collection agencies) incurred by Lessor in enforcing any of the terms,
conditions or provisions of this Agreement. Upon repossession or surrender of
any Equipment, Lessor shall lease, sell or otherwise dispose of the Equipment in
a commercially reasonable manner, with or without notice and at public or
private sale, and apply the net proceeds thereof (after deducting all expenses
(including reasonable and actual legal fees and costs) incurred in connection
therewith) to the amounts owed to Lessor hereunder; provided, however, that
Lessee shall remain liable to Lessor for any deficiency that remains after any
sale or lease of such Equipment. Lessee agrees that with respect to any notice
of a sale required by law to be given, 10 days' notice shall constitute
reasonable notice. These remedies are cumulative of every other right or remedy
given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute
or otherwise, and may be enforced concurrently therewith or from time to time.

20.
LESSOR'S PERFORMANCE OF LESSEE'S OBLIGATIONS. If Lessee fails to
perform any of its obligations hereunder, then upon written notice to Lessee as
shall be reasonable under the circumstances, Lessor may perform any act or make
any payment that Lessor deems reasonably necessary for the maintenance and
preservation of the Equipment and Lessor's interests therein; provided, however,
that the performance of any act or payment by Lessor shall not be deemed a
waiver of, or release Lessee from, the obligation at issue. All sums so paid by
Lessor, together with expenses (including reasonable and actual legal fees and
costs) incurred by Lessor in connection therewith, shall be paid to Lessor by
Lessee immediately upon demand.
21.
FINANCING OF ADDITIONS. If, under any Schedule, Lessee intends to
make any addition to the Equipment, Lessee shall, in writing, request Lessor to
finance the costs of such addition. Lessee shall provide Lessor with the terms
under which it hopes to obtain the financing, and upon receiving such a request
Lessor shall determine, in its sole discretion, whether to provide such
financing. If Lessor does not, within 20 days after receiving Lessee's request,
offer to finance the addition upon the terms requested by Lessee, Lessee may
obtain offers from third parties for financing the addition, and Lessee shall
notify Lessor of the details of any third party financing offer Lessee would
like to accept (Third Party Offer). If Lessor has not made a financing offer to
Lessee on terms substantially similar to the Third Party Offer within 20 days of
receiving Lessee's notice, Lessee may accept the Third Party Offer unless: (a)
the aggregate cost to Lessee of obtaining financing from the Third Party Offer
is greater than the aggregate cost under Lessor's financing offer; or (b) the
Third Party Offer would create a security interest in, or a lien on, the
Equipment ; or (c) the addition is not permitted under Section 10(d) hereof.
22.
ASSIGNMENT BY LESSOR. Lessor shall have the unqualified right to
assign, pledge, transfer, mortgage or otherwise convey any of its interests
hereunder or in any Schedule or any Equipment, in whole or in part, without
notice to, or consent of, Lessee. If any Schedule is assigned, Lessee shall: (a)
unless otherwise specified by the Lessor and the assignee (Assignee) specified
by Lessor, from and after the effective date of such assignment, pay all amounts
due under the applicable Schedule to such Assignee, notwithstanding any defense,
setoff or
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counterclaim whatsoever that Lessee may have against Lessor or Assignee
(provided that Lessee shall not be required to make duplicate payments to
Assignee with respect to amounts that Lessor required Lessee to prepay pursuant
to the applicable Schedule(s)); (b) not enter into an amendment or waiver of the
applicable Schedule without the prior written consent of the Assignee; (c) not
require the Assignee to perform any obligations of Lessor, other than those that
are expressly assumed in writing by such Assignee; and (d) execute such
acknowledgments thereto as may be reasonably requested by Lessor. It is further
agreed that: (x) each Assignee shall be entitled to all of Lessor's rights,
powers and privileges under the applicable Schedule, to the extent assigned; (y)
any Assignee may reassign its rights and interest under the applicable Schedule
on the same conditions and with the same force and effect as the assignment
described herein; and (z) any payments received by the Assignee from Lessee with
respect to the assigned portion of the Schedule shall, to the extent thereof,
discharge the obligations of Lessee to Lessor with respect to the assigned
portion of the Schedule. LESSOR AGREES, AND LESSEE ACKNOWLEDGES, THAT ANY
ASSIGNMENT OR TRANSFER BY LESSOR OR ANY ASSIGNEE SHALL NOT CHANGE LESSEE'S
OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE ASSIGNED SCHEDULE.
23.
ASSIGNMENT OR SUBLEASE BY LESSEE. WITHOUT LESSOR'S PRIOR WRITTEN
CONSENT, LESSEE SHALL NOT ASSIGN THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY SCHEDULE OR ASSIGN ITS
RIGHTS IN OR SUBLET THE EQUIPMENT OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN; provided, however,
that Lessee may sublease or assign a Schedule to an affiliate or a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Lessee if: (a) Lessee and such sublessee or assignee execute and
deliver to Lessor a writing (to be provided by Lessor) whereby the sublessee or
assignee agrees to assume joint and several liability with Lessee for the full
and prompt payment, observance and performance when due of all of the
obligations of the Lessee under such Schedule; and (b) Lessor consents to such
sublease or assignment, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. In no
event, however, shall any such sublease or assignment discharge or diminish any
of Lessee's obligations to Lessor under such Schedule.
24.
SURVIVAL; QUIET ENJOYMENT. All representations, warranties and
covenants made by Lessee hereunder shall survive the termination of this
Agreement and shall remain in full force and effect. All of Lessor's rights,
privileges, and indemnities, to the extent they are fairly attributable to
events or conditions occurring or existing on or prior to the termination of
this Agreement, shall survive such termination and be enforceable by Lessor and
any successors and assigns. So long as no Event of Default exists, and no event
has occurred and is continuing that with notice or the lapse of time or both
would constitute an Event of Default, neither Lessor nor any Assignee will
interfere with Lessee's quiet enjoyment of the Equipment. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in the foregoing, nothing in this section is intended
to, nor shall it, waive or limit the effect of any applicable statute of
limitations.
25.
FILING FEES; FURTHER ASSURANCES; NOTICES. Lessee will promptly
reimburse Lessor for any filing or recordation fees or expenses (including lien
search fees, reasonable and actual legal fees and costs) incurred by Lessor in
perfecting or protecting its interests in the Equipment and under this
Agreement. Lessee shall promptly execute and deliver to Lessor such documents
and take such further action as Lessor may from time to time reasonably request
in order to carry out the intent and purpose of this Agreement and to protect
the rights and remedies of Lessor created hereunder. All notices under this
Agreement shall be sent to the respective party at its address set forth on the
front page of this Agreement or on the applicable Schedule or at such other
address as the parties may provide to each other in writing from time to time.
Any such notice mailed to said address shall be effective when deposited in the
United States mail, duly addressed and with first class postage prepaid.
26.
WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL; SUCCESSORS. LESSEE AND LESSOR EACH IRREVOCABLY
WAIVE ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LAWSUIT, PROCEEDING, COUNTERCLAIM OR ANY
OTHER LITIGATION OR PROCEEDING UPON, ARISING OUT OF, OR RELATED TO, THIS
AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER FUNDAMENTAL AGREEMENT, OR THE DEALINGS OR RELATIONSHIP
BETWEEN OR AMONG LESSOR, LESSEE, SELLER OR ANY OTHER PERSON. This Agreement and
all Schedules inure to the benefit of and are binding upon the permitted
successors or assigns of Lessor and Lessee.
27.
NO WAIVER; LESSOR APPROVAL. Any failure of Lessor to require strict
performance by Lessee, or any written waiver by Lessor of any provision hereof,
shall not constitute consent or waiver of any other breach of the same or any
other provision hereof. Neither this Agreement nor any other Fundamental
Agreement shall be binding upon Lessor unless and until executed by Lessor.
28.
CAPTIONS; COUNTERPARTS; LESSOR'S AND LESSEE'S AFFILIATES. The
captions contained in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not
affect the interpretation of this Agreement. Only one counterpart of the
Schedule shall be marked "Original" (Original), and all other counterparts
thereof shall be marked as, and shall be, duplicates. To the extent that any

Schedule constitutes chattel paper (as such term is defined in the Uniform
Commercial Code in effect in any applicable jurisdiction), no security interest
in such Schedule may be created through the transfer or possession of any
counterpart other than the Original. Lessee understands and agrees that The CIT
Group, Inc. or any affiliate or subsidiary thereof, may, as lessor, execute
Schedules under this Agreement, in which event the terms and conditions of the
applicable Schedule and this Agreement as it relates to the lessor under such
Schedule shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of such entity
executing such Schedule as lessor, as well as any successors or assigns of such
entity. Lessor understands and agrees that Western Digital Corporation or a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Western Digital Corporation (as the case may be, the
"Affiliated Lessee") may, as lessee, execute Schedules which incorporate this
Agreement by reference in which event the terms and conditions of the applicable
Schedule and this Agreement as it relates thereto shall be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the Affiliated Lessee. Lessee shall be jointly and
severally liable for the obligations of the Affiliated Lessee pursuant to any
Schedule so executed. It shall be an Event of Default for the Lessee under any
Schedule to cease to be a wholly-owned subsidiary of Western Digital
Corporation.
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29.
CHOICE OF LAW; INTEGRATION; ENTIRE AGREEMENT. EACH LEASE UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS (AS OPPOSED TO CONFLICTS OF LAW
PROVISIONS) OF THE STATE OF NEW JERSEY. If any provision of this Agreement or
such Schedule shall be prohibited by or invalid under that law, such provision
shall be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity,
without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions
of this Agreement or such Schedule. Lessor and Lessee consent to the
jurisdiction of any local, state or Federal court located within the State, and
waive any objection relating to improper venue or forum non conveniens to the
conduct of any proceeding in any such court. THIS AGREEMENT AND ALL OTHER
FUNDAMENTAL AGREEMENTS EXECUTED BY BOTH LESSOR AND LESSEE CONSTITUTE THE ENTIRE
AGREEMENT BETWEEN LESSOR AND LESSEE RELATING TO THE LEASING OF THE EQUIPMENT,
AND SUPERSEDE ALL PRIOR AGREEMENTS RELATING THERETO, WHETHER WRITTEN OR ORAL,
AND MAY NOT BE AMENDED OR MODIFIED EXCEPT IN A WRITING SIGNED BY THE PARTIES
HERETO.
WESTERN DIGITAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
(Lessee)

CIT TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION,
d/b/a CIT SYSTEMS LEASING (Lessor)

By:

By:
/s/ Andrew R. Feldstein
------------------------------(Lessor Authorized Signature)

/s/ Steven M. Slavin
----------------------------------(Lessee Authorized Signature)

Steven M. Slavin
- -------------------------------------(Type/Print Name)
V.P., Taxes and Treasurer
- -------------------------------------(Title)

---------------------------------(Type/Print Name)
Andrew R. Feldstein
Vice President and Senior Counsel
---------------------------------(Title)

6/25/04
- -------------------------------------(Date)

6-28-04
---------------------------------(Date)

6

.
.
.
EXHIBIT 21
WESTERN DIGITAL CORPORATION
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Name of Entity
- --------------

State or Other Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Organization
------------------------------

Pacifica Insurance Corporation
Read-Rite International
Read-Rite (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.
Read-Rite Philippines, Inc.
Western Digital (BangPa-In) Company, Limited
Western Digital Canada Corporation
Western Digital (Deutschland) GmbH.
Western Digital (France) SARL
Western Digital (Fremont), Inc.
Western Digital Hong Kong Limited
Western Digital Ireland, Ltd.
Western Digital (I.S.) Limited
Western Digital Japan Ltd.
Western Digital Korea, Ltd.
Western Digital Latin America, Inc.
Western Digital (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.
Western Digital Netherlands B.V.
Western Digital (S.E. Asia) Pte Ltd
Western Digital Taiwan Co., Ltd.
Western Digital Technologies, Inc.
Western Digital (Thailand) Company Limited
Western Digital (UK) Limited
Western Digital Ventures, Inc.

Hawaii
Cayman Islands
Malaysia
Philippines
Thailand
Ontario, Canada
Germany
France
Delaware
Hong Kong
Cayman Islands
Ireland
Japan
Republic of Korea
Delaware
Malaysia
The Netherlands
Singapore
Taiwan
Delaware
Thailand
England
Delaware

Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors
Western Digital Corporation:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 2-76179, 2-97365, 33-9853, 33-57953, 33-60166, 33-60168, 33-51725, 33320359, 333-31487, 333-41423, 333-42991, 333-70413, 333-95499, 333-36332, 333-56738, 33-24585, 33-33365, 33-56128, 333-107227 and 333-111130) on
Form S-8 of Western Digital Corporation and in the registration statements (Nos. 33-51695 and 333-36350) on Form S-3 of Western Digital Corporation of our
report dated July 29, 2004 related to the consolidated balance sheets of Western Digital Corporation and subsidiaries as of July 2, 2004 and June 27, 2003 and the
related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
July 2, 2004, and the related financial statement schedule, which report appears in the July 2, 2004 annual report on Form 10-K of Western Digital Corporation.
/s/ KPMG LLP
September 13, 2004
Costa Mesa, California

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Matthew E. Massengill, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Western Digital Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
By:

/s/ MATTHEW E. MASSENGILL
Matthew E. Massengill
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: September 13, 2004

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Stephen D. Milligan, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Western Digital Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
By:

/s/ STEPHEN D. MILLIGAN
Stephen D. Milligan
Chief Financial Officer

Dated: September 13, 2004

Exhibit 32.1
The following certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and in accordance with SEC Release No. 338238. This certification shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to
the liability of that section, nor shall it be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that Western Digital Corporation specifically incorporates it by reference.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Western Digital Corporation, a
Delaware corporation (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to his knowledge, that:
(i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the period ended July 2, 2004 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Dated: September 13, 2004

/s/ Matthew E. Massengill
Matthew E. Massengill
Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.2
The following certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and in accordance with SEC Release No. 338238. This certification shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to
the liability of that section, nor shall it be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that Western Digital Corporation specifically incorporates it by reference.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Western Digital Corporation, a
Delaware corporation (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to his knowledge, that:
(i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the period ended July 2, 2004 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Dated: September 13, 2004

/s/ Stephen D. Milligan
Stephen D. Milligan
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

